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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached than
other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such
companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other

characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to
high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the

securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in

reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of RM Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept
full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise
Market of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is
accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would

make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
2wl E R

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (THE “BOARD?”)

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yan Tak (Chairman and chief executive officer)
Mr. Wong Mau Tai

Mr. Foo Chi Ming

Non-executive Director
Madam Tsang Pui Man

Independent Non-executive Directors
Professor Ng Ka Ming

Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul

Mr. Wei Jianan

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Foo Chi Ming

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Mak Mei Kuen

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Chan Yan Tak
Ms. Mak Mei Kuen

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul (Chairman)
Professor Ng Ka Ming

Mr. WEI Jianan

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Wei Jianan (Chairman)

Professor Ng Ka Ming

Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Wei Jianan (Chairman)

Professor Ng Ka Ming

Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

CCIF CPA Limited
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Chong Hing Bank Limited
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

THE CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

4th Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road

PO Box 1586

Grand Cayman KY1-1110, Cayman Islands

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

21/F., Man Shing Industrial Building

307-311 Castle Peak Road

Kwai Chung, Hong Kong
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Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
4th Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road

PO Box 1586

Grand Cayman KY1-1110, Cayman Islands
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Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
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HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND  #FH#Btn# 5

TRANSFER AGENT

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

COMPLIANCE ADVISER

WAG Worldsec Corporate Finance Limited

STOCK CODE
8185

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.royalmedic.com

(the contents of which do not form part of this report)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

i 755 Bt 22

HIGHLIGHTS %
For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZH=1T—HILFE
2015 2014
e Sk T ZE A %
HK$’000 HK$’ 000 Change
T#T THTT SET)
Operations EHEE
Revenue I %5 227,677 169,684 34.2%
Gross profit EF 176,872 129,992 36.1%
EBIT (Note 1) EBIT (Fff5E1) 40,216 551 7,198.7%
Adjusted EBIT (Note 2) KSR HE EBIT (M 5E2) 41,291 31,285 32.0%
Profit/(loss) for the year FEREFA () 31,521 (5,733) 649.8%
Earnings/(loss) per share TR ZF, (k)
Basic and diluted (HK cents) AR R (IR 6.1 (1.3) 569.2%
Notes: ff5E -
1. EBIT represents earnings before finance costs and taxation. 1. EBIT 48 1Bk A5 A B 7 4584 i i 1)
2. Adjusted EBIT represents EBIT before (i) HK$Nil listing expenses (2014: HK$15.4 2. 6 FH B EBIT 8 EBITH1 bR (i) L B L oo (=%

—PU4E 1 15,400,000 85 7C) 5 (ii) LA S HE &4 B DA 0 52
1 2 B 32 48 %6 491,100,000 76 ( & — 0 4
7,400,000 %5 76 ) K (i) — UMEAS SE TR St i BH S 2
JG (% —PU4E : 8,000,000 #57C) -

million); (ii) equity-settled share-based payment of approximately HK$1.1 million (2014:
HK$7.4 million) and (iii) HK$Nil one-off corporate image promotion expenses (2014:
HK$8.0 million).

As at 31 March

R=H=+—H

2015 2014
TR ZE g %
HK$’000 HK$’ 000 Change
T THsTT S

Financial position W R DL

Total assets B fa AR 209,743 186,589 12.4%
Shareholders’ equity JBC HRRE 2 180,913 168,131 7.6%
Net assets value per share (HK$) B T () 04 03 33.3%
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SHARE INFORMATION

Board lot size

As at the last trading day of the financial year ended 31 March 2015:
515,500,000 shares ~ « 47/ %L

e Shares outstanding

e Market capitalisation

e Closing share price

*  Earnings per share (basic)
e First Quarterly:

e Interim:
e Third Quarterly:
e Final:

KEY DATES

*  Latest time for lodging transfer documents for
registration in order to qualify for attending and
voting at 2015 annual general meeting

*  Closure of register for 2015 annual general meeting

e 2015 annual general meeting

*  Ex-Dividend Date

»  Latest time for lodging transfer documents for
registration in order to qualify for
the 2014/2015 Final Dividend

*  Closure of register for 2014/2015 Final Dividend

*  Record Date for 2014/2015 Final Dividend
*  2014/2015 Final Dividend payable date

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT

Address : 21/F., Man Shing Industrial Building
307-311 Castle Peak Road
Kwai Chung, Hong Kong

Telephone (852) 2297 0000

Fax 1 (852) 27559999
E-mail ¢ ir@royalmedic.com.hk
Website : www.royalmedic.com

SHAREHOLDER ENQUIRIES

INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS
mBEHEWE R

Ji& 1 & B
4,000 shares  'H = ¥ 4,000 i%
201543 31 BB igsc o A
515,500,000 A%

HK$979,450,000 « Ti{H 979,450,000 # 7T
HK$1.90 « Wgiiif® 1.90# 7T

HK cents o FBZF| (FEA) AL

0.73 .« 7 0.73

1.72 o HHY: 1.72

2.74 o i 274

6.12 o R 6.12

HEH M

4:30 pm, 31 July 2015« FEERHFSFRFEF T HEL =10

KEHHRE > B2 415307
etk H A
3&4 August2015 o FR20ISFERFAER G CE-AE
(AR P B AT B AAZH R H
4 August2015 o 2015EERREE KRG ZE-HEAAILA
6 August 2015« REH “E-HENAAH
4:30 pm, 7 August 2015« AR ERERE 201420154 “E-AEAALH
KRR > BACMP 2 T4 4RE30%
FtkHH
10 & 11 August 2015« GHREE20140015FFBEE 2 “Z—HEAATHR
T A 4 R 0 +—H
11 August 2015« 201402015 KBRS 28 A “E-REAAT—R

24 August 2015 o 201420154 W Bk H CE-HAENAZTIA

& H Wi sk AW
bk o EHUELE
H A K 307-311 %%

B TR 21 M
Ham o (852)2297 0000
BIL ¢ (852)27559999
FEH# :  ir@royalmedic.com.hk
ik www.royalmedic.com
Jit 3R A f)

Any matters relating to your shareholding, e.g. transfer of shares, change of name 41 &) '~ ¥ ff £ B4 A AL AT & 50 > ) Qo el o i
or address, lost share certificate and dividend warrants, should be sent in writing fy ~ B4 ul Pl R 2 R S B R

to:

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address : Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong
Telephone (852) 2980 1333
Fax © o (852) 28108185
E-mail :  is-enquiries @hk.tricorglobal.com
Website : http://www.tricoris.com

ESE U

HAEH R RA T

kb o FE
B RIEH 183 5%
224

Eai 0 (852)2980 1333

fE - (852)28108185

B/ is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com

4nk : hetp://www.tricoris.com
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
e

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of RM Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”), I am pleased to announce the annual results of

the Group.

PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2015 increased by 34.2% to
HK$227.7 million (2014: HK$169.7 million). Gross profit margin increased by 1.1
percentage points to 77.7% (2014: 76.6%).

The Group’s profit attributable to owners for the year ended 31 March 2015
amounted to HK$31.5 million (2014: loss of HK$5.7 million). The significant
change was primarily due to (i) an increase in sales; (ii) the absence of listing
expenses and other related charges; (iii) a decrease in equity-settled share-based

payments; and (iv) the absence of one-off marketing campaign.

FINAL DIVIDEND

I am pleased to announce that the Board is recommending a final dividend of
HK2.5 cents per ordinary share in respect of 2015 to shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company at the close of business on 11
August 2015.

DEDICATED FOCUS

Health is the foundation of wealth. Unfortunately, people in Hong Kong are
preoccupied with making a living and tend to neglect their well-being. True to the
“Royal Medic” mission of being the guardian of your health, we have consistently

developed and produced high-quality and high-efficacy health supplements.

In the coming years, we commit to strengthen our competitive advantage for the
purpose of increasing our market shares and collaborating with universities and

also exploring new market successfully.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We wish to express our appreciation to our shareholders, business partners and
suppliers for their support during the year. We would like to thank our dedicated

staff to their contributions to the success of the Group.
By order of the Board

Chan Yan Tak

Chairman

Hong Kong
19 June 2015
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the business of formulation, marketing, sales
and distribution of health supplements and beauty supplements and products
mainly in Hong Kong, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Taiwan.
The Group’s products are sold under its proprietary brands and private label brands
specifically developed for the Distribution Facilitator in Hong Kong and Macau.
The Group outsources most of its production to its suppliers and subcontracting
manufacturers and the Group distributes its products mainly through the
Distribution Facilitator. The Group opened its flagship Chinese Medicine Clinic in
the Jordan district, Kowloon in October 2014 and currently operates three Chinese
medicine clinics to provide traditional Chinese medicine treatments, services and
retailing of health supplements to the general public consumers. The Distribution
Facilitator remains as the Group’s major customer during the year ended 31 March

2015, which contributed to approximately 67.5% of the Group’s total revenue.

The following table sets forth the revenue generated from new products introduced
by the Group during the two years ended 31 March 2015:

o PR ) w5240 AT

SE 5 o] A

AREE FE AW - P A RIDME (T ) &
B AL ~ MR - B OO B A O DL
A B By o AN BB I B 7 i DA LSO R B
T 43 811 B 8 1Y B 5% R T v O M
B o AR [ R 43 A 2 A0 ) 4L R v M 4
BT o AR - PUAE - R S AR R
PR B2 AR S > BWAE E MRS
BT SRR R SRR IR SR KR 2 R
B EEN - B2 T —HE=A=1T—HI4E
B R R A 2 FEEF - LA
LB AR T4 67.5% ©

TEREIIEE T -AE=ZA=1+—H1IEWAE
JEE A ) BT HE 1 5 7 o A i S

For the year ended 31 March
BEZA=Z1T—HILEE

2015 2014
R HAE -
Number of Number of

new products

new products

introduced Revenue introduced Revenue
AR A
JE it S0 Wz FE fih SR W s
HK$°000 HK$°000
T THEIC
Health supplements: PR fa e i -
Proprietary brands LA 7 11,170 9 4,474
Private label brands B % & 4 4,685 4 3,724
Trading of goods 7 B 7 1,673 - -
18 17,528 13 8,198
Beauty supplements and products: FEFEH b B
Proprietary brands B 265 2 12,572
Private label brands HZ i 5 296 1 224
Trading of goods T 133 - —
7 694 3 12,796
Total HET 25 18,222 16 20,994

RM Group Holdings Limited £l 5 4 4 3] % 5t A BR 2




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PR ) i s 52 40 A

As at 31 March 2015, the Group sold and distributed 33 (2014: 30) health
supplements and 8 (2014: 9) beauty supplements and products under its proprietary
brands; 39 (2014: 39) health supplements and 9 (2014: 6) beauty supplements and
products under the Distribution Facilitator’s private label brands; 7 (2014: 0) health
supplements and 1 (2014: 0) beauty supplements and products under trading of
goods.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group reported a net profit of approximately HK$31.5 million for the year
against a loss of approximately HK$5.7 million for the previous year. EBIT of the
Group amounted to approximately HK$40.2 million for the year, against an EBIT
of approximately HK$0.6 million for previous year; while the adjusted EBIT

increased from approximately HK$31.3 million to HK$41.3 million as follows:

ATE-TAEZH =40 AEBSE L8
333K (2014 = 303 ) B A M AR M E R 8K
(2014 9K BLA & WL 25 25 4 o JLEE 5 393K
(2014 : 393K) 4 B CHLAY [ 2% o 08 Mt 2 o B 9
3K (2014 = 63K) 4 S5 ACHLY B 52 ik WL 28 25 4l S
FE fh 5 7K (2014: OK) 7 i B R 0 OR R EE T 22 1
(2014 0 FK) P b B A SR A JEE e

1 5 ]

A RE - AR 8 #1459 13 16 R 431,500,000 7T >

T 2= 4F JIl % 15 i 18 475,700,000 4% JT o A 4E
74 [ 1) EBIT #t £ 40,200,000 5 7C > Bl 25 4F L5
EBIT # 4 600,000 #% 7T 5 1 £ § # EBIT 1 £4E4)
31,300,000 # JCH4 i 25 2 4 # 41,300,000 # TG -

WRPIR

2015 2014

I S (K23 TR
HK$’000 HK$’000 % change
Tt THTT SE)
EBIT EBIT 40,216 551 7,198.7%

Adjusted for significant one-off expenses HRALER BRI
of the Group as follows: B2 R

Listing expenses Eshil:: 53 - 15,370 -100%
Equity-settled share-based payments DA 468 B DA e 3 S Ash 2 BH S 1,075 7,364 -85.4%
One-off corporate image promotion expenses —RPEAZETE S R BH 2 - 8,000 -100%
Adjusted EBIT 4L EBIT 41,291 31,285 32.0%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue — Business segments
The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s revenue by business

segments for the two years ended 31 March 2015:

o PR ) w5240 AT

et — SR 53
TRESIEE T HEZA =+ HIEmRAE
JIE 5 43 B 53 A S PR AR 5 01 53T

For the year ended 31 March
BRE=HA=+—HILHEE

2015 2014
ZR I R
% of total % of total
HK$’000 revenue HK$’000 revenue
Al S 25 15 AR AR
T#T A4k THE T [Epid=4
Business segments E 7 %iatil
Health supplements PRA7E 194,500 85.4% 131,796 77.7%
Beauty supplements and products FEFA il S iy 31,011 13.6% 37,032 21.8%
Others HoAte 2,166 1.0% 856 0.5%
Total HEr 227,677 100% 169,684 100.0%

The Group’s revenue increased by approximately HK$58.0 million or 34.2% from
approximately HK$169.7 million to HK$227.7 million for the two years ended 31
March 2015, which was the net effect of an increase in sales of health supplements,
a decrease in sales in beauty supplements and products, and an increase in sales
under the others segment. The Group’s revenue attributable to health supplements
increased by approximately HK$62.7 million or 47.6% from approximately
HK$131.8 million to HK$194.5 million, while revenue attributable to beauty
supplements and products decreased by approximately HK$6.0 million or 16.2%
from approximately HK$37.0 million to HK$31.0 million for the two years ended
31 March 2015.

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group’s top 5 best-selling products were
Royal Medic No.l Chinese Cs-4, La Gusto Slim Coffee, Melty Enzyme, Health
Proof Junior Milk CA+DHA PF and RM Broken Ganoderma Spore, which in
aggregate contributed to approximately HK$116.2 million or 51.0% of the Group’s
total revenue.

For the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group’s top 5 best-selling products were
Royal Medic No.l Chinese Cs-4, La Gusto Slim Coffee, Melty Enzyme, Royal
Medic Liver Guard and RM Broken Ganoderma Spore, which in aggregate
contributed to approximately HK$83.2 million or 49.0% of the Group’s total

revenue.

RM Group Holdings Limited £l 5 4 4 3] % 5t A BR 2
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PR ) i s 52 40 A

Proprietary brands health supplements

The Group’s revenue attributable to proprietary brands health supplements
increased by approximately HK$45.7 million or 43.8% from approximately
HK$104.3 million to HK$150.0 million for the two years ended 31 March 2015.
The increase was attributable to an increased number of one day special promotion
events (i {71H) for Royal Medic No. 1 Chinese Cs-4 held during the year as a

result of positive market response.

Private label brands health supplements

The revenue attributable to private label brands health supplements increased by
approximately HK$15.3 million or 55.6% from approximately HK$27.5 million to
HK$42.8 million for the two years ended 31 March 2015. The increase in revenue
attributable to private label brands was primarily due to the expansion of the
product range and increase in the number of Health Proof special designated

counters (“SDC”), which primarily sold health supplements.

Trading of health supplements
The revenue attributable to the trading of health supplements amounted to

approximately HK$1.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2015.

Proprietary brands beauty supplements and products

Revenue attributable to proprietary brands beauty supplements and products
slightly decreased by approximately HK$0.1 million or 0.4% from approximately
HK$28.3 million to HK$28.2 million for the two years ended 31 March 2015.

Private label brands beauty supplements and products

The revenue attributable to private label brands beauty supplements and products
decreased by approximately HK$6.1 million or 69.3% from approximately HK$8.8
million to HK$2.7 million for the two years ended 31 March 2015. The decrease
was primarily due to the Group focusing resources on marketing and launching of

Health Proof products, which were primarily health supplements.

Trading of beauty supplements and products
The revenue attributable to the trading of beauty supplements and products
amounted to approximately HK$133,000 for the year ended 31 March 2015.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue — Sales and distribution

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s revenue by

distribution channels for the two years ended 31 March 2015:

o PR ) w5240 AT

et — 858 Koy 8
TREIIME - F—HFEZA = —HILWEE
i 53 6 80143 A0 S B2 Y 43T

For the year ended 31 March
BRE=HA=+—HILHEE

2015 2014
R —HAE TR AR
% of total % of total
HK$°000 revenue HK$°000 revenue
A B 25 1o Al Ak
T AL THsT Bl
Shelves in the Distribution A3 ST B 1Y
Facilitator’s stores ¢ 153,638 67.5% 113,336 66.8%
SDCs located in the Distribution A EEAC RS & Y
Facilitator’s stores 5 R4 5 A o2 50,652 22.2% 42,304 24.9%
Hong Kong Brands and Products Expo & i T J& & 11,205 4.9% 10,103 6.0%
Other distribution channels (Note 1) H A4 85 5% (Kt sE—) 10,016 4.4% 3,085 1.8%
Others (Note 2) HoAt (B E—) 2,166 1.0% 856 0.5%
Total st 227,677 100% 169,684 100.0%
Note 1: “Other distribution channels” includes a distribution facilitator in Taiwan and the PRC, the BiaE— o AW SH U | GG A B b B 2 A e A
Wisdom Club, wholesalers, and Royal Medic Chinese Medicine Clinics. WA > HLEERE S 4 o B T A -
Note 2: “Others” mainly includes service income generated by Royal Medic Chinese Medicine BERE o T ] B 4 i (0 BE e op B rh BE ) 2 IR IR

Clinics and trading of packaging materials.

As at 31 March 2015, the Group had 13 (2014: 15) Royal Medic SDCs and 15
(2014: 13) Health Proof SDCs in the Distribution Facilitator’s stores in Hong

Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Revenue — Geographical segments We s — b 4 5B
The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s revenue by geographic [ E£# I #E _F—H4E=H =+—H Ik W4
segments for the two years ended 31 March 2015: JRE 2 b [ 43 50 1) 43 7 4 BSR4 23 A

For the year ended 31 March
BRE=HA=+—HILEE

2015 2014
S S

% of total % of total

HK$°000 revenue HKS$’000 revenue

A B 2% A Al g

F#oc Halkk THT HArke

Hong Kong e 218,548 96.0% 167,631 98.8%

Taiwan B 1,394 0.6 % 2,053 1.2%

The PRC [ 7,735 3.4% - -

Total At 227,677 100% 169,684 100.0%
Cost of sales B B AR

The Group’s cost of sales primarily comprises of cost of raw material and A [ 1 B AR T LA SRR R BB R R
packaging materials, labour costs related to production and/or packaging of the A% ~ Bl/f 5 K /m% fi) 48 A 4 [ 722 A B 10 25 TR
Group’s products, write down of inventories, provision for goods return and 7 ~ fEEOR, ~ 3B B3 45 Ko alR 614 & A o
subcontracting or contract manufacturing costs.
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Gross profit and gross profit margin

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s gross profit and gross
profit margin by operating segments for the two years ended 31 March 2015:

SEUI N EETIES
NEREIEECF - LAE=A = kA AR
JEE AL 53 F B 50 A S I B A S B A 20 Hr

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PR ) w5240 AT

For the year ended 31 March
BRE=HA=+—HILHEE

2015 2014
R R
HK$°000 % HK$°000 %
THoT THETC
Health supplements: PRAGEEE i -
Proprietary brands A T 117,354 78.2% 81,780 78.4%
Private label brands H 2 i 36,161 84.5% 23,347 84.9%
Trading of goods PR E 1,244 74.4% - -
154,759 79.6 % 105,127 79.8%
Beauty supplements and products: FEZEHE b B
Proprietary brands B 18,419 65.4% 18,326 64.8%
Private label brands H 2 i it 1,997 73.8% 6,023 68.8%
Trading of goods i EE 76 57.1% - -
20,492 66.1% 24,349 65.8%
Others HAh 1,621 74.8% 516 60.2%
Total Hxt 176,872 77.7% 129,992 76.6%

Gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2015 was approximately HK$176.9
million, representing an increase of approximately 36.1% as compared with that
for the corresponding period in 2014. The gross profit margin of the Group for the

year ended 31 March 2015 was approximately 77.7%, representing an increase of

BEE—HEZH =+ —HIFEE > REMKY
FEH 176,900,000 #5 7T > L T —PUAE[] ] > 1
e 2 %136.1% - BE _—F—HHFE=H=1+—H1
R REBEBMNRLEHTII% T —AE

[R50 25 49 76.6% » BIBETINAY 1.1 11 5 4325 -

approximately 1.1 percentage points from approximately 76.6% as compared with

the corresponding period in 2014.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Selling and distribution expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses principally consist of (i) advertising
and promotion expenses on advertisements through various channels including TV
media, printed media, outdoor advertising and digital media as well as engagement
of artistes as brand ambassadors to endorse the Group’s products; (ii) commission
paid to sales promoters; and (iii) exhibition expenses. The following table sets
forth a breakdown of the major items of the Group’s selling and distribution

expenses for the two years ended 31 March 2015:

S R4y BB 2

AR A ] 1 8 45 R 43 B R S 2 AL () 3 AN ] 42
WAL TR - BRI FANES RETH
IR AT (R A R R R B S DA R T B AR AT
AR EE ] 7 5 R SR A 5 (i) HESE B AR Gl
S RGHEHEGHY - FREGIEE -F—H
FEZH = H b A A A A 8 S 1 B
LT

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HILEE

2015 2014
e S —& A

HK$°000 % HK$000 %

Tt Fi Al |4 b THT IREEE

Advertising and promotion expenses ‘= {4 57 ffi ¥ B 57 35,788 64.9% 33,507 69.2%
Commission charges iR &= 15,283 27.7% 11,579 23.9%
Exhibition expenses JE 5 B 1,426 2.6% 1,547 3.2%
Others HoAih 2,639 4.8% 1,802 3%
Total a5l 55,136 100% 48,435 100.0%

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses increased by approximately HK$6.7
million or 13.8% from approximately HK$48.4 million to HK$55.1 million for the
two years ended 31 March 2015. It was primarily attributable to (i) the increase in
sales; (ii) the increase in commission expenses as a result of the increase in sales
generated by promoters while the average commission rate remained stable; and
(iii) the absence of a one-off marketing campaign to promote the Group’s corporate
image in Hong Kong during the year ended 31 March 2015.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses mainly consist of salaries and staff related costs for
administrative personnel (including the Directors), rent for SDCs, consultancy fees,
traveling and entertainment expenses and research and development costs. The
following table sets forth a breakdown for the major items of the Group’s

administrative expenses for the two years ended 31 March 2015:

o PR ) w5240 AT

FTBLB

B S ERAEATEA R (B EH) e X
B TARBRSAS ~ Rl e Al - R 2 - 2
Jife B P I B S DA RBF B ARAS o R RIS E =%
—IAE=H = B R WA AR AR G AT
BB SO E A

For the year ended 31 March
BRE=ZHA=+—HILEE

2015 2014
S R AR

HK$000 % HK$°000 %

T e T e

Salaries Ha 30,477 37.5% 24,489 40.2%

Rent for SDCs R e A A A 4 22,493 27.7% 16,098 26.4%

Directors’ emoluments HHH A 5,110 6.3% 4,136 6.8%
Contributions to defined contribution TR BEORIR 3t

retirement plans and other staff benefits & HAth B T 45 F] 2,201 2.7% 1,975 3.2%

Research and development costs W% A 3,146 3.9% 2,018 3.3%

Legal and professional fees R 4,777 5.9% 2,619 4.3%

Others HoAth 12,968 16.0% 9,647 15.8%

Total #st 81,172 100% 60,982 100%

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately HK$20.2 million
or 33.1% from approximately HK$61.0 million to HK$81.2 million for the two
years ended 31 March 2015. It was primarily attributable to increased Directors’
emolument and salaries costs, rental expense, legal and professional fees and costs

incurred in developing overseas markets.

Listing expenses
The Group did not incur any listing expenses for the year ended 31 March 2015
(2014: HK$15.4 million).

Equity-settled share-based payments
During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group recognised a total expense of
approximately HK$1.1 million in relation to the Share Options granted by the

Company to a consultant.

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group recognised a total expense of
approximately HK$7.4 million in relation to the Share Options granted by the

Company to directors and employees.

RM Group Holdings Limited £l 5 4 4 3] % 5t A BR 2
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Profit before taxation

The Group’s profit before taxation increased from approximately HK$0.4 million
to HK$39.9 million for the two years ended 31 March 2015. The increase was
mainly due to (i) an increase in sales; (ii) the absence of listing expenses and other
related charges of approximately HK$15.4 million; (iii) a decrease in equity-settled
share-based payment in respect of the Share Options granted by the Company of
approximately HK$6.3 million; and (iv) the absence of an one-off marketing
campaign of approximately HK$8.0 million to promote the Group’s corporate

image in Hong Kong; incurred during the year ended 31 March 2014.

Taxation

Taxation for the year ended 31 March 2015 was approximately HK$8.4 million
(2014: HK$6.2 million). The tax effects on (i) non-deductible expenses and (ii) tax
losses not recognised, have contributed to the extent of taxation incurred in the

year under review.

Profit/(loss) for the year

As a result of the foregoing factors, the Group recorded a net profit of
approximately HK$31.5 million during the year ended 31 March 2015, as
compared with a net loss of approximately HK$5.7 million for the year ended 31
March 2014.

Inventories

The inventories decreased by approximately HK$1.4 million or 8.0% from
approximately HK$17.5 million to HK$16.1 million, as at 31 March 2014 and
2015, respectively. The Group’s total inventory turnover days decreased from 139
days to 121 days for the two years ended 31 March 2015. As at 31 March 2014, the
Group held an increased inventory level of raw materials and finished goods to
cater for the special promotion event scheduled in April 2014 and increased in

inventory level of finished goods to facilitate the Taiwan market.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables increased by approximately HK$40.6 million or
157.4% from approximately HK$25.8 million to HK$66.4 million, as at 31 March
2014 and 2015, respectively. Of which, trade receivables increased by

approximately HK$30.5 million or 176.3% from approximately HK$17.3 million
to HK$47.8 million as at 31 March 2014 and 2015. The Group’s total receivable
turnover days increased from 45 days to 52 days for the two years ended 31 March
2015.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables increased by approximately HK$5.2 million or 37.7%
from approximately HK$13.8 million to HK$19.0 million, as at 31 March 2014
and 2015, respectively. Of which, trade payables increased by approximately
HK$2.0 million or 50.0% from approximately HK$4.0 million to HK$6.0 million
as at 31 March 2014 and 2015. The Group’s total payables turnover days increased
from 32 days to 36 days for the two years ended 31 March 2015.

Disclaimer

Save for Royal Medic No.1 Chinese Cs-4, none of the Group’s products is
registered under the Pharmacy and Poison Ordinance (Chapter 138, the Laws of
Hong Kong) and the Chinese Medicine Ordinance. Any claim made by those
products has not been subject to evaluation for such registration. Those products

are not intended to diagnose, treat or prevent any disease.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2015, cash and bank balances of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$109.0 million (2014: HK$123.3 million) and the current ratio
(current assets divided by current liabilities) of the Group was 6.6 times as at 31
March 2015 (2014: 9.3 times). The Group’s gearing ratio, representing total
borrowings divided by total equity, was approximately 2.1% as at 31 March 2015
(2014: 1.8%). In view of the Group’s current level of cash and bank balances,
funds generated internally from operations and the unutilised banking facilities
available, the Board is confident that the Group will have sufficient resources to
meet its financial needs for its operations. As at 31 March 2015, the Group has
unutilised general banking facilities of approximately HK$22.2 million (2014:
HK$12.9 million).

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives in managing capital are to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to the
owners through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The management
reviews the capital structure by considering the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. In view of this, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues as well
as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt as it sees fit and
appropriate. The Group also monitors capital on the basis of the net gearing ratio.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged throughout the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As at 31 March 2015, the Group had 172 (2014: 173) employees. For the year
ended 31 March 2015, staff cost including directors’ remuneration was
approximately HK$56.2 million (2014: HK$52.7 million).

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group’s Directors and senior management receive compensation in the form
of salaries, benefits in kind and discretionary bonuses with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and the performance of the
Group. The Group also reimburses them for expenses, which are necessarily and
reasonably incurred for the provision of services to the Group or executing their
functions in relation to the operations of the Group. The Group regularly reviews
and determines the remuneration and compensation package of the Group’s
Directors and senior management, by reference to, among other things, market
level of salaries paid by comparable companies, the respective responsibilities of

the Group’s Directors and the performance of the Group.

OUTLOOK

Marketing and promotion activities in Hong Kong

The Group will continue to drive turnover growth by placing strong emphasis on a
multifaceted marketing strategy through utilising various media and channels, such
as television commercials, printed media, digital media, outdoor advertising, in-
store promotion, the Wisdom Club and product road shows. The Group intends to

continue to run its advertising and promotion expenses at the current level.

The Group intends to expand its distribution network in Hong Kong by selling

products through other chain stores as well as establishing its own stores.

Collaboration with CUCAMed Company Limited

The continuing collaboration with CUCAMed Company Limited (“CUCAMed”),
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Chinese University of Hong Kong Foundation
Limited, not only enhances the product portfolio of the Group but also increases

the brand recognition of Royal Medic.

The Group will continue to develop and promote products under the brand
“LEGEND”.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Overseas markets
In order to improve the sales performance and reduce costs in Taiwan, the Group
entered into a distribution agreement with a distributor in Taiwan to promote and

sell its products in June 2015.

At the same time, the Group’s products continue to be sold in the stores of the
distribution facilitator in Taiwan (‘“Taiwan Distribution Facilitator”), on a non-
exclusive basis, without the use of promoters. The Group discontinued the use of

promoters in the Taiwan Distribution Facilitator’s stores in October 2014.

The Group also entered into distribution agreements with two distributors to

promote and sell certain of its products in the PRC.

The Group is also exploring opportunities in other overseas markets in southeast

Asian countries by negotiating with potential distributors.

Save as disclosed above, there is no important event affecting the Group which has
occurred since 31 March 2015.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

There was no material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, associated

companies and joint ventures during the year ended 31 March 2015.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2014 and 2015, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT
As at 31 March 2014 and 2015, the Group did not have significant capital

commitment.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through purchases that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the operations to
which they related. The currency giving rise to this risk are primarily United States
dollars, the impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations is insignificant as the

Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United States dollar.
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CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2015, the Group has secured bank loans and overdrafts of
approximately HK$3.7 million (2014: HK$2.9 million). The banking facilities are
secured by the Group’s land and buildings, having carrying amount of
approximately HK$5.9 million as at 31 March 2015 (2014: HK$6.1 million).

BUSINESS OBJECTIVES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Comparison of Business Objectives with Actual Business Progress
An analysis comparing the business objectives as stated in the prospectus of the
Company dated 30 September 2013 (the “Prospectus”) with the Group’s actual
business progress for the period from 1 October 2014 to 31 March 2015 is set out

below:

K& E
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Business objectives for the period
from 1 October 2014 to 31 March 2015

as stated in the Prospectus

BB BRI h =T E A —HE
SEHAEEHA =1 H AR AR H AR

Actual business progress up to 31 March 2015

HECF-HEZA=ZTHWEBRERER

Expansion of distribution network

. Set up 1 to 3 new SDCs . The Group continues to identify suitable stores of the Distribution Facilitator
to set up SDCs. The Group had 28 SDCs including 13 Royal Medic SDCs
and 15 Health Proof SDCs as at 31 March 2015. The Group has set up 3
. Employ more promoters SDCs during the period from 1 October 2014 to 31 March 2015.

. The Group continues to employ promoters and employed 100 promoters as at
31 March 2015 (As at 30 September 2014: 99).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Business objectives for the period
from 1 October 2014 to 31 March 2015

as stated in the Prospectus (Continued)

e B TR S % —E+A—HE
SR -HEEZAE R S H AR
(A1)

Actual business progress up to 31 March 2015

HEZR-NEZAZ+— HREBERIER

Collaboration with CUCAMed Company Limited,
wholly-owned subsidiary of The Chinese
University of Hong Kong Foundation Limited, to

develop products

. Launch new health supplements under the
“LEGEND” brand
. Continue to engage brand ambassadors to

promote products
. Strengthen branding and marketing through

various media channels
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The Group launched three health supplements under “LEGEND” as at 31
March 2015.

The Group continues to engage a brand ambassador to promote the products
under “LEGEND”.

The Group continues to promote its products launched under “LEGEND”
through various media and channels, such as television commercials and

printed media, in Hong Kong.
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Business objectives for the period
from 1 October 2014 to 31 March 2015

as stated in the Prospectus (Continued)

[k SIS Rl S
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(A1)

Actual business progress up to 31 March 2015

HEZR-NWFEZAZ+— HREBERER

Expanding overseas markets

. Continue to engage brand ambassadors in
Taiwan
. Recruit more promoters in Taiwan and

strengthen branding and marketing through

various media channels in Taiwan

. Continue to explore the opportunities in
other overseas markets
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The Group continues the engagement of one brand ambassador who is well-
known amongst the Taiwanese consumers to promote the Group’s products
in Taiwan. Another brand ambassador’s contract expired in June 2014.

In order to improve the sales performance and reduce costs in Taiwan, the
Group entered into a distribution agreement with a distributor in Taiwan to
promote and sell its products in June 2015. At the same time, the Group’s
products continue to be sold in the stores of the Taiwan Distribution
Facilitator, on a non-exclusive basis, without the use of promoters. The
Group discontinued the use of promoters in the Taiwan Distribution
Facilitator’s stores in October 2014.

The Group entered into distribution agreements with two distributors to
promote and sell certain of the Group s products in the PRC. The Group is
also exploring opportunities in other overseas markets in southeast Asian

countries by negotiating with potential distributors.
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Business objectives for the period
from 1 October 2014 to 31 March 2015

as stated in the Prospectus (Continued)

e B TR S % —E+A—HE
SR -HEEZAE R S H AR
(A1)

Actual business progress up to 31 March 2015

HEZR-NEZAZ+— HREBERIER

Enhancing the Group’s marketing and promotion

activities in Hong Kong

. Continue to engage brand ambassadors in
Hong Kong
. Strengthen branding and marketing through

various media channels in Hong Kong

. Engage a reputable university to conduct

preliminary clinical trials
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The Group continues the engagement of brand ambassadors to promote the
Group’s products in Hong Kong.

The Group continues to promote its products through various media and
channels, such as television commercials and printed media, in Hong Kong.
In September 2014, the Group took up the opportunity to promote the Royal
Medic brand by becoming the title sponsor of the prime time television soap-
opera — “The Grand Apothecary” which was broadcast during the period
from 8 September 2014 to 17 October 2014.

The Group continues its collaboration with universities including the
engagement of universities to (i) conduct preliminary clinical trial on one
product, (ii) testing functionalities of the active ingredient of a product under
development and (iii) report on the comparison of the functionalities between
Cordyceps and Royal Medic No. 1 Chinese Cs-4.
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The business objectives and planned use of proceeds as stated in the Prospectus
were based on the best estimation of future market conditions and development
made by the Group at the time of preparing the Prospectus while the proceeds were
applied in accordance with the actual development of the market. During the period
from 1 October 2014 to 31 March 2015, the net proceeds from issuance of new

shares of the Company by way of placing had been applied as follows:

e 5 R 0T 81 S A 2 0T A5 SR R S T T
TS S TR A S T B 5 2 R AR Tl L B B R Y
FRAEAGFHE > R R P75 OH C AR R BLE 735 19
HEEERMAN - R HE+ ] - ECE
—HAEZAZF—H Ik AL FEET AR EEA
TR B8 T BB A7 04 BT A s SRR R A B T AR DL

Planned use of proceeds
as stated in the Prospectus Actual use of proceeds
T BART I B st 2 U FrssoR R
1 October 2014 11 October 2013 1 October 2014 Total amount
to to to utilised upto
Total 31 March 2015 30 September 2014 31 March 2015 31 March 2015
SEOME CESE CEmE
tA-BE  PAt-EE PA-RE  HECR-E
aF® CRRE CEmE CEEF ZHSER
RERE SHStR UISER SRS SRRReE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
it it it it it
Expansion of distribution network NNk 5,950 600 - - -
Collaboration with CUCAMed to develop products  Beft fc h S BE R 45 £ B 86 7 47,600 8,600 5,100 293 5,393
Expanding overseas markets RN 41,650 5527 271 - 271
Enhancing the Group’s marketing and A AR T F R R
promotion activities in Hong Kong B 13,090 2,226 6,031 2,226 8,857
General working capital —REEES 10,710 2,500 5,000 2,500 7,500
119,000 19,453 17,002 5019 2,021

The Group may face challenges in implementing its statement of
business objectives

The success of the Group’s operations depends on, among other things, the proper
and timely execution of the Group’s future business plans. The Group’s future
business strategies are described in the paragraph headed “Implementation Plan”
under section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. The
Group endeavours to achieve its business objectives and adopts the business
strategies in accordance with the schedule set out in the paragraph headed
“Implementation plan” in the same section. The respective scheduled completion
times are based on certain bases and assumptions as set out in the paragraph
headed “Bases and Assumptions” in the same section. These bases and assumptions
are inherently subject to many uncertainties and unpredictable factors, in particular
the risk factors as set out under the section headed “Risk Factors” in the
Prospectus. Therefore, there is no assurance that the Group’s business plans will
materialise in accordance with the estimated time frame and that the Group’s future

plans will be accomplished at all.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Yan Tak (“Mr. Chan”), aged 46, is the chairman of the Board and a
chief executive officer as well as a director of most subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Chan joined the Group in 2003 and was appointed as a Director on 5
December 2011. Mr. Chan is responsible for the overall management and strategic
development of the Group. Mr. Chan possesses over 11 years of experience in the
health food and pharmaceutical trading businesses with extensive experience in
product development, materials sourcing, branding-building, advertising,
marketing and retail networking. Mr. Chan has acted as the honorary president of
the Federation of Beauty Industry (H.K.). He has been a member of the Association
of Hong Kong and Kowloon Practitioners of Chinese Medicine Limited since 2004
and was then appointed as the advisor of the abovementioned association in 2008.
Mr. Chan is currently a director of and holds entirely interests in Able Island Group
Limited (“Able Island”), a controlling shareholder of the Company, details of
which are disclosed in the Report of the Directors under this report. Mr. Chan is
the spouse of Madam Tsang Pui Man, a non-executive Director, and the brother-in-
law of Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony, the treasurer of the Group. Mr. Chan has
entered into a service contract with the Company for three years till 23 September
2016 but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
provision of the Company’s Articles of Association (the “Articles of Association’)
and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

Mr. Wong Mau Tai, aged 61, is an executive Director as well as a director of most
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wong joined the Group in 2009 and was appointed
as a Director on 5 December 2011. Mr. Wong graduated from the Griffin College of
Washington in the United States of America with a bachelor degree in business
administration. He was the general manager of the Group from July 2009 to October
2011, mainly responsible for the production, packaging and logistic functions of the
Group. He possesses more than 18 years of working experience in various business
segments ranging from telecommunication, transportation and property development
industry. Mr. Wong has strong knowledge in the health food and pharmaceutical
trading business segment. Mr. Wong served as the manager of New World
Development Company Limited and New World China Land Limited and engaged as
the assistant to director and general manager of New World First Bus Services (China)
Limited. Mr. Wong has entered into a service contract with the Company for three
years till 3 August 2017 but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the provision of the Articles of Association and the GEM Listing
Rules.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
o R AR P R A

Mr. Foo Chi Ming, aged 50, is an executive Director. Mr. Foo joined the Company as
a non-executive Director on 16 August 2012 and was re-designated as an executive
Director on 16 July 2013. Mr. Foo has awarded a professional diploma in accountancy
and a bachelor degree of Arts in accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong
respectively. Mr. Foo is an experienced business executive with more than 16 years of
experience in accounting, auditing and financial consulting industries. Mr. Foo takes on
the responsibilities of overseeing the financial strategy of the Group and assists Mr.
Chan, the chairman of the Board and chief executive officer, to oversee the corporate
strategy of the Group. Mr. Foo is currently the compliance officer of the Company
under Rule 5.19 of the GEM Listing Rules. Mr. Foo is also a director and chief
financial officer of Green Salt Management Limited and a director and financial
controller of Qinghai Salt Industry Co., Limited. Mr. Foo has worked for the audit
department of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and worked as an associate director of
Deloitte & Touche Corporate Finance Limited, focusing on mergers and acquisitions
and capital raising transaction activities. Mr. Foo has entered into a service contract
with the Company for three years till 3 August 2017 but is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the provision of the Articles of Association
and the GEM Listing Rules.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Madam Tsang Pui Man, aged 45, is a non-executive Director. Madam Tsang
was appointed as a Director on 5 December 2011. Madam Tsang has obtained a
diploma in management studies awarded jointly by the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and the Hong Kong Management Association. Madam Tsang has
worked as the assistant manager of Sing Tao Club Limited. Madam Tsang is
responsible for assisting the Group in formulating strategies for human resource
functions and financial management. Madam Tsang is the spouse of Mr. Chan,
therefore, she is deemed as the controlling shareholder of the Company and is
currently a director of Able Island, details of which are disclosed in the report of
the directors under this report. Madam Tsang has entered into a service contract
with the Company for three years till 3 August 2017 but is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the provision of the Articles of

Association and the GEM Listing Rules.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor Ng Ka Ming, aged 62, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 24 September 2013. He is also a member of the audit committee, the
nomination committee and the remuneration committee of the Company. He
obtained his bachelor degree in chemical engineering from the University of
Minnesota and the degree of doctor of philosophy from the University of Houston
in the United States of America. He is currently the chair professor of chemical and
biomolecular engineering department at the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology (“HKUST”). He served as professor of chemical engineering
department of the University of Massachusetts, Amherst in the United States of
America. He joined HKUST and has been seconded to Nano and Advanced
Materials Institute Limited by HKUST and held the position of chief executive
officer. Professor Ng has held visiting positions at DuPont Central Research and
Development Experimental Station of E.L. du Pont de Nemours and Company and
the National University of Singapore. He has served as a corporate science and
technology advisor of Mitsubishi Chemical Corporation. Professor Ng received the
Excellence in Process Development Research Award from the American Institute
of Chemical Engineers in 2002 and subsequently elected as a Fellow of American
Institute of Chemical Engineers in 2003. Professor Ng has entered into a service
contract with the Company for two years till 10 October 2015 but is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company (the “2015 AGM”) in accordance with the provision of the Articles
of Association and the GEM Listing Rules.

Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul, aged 63, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 24 September 2013. He is currently the chairman of the audit
committee and a member of the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Cheng has over 30 years of experience in the
accounting and finance disciplines. Mr. Cheng joined Leach & Co., Chartered
Accountants, of London, United Kingdom in 1972, and qualified as a Chartered
Accountant in 1976. He became a partner of the firm in 1978 and retired from the
partnership in 1992. Mr. Cheng acted as a board director and deputy president of
Mitsubishi UFJ Securities (HK) Holdings, Limited, and held these positions until
his retirement in December 2012. Mr. Cheng is Fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), and a member of the Audit Profession Reform
Working Group of the HKICPA and a member of the Membership Committee of
the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute. Mr. Cheng is an independent
non-executive director of Forterra Real Estate Pte. Ltd., which is a trustee manager

of Forterra Trust (“Forterra”), a registered business trust formerly listed on the
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
o R AR P R A

Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “Singapore Stock
Exchange”). Forterra was delisted from the Singapore Stock Exchange on 13
February 2015, following the completion of a mandatory cash offer for Forterra
which commenced in November 2014 by its largest unitholder, a member of the
Nan Fung Group (“Nan Fung”), resulting in Nan Fung holding all of the issued
units of Forterra. Mr. Cheng is also an independent non-executive director of Xinyi
Solar Holdings Limited (stock code: 968) and Kin Yat Holdings Limited (stock
code: 638), both companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Cheng has entered
into a service contract with the Company for two years till 10 October 2015 but is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in the 2015 AGM in accordance

with the provision of the Articles of Association and the GEM Listing Rules.

Mr. Wei Jianan, aged 76, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
24 September 2013. He is also the chairman of the nomination committee and
remuneration committee and a member of audit committee of the Company. Mr. Wei
is an experienced business executive with more than 20 years of experience in the
retail trading business, which covers the pharmaceutical, garment and household
products across the regions in Hong Kong, the PRC, Europe and the United States of
America. Mr. Wei has served as a director of Chinese Arts & Craft (HK) Limited and
China Resources (Holdings) Limited. Mr. Wei graduated from University of
International Business and Economics (formerly known as Beijing International
Business College) in Beijing, PRC in 1965. Mr. Wei has entered into a service contract
with the Company for two years till 10 October 2015 but is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in the 2015 AGM in accordance with the provision of the
Articles of Association and the GEM Listing Rules.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Yan Tat Ming, aged 51, is the chief production officer of the Group. Mr. Yan

joined the Group in January 2012. He is primarily responsible for the production
and quality assurance functions of the Group. Mr. Yan has more than 13 years of
experience in the pharmaceutical industry. He is experienced in the areas of
production and quality assurance and familiar with production with GMP standard.
Mr. Yan obtained his bachelor’s degree in pharmacy from Robert Gordon Institute
of Technology, Aberdeen, United Kingdom in 1991. He is registered as a
pharmaceutical chemist and is a member of the Royal Pharmaceutical Society of
Great Britain since 1992. He is also admitted as a pharmacist in accordance to the
Pharmacy and Poisons Ordinance (Chapter 138, the Laws of Hong Kong) in 1992.
Mr. Yan was elected as the committee member and deputy secretary-general of the
Hong Kong Chinese Prepared Medicine Traders Association in 2004 and 2006,

respectively.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Mak Mei Kuen, aged 38, is the chief financial officer of the Group. Ms. Mak
joined the Group in November 2011 and is primarily responsible for supervising
the financial reporting, corporate finance, treasury, tax and other finance related
matters of the Group. Ms. Mak has over 14 years of experience in accounting and
financial management. Ms. Mak received a bachelor degree in accountancy from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1998. She is Fellow of the HKICPA and
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. She is also a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered

Secretaries and Administrators.

Ms. Wong Chui Lan, aged 43, is the sales controller of the Group. Ms. Wong is
responsible for sales department including the supervision of the sales promoter
team of the Group and also acts as the person-in-charge of the customer services
and member club functions of the Group. She joined the Group in 2004 as a senior
manager and was subsequently promoted to the deputy general manager in 2010
and sales controller in 2011. Ms. Wong possesses more than 9 years of working
experience in the retail marketing specialising in selling and distribution of PCM

health supplements and beauty supplements and products.

Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony, aged 54, is the treasurer of the Group. Mr. Lim
joined the Group in August 2014 and is primarily responsible for treasury function
of the Group. Mr. Lim has over 20 years of experience in financial and
management accounting. He was awarded a professional diploma in management
accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University (previously known as
Hong Kong Polytechnic) in 1985 and he obtained his MBA from Heriot-Watt
University, United Kingdom in 1999. Mr. Lim is the brother-in-law of Mr. Chan,
the chairman of the Board and an executive Director. He is a member of the
HKICPA. He is also a member of the Association of Chartered Certified

Accountants and Chartered Institute of Management Accountants.

Ms. Yuen Yee Han, Ady, aged 54, is the administration controller of the Group.
Ms. Yuen is responsible for the human resources management, administrative
function, products compliance, production and logistics aspects of the Group. Ms.
Yuen joined the Group in October 2011. Ms. Yuen possesses more than 21 years
of working experience in the retail and trading businesses specialising in the
human resources, administration, training and public relations and customer
services aspects. She holds a diploma on foreign trade awarded by the University

of International Business and Economics in Beijing, PRC, in 1996.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Foo Chi Ming, aged 50, is the compliance officer of the Company. Please
refer to the paragraph headed “Executive Directors” in this section for further

details.
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The directors of the Company (the “Director(s)”) herein present their report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the business of formulation, marketing, sales
and distribution of health supplements and beauty supplements and products
mainly in Hong Kong, Taiwan and the PRC. There was no significant change in

nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5 to the
Companies Ordinance, including a discussion of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the group and an indication of likely future developments in
the group’s business, can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set
out on pages 7 to 24 of this annual report. This discussion forms part of this

directors’ report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 March 2015 by
segments is set out in note 25 to the audited consolidated financial statements in

this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2015 are set out in

note 31 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

PARTICULARS OF BANK LOANS AND OTHER
BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2015
are set out in note 21 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual

report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
For the year ended 31 March 2015, the profit, the results and the state of affairs of
the Group are set out in the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual

report on pages 62 to 155.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31
March 2015 of HK2.5 cents per ordinary share (the “Final Dividend”) to the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”’) whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Tuesday, 11 August 2015, amounting to
approximately HK$12,907,500, subject to approval by the Shareholders in the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Tuesday, 4
August 2015 (the “2015 AGM”).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 3 August
2015 to Tuesday, 4 August 2015 (both dates inclusive), during which no transfer of
shares of the Company will be effected. In order to qualify for attendance of the
2015 AGM, all completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates of the Company must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited (“Tricor”), at Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong (“Tricor Office”), not later than 4:30
p.m. on Friday, 31 July 2015. The register of members of the Company will also
be closed from Monday, 10 August 2015 to Tuesday, 11 August 2015 (both days
inclusive), during which no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In
order to qualify for the Final Dividend, all completed transfer forms accompanied
by the relevant share certificates of the Company must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor, at Tricor Office, not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Friday, 7 August 2015.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the past 4
financial years is set out on page 156 of this annual report. This summary does not
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group in this
annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in note 15 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company are set out in note 24 to
the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Details of Share Options of the Company are set out under the section headed
“SHARE OPTION SCHEME”, “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES?” to this annual report and in note
29 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION AND SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, redeemed or sold
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 March 2015.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year, save for the Share
Options which were outstanding under the section of Share Option Scheme in this
report.
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CHANGE IN DIRECTOR’S INFORMATION

The change in information of Director subsequent to the publication of the
2014/2015 third quarterly report in February 2015 is set out below:

Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin Paul, an independent non-executive Director, is an
independent non-executive director of Forterra Real Estate Pte. Ltd., which is a
trustee manager of Forterra Trust (“Forterra”), a registered business trust formerly
listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “Singapore
Stock Exchange”). Forterra was delisted from the Singapore Stock Exchange on
13 February 2015, following the completion of a mandatory cash offer for Forterra
which commenced in November 2014 by its largest unitholder, a member of the
Nan Fung Group (“Nan Fung”), resulting in Nan Fung holding all of the issued

units of Forterra.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in the audited consolidated statement of changes in equity on page
64 and note 33 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual

report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2015, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to the
Shareholders, calculated in accordance with the provisions of Cayman Islands’
legislation, amounted to approximately HK$164.0 million (2014: HK$183.6

million).

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yan Tak (Chairman and chief executive officer)
Mr. Wong Mau Tai

Mr. Foo Chi Ming

Non-executive Director
Madam Tsang Pui Man

Independent non-executive Directors
Professor Ng Ka Ming

Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul

Mr. Wei Jianan

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 25 to 29 of this

annual report.
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DIRECTORS ROTATION

Professor Ng Ka Ming, Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin Paul and Mr. Wei Jianan, all being
independent non-executive Director, have entered into service agreements with the
Company for two years till 10 October 2015 but is subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election in accordance with the provision of our Company’s Articles of
Association and the GEM Listing Rules at the 2015 AGM, they will enter into the
respective service agreements with the Company for a term of three years after
they be re-elected as the Director in the 2015 AGM, subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the provision of the Company’s Articles
of Association and the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has received written annual confirmations of independence from
three independent non-executive Directors, Professor Ng Ka Ming, Mr. Cheng
Kwok Kin, Paul, and Mr. Wei Jianan pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules. The
Company and the nomination committee of the Company considered all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent pursuant to Rule 5.09 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS” AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT”’S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS WITH
THE HIGHEST EMOLUMENT

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five individuals with the highest
emoluments disclosed on a named basis and/or by band respectively, are set out in
note 9 and note 10 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual

report, respectively.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management disclosed by band are set out
under paragraph headed “Remuneration Committee”” under section headed “Board

Committees” in Corporate Governance Report in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

The Company has entered into service agreements with each of the executive
Directors and non-executive Directors for a term of specific years, respectively.
Their terms of office are also subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the articles of

association of the Company and the GEM Listing Rules.

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2015 AGM has a service contract with
the Company or its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one

year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or existed during

the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Particulars of share options of the Company (the “Share Option”) and details of
movements in the Share Options during the year are set out in note 29 to the

audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2015, the interests of the Directors in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which (i)
are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii)
were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO; or
(iii) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company

HHEH
25 AR A I AT S SR € T B B
SR ) B AT (] £ B B IO A4
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Y A4 A B 2 BB R M 7 29 -

R Gy ~ HH B By B A RE RS Y
RE £

MoE—HEZHA =+ —H > EFHANE S H
AT Aa 0 05 1) (G 26 LR 7 SO B e ) (138 35 I
BB ) 55XV EE) ANy~ FE BRIy B AR HE R
W A () AR R R RO B 158 XV AR 7 X8
A3 RSN AR 4w R A T A ME g (645 4% S5 AR
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H] BB A RO BERR NN

AR F] ey 2 5
Approximate
Number of percentage of
underlying interest in the
shares held Company’s
Number of shares under equity issued
Wi E derivatives’ share capital*
R A AL
Personal Family  Corporate TR [RRZRYZN
Names of Director interests interests Interests 54 KA Total g
HAEA WARER  KiHER AWER ROEES i WERE AL
Mr. Chan Yan Tak (“Mr. Chan”) B S (TR D) - - 385,400,000° 500,000 385,900,000 74.86%
Mr. Wong Mau Tai WA - - - 5,000,000 5,000,000 0.97%
Mr. Foo Chi Ming BB L - - - 5,000,000 5,000,000 0.97%
Madam Tsang Pui Man (“Madam Tsang”) ME Lt (Y4t ]) — 385,400,000" - 500,000° 385,900,000 74.86%
Professor Ng Ka Ming DELYIR - - - 500,000 500,000 0.10%
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul B - - - 500,000 500,000 0.10%
Mr. Wei Jianan H R - - - 500,000 500,000 0.10%
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Notes:

(1 Madam Tsang is the spouse of Mr. Chan, who owns the entire issued share capital of Able
Island Group Limited (“Able Island”). Accordingly, Madam Tsang is deemed to be
interested in the 385,400,000 shares of the Company held by Able Island by virtue of the
SFO. Mr. Chan and Madam Tsang are directors of Able Island.

(2) Mr. Chan owns the entire issued share capital of Able Island. Accordingly, Mr. Chan is
deemed to be interested in the 385,400,000 shares of the Company held by Able Island by
virtue of the SFO. Mr. Chan is a director of Able Island.

3) The represents interests in Share Options held by the relevant Directors as a beneficial owner
to subscribe for the relevant underlying shares granted by the Company under the Share
Option Scheme, details of which is set out in note 29 to the audited consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

4) The represents interests in Share Options held by Mr. Chan as beneficial owner to subscribe
for the underlying shares granted by the granted by the Company under the Share Option
Scheme. Madam Tsang is the spouse of Mr. Chan and is deemed to be interested that Share
Option held by Mr. Chan by virtue of SFO.

* The percentage has been adjusted based on the total number of shares of the Company in
issue as at 31 March 2015 (i.e. 515,500,000 shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, none of the Directors or the chief
executive of the Company had any interest or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (i) are required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) were recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO; or (iii) were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2015, the number of outstanding option shares granted by the
Company under the Share Option Scheme adopted on 24 September 2013 for the
Directors to subscribe the shares of the Company, as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code is set out in the

note 29 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Save as disclosed herein, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2015 was the
Company, its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body

corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2015, according to the register of interests kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO, the interest of the persons, other than the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company, in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and entered in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the

Company were as follows:

Long positions in shares of the Company

TRA AW By Z B AT

TR AR

AR -HEZA = —H o REEE R Rk
155 336 e AN R Tl fE A0 > DUR AL G
A B EEATEON B BRAR) A2 7] B4 S A
T S A3 o 0 A AR R 2 e ) A 491 5 XV AT AR 2
Fe 353 B L G AR O ) T W 22 e DA B AR 4538 2 K
HY B R 126 336 MRt Sk R AR 24 B BTl A7 S wC T
O EAARAREGE I -

Approximate
percentage of

interest in the

Company’s

issued capital”

Capacity/nature Number of A2 ]

Name of Shareholder of interest shares CBA TR A
JBe 3K 4 gy Xy ety H  BEAIRERS 4 L

Able Island Nete) (#ib)

Beneficial owner

385,400,000 74.76%

R 2PN

Note: The entire issued share capital of Able Island is beneficially owned by Mr. Chan.

* The percentage has been adjusted based on the total number of shares of the Company in

issue as at 31 March 2015 (i.e. 515,500,000 shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, the Company had not been notified
by any persons (other than the Directors or the chief executive of the Company)
who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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COMPETING INTEREST

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the Directors were not aware of any business or
interest of the Directors, the controlling shareholders, the management shareholder
and their respective close associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) that
compete or may compete with the business of the Group and any other conflict of

interest which any such person has or may have with the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual report, there is sufficient
public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under
the GEM Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association and the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to

offer new shares of the Company on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM PLACING

The net proceeds from the Company’s issue of new shares at the time of its listing
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange on 11 October 2013, after deduction of related
issuance expenses, amounted to approximately HK$119.0 million of which
approximately HK$22.0 million was used in accordance with the proposed
applications set out in the Prospectus. The Directors believe that the remaining net
proceeds will be used according to the intended usages as set out in the Prospectus
issued by the Company on 30 September 2013.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 March 2015, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s

five largest customers accounted for approximately 72.0% (2014: 99.3%) of the
total sales and the aggregate sales attributable to the largest customer included
therein accounted for approximately 67.5% (2014: 66.8%) of the total sales.

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 47.0% (2014: 60.1%)
of the total purchases and the aggregate purchases attributable to the largest
supplier, included therein accounted for approximately 16.1% (2014: 21.6%) of the

total purchases.

As far as the Directors are aware, neither the Directors, their close associates, nor
those Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in any of the

Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 28 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this
annual report, no Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any transactions, arrangements or contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the

year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 28 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this
annual report, there is no contract of significance between the Company or any of
its subsidiaries, and a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries as at 31
March 2015.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to approximately
HK$47,000.

INTERESTS OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISERS

As notified by WAG Worldsec Corporate Finance Limited (“WAG”), the
Company’s compliance adviser, neither WAG nor its directors or employees or
associates had any interest in the share capital of the Company or any member of
the Group (including options or rights to subscribe for such securities) as at 31
March 2015.

Pursuant to the agreement dated 9 October 2013 entered into between WAG and
the Company, WAG received and will receive fees for acting as the Company’s

compliance adviser.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
A summary of the related party transactions entered into by the Group during the
year ended 31 March 2015 is set out in note 28 to the audited consolidated

financial statements in this annual report.

The related party transactions in note 28 to the audited consolidated financial
statements in this annual report fall under the definition of continuing connected
transaction in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company confirms that it
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set out in note 28 to the

audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the Company are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report section set out on pages 40 to 59 in this annual

report.

STAFF
As at 31 March 2015, the Group had approximately 172 employees. Salaries of

employee are maintained at competitive levels and are fixed on a discretionary
basis. Other employee benefits include provident fund, insurance, medical cover,
subsidised educational and training programmes as well as the Share Option
Scheme.

PENSION SCHEMES

The pension schemes of the Group are primary in form of contributions to Hong
Kong’s Mandatory Provident Fund and the PRC statutory public welfare fund
respectively. Details of which are set out in note 14 to the audited consolidated

financial statement in this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As at the date of this annual report, the Group did not have any significant event

after the reporting period.

AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Messrs. CCIF CPA
Limited (“CCIF”) who shall retire at the 2015 AGM of the Company. A resolution
will be proposed at the 2015 AGM of the Company to re-appoint CCIF as auditor
of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
RM Group Holdings Limited

Chan Yan Yak
Chairman
Hong Kong, 19 June 2015
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance to the
Company’s growth and has devoted considerable efforts to identifying and
formulating corporate governance practices appropriate to the Company’s needs.
The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “Code”) contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Throughout the year ended 31 March 2015, the Company has complied with the
code provisions as set out in the Code except the deviation from the Code provision
A.2.1, which stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separated. Detail of the deviation is elaborated below under the

paragraph headed “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer”.

The Company has complied with the Memorandum of Association and Articles of
Association, the Cayman Islands Companies Law and the other applicable laws of
the Cayman Islands and the GEM Listing Rules as well as other law applicable to
the Company.

The Board has conducted an annual review of its corporate governance duties in
accordance with its terms of reference on corporate governance functions contained
in the Code, and considered that the Company’s (i) policies and practices on
corporate governance; (ii) approach to the continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management; (iii) policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements; and (iv) the compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report, are adequate and appropriate for
the Company in light of its current corporate strategy. They be kept under review

in light of the changing legal and regulatory requirements from time to time.

THE BOARD

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises seven (7) Directors, all with professional
backgrounds and/or extensive expertise for the direction and oversight of the
Group’s strategic priorities and public responsibilities. The current composition of

the Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Yan Tak (Chairman and chief executive officer)
Mr. Wong Mau Tai

Mr. Foo Chi Ming

Non-executive Director:
Madam Tsang Pui Man

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Professor Ng Ka Ming

Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul

Mr. Wei Jianan
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The composition, experience and balance of skills on the Board are regularly
reviewed to ensure that the Board retains a core of members with longstanding and
deep knowledge of the Group alongside new Directors who bring fresh
perspectives and diverse experiences to the Board. The process for the nomination

of Directors is led by the nomination committee.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out under the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.
A list of Directors identifying their roles, functions and titles is available on the

websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Save as Mr. Chan Yan Tak, the Chairman of the Board, is the spouse of Madam
Tsang Pui Man, a non-executive Director and other information disclosed in
Report of Directors in this annual report, if any, there is no financial, business,

family or other material and/or relevant relationship between the Board members.

The Board complied with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors with at least
one of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or

related financial management expertise.

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, one third of the Directors for the
time being shall retire from office by rotation and each Director shall be subject to
retirement at annual general meetings at least once every three year under the GEM
Listing Rules. The Directors to retire in every year shall be those who have been
the longest in office since their last re-elections. Any Director appointed to fill a
casual vacancy is subject to re-election at the first general meeting after his/her

appointment.

Professor Ng Ka Ming, Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul and Mr. Wei Jianan have been
the longest in office among the Directors since their last appointment, they are
subject to retirement by rotation at the 2015 AGM in accordance with the articles
of association. All of the retiring Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election in the 2015 AGM.

For independent non-executive Director who has served the Company for more
than nine years, his further appointment will be subject to a separate resolution to
be approved by the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) at the
annual general meeting and the papers to the Shareholders accompanying that
resolution will include the reasons why the Board believes he/she is still

independent and should be re-elected.
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Service Agreement with the Company

The Company has entered into service agreements with each of the executive
Directors and non-executive Director for a term of a specific number of years,
respectively. Their terms of office are also subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at an annual general meeting of the Company at least once every three
years in accordance with the articles of association of the Company and the GEM

Listing Rules.

Directors’ Responsibilities and Delegation

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the Board. The
Board has delegated the day-to-day management of the Company’s business to the
management of the Company, and focuses its attention on matters affecting the
Company’s overall strategic policies, corporate governance, finances and
Shareholders. These include financial statements, dividend policy, significant
changes in accounting policy, annual operating budget, certain material contracts,
strategies for future growth, major financing arrangements and major investments,
corporate governance functions, risk management strategies, treasury policies and

fare structures.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr.
Chan Yan Tak is the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the

Company.

Mr. Chan provides leadership to the Board in terms of establishing policies and

business directions and ensures that the Board discharges its responsibilities.

Mr. Chan has been responsible for the overall management and strategic
development of the Group since 2005. He is also responsible for formulating,
approving, organising and implementing the Group’s strategy. His expert
knowledge in the areas of development and retail marketing of health and beauty
supplement products has assisted the Group to grow substantially during the past
nine years. The Board therefore agreed that it is beneficial to and in the interest of
the Group for Mr. Chan to continue with his roles as the chairman of the Board and

chief executive officer of the Company.

Annual Report 2014/2015 4£$

A ) R 2 T

AR T B AT R S T I AT SR A R SR
T MRS AR 39 2 TR 5 W ok o O A5 IR 4 IR 24 R Y
AL e R A0 ) B A S TR R S D i = AR A A
O3 R SBCRE AR g b i (R A S AT — K o

R KR
RGN AN PR - A
Ox T SEHS H O BT AR T AR A F A L R
HE o S SO B PR AR N F R R O Bt A
SRR - BB RO - FL P R A R
Jie S BOR ~ B FHBOR I EOR S B - AR RS T
BB TEREHR - RACEREN - ERMER
PEREARBE - FEEIRIEE - U B R
JRE 5 RS % 2 A

B B ATH A

YRR SC A2 BUE i BELAT BUAE Y A 0 E AT
W80 A 1 — A [R] R SifeAT: o PR P S A [) IR
Ty A A FAT B -

Wi Sl A S i i S BOR S E S T gt > SRR
R GEATHIM -

AR AR Botd —HA AR EHE
R RS OIS B BRI E i - ALK
TATASE RIS o A 25U BB S
R A B 5 7 Al it 2 7 it R TR R R SR 1 LSE
il EALEIMAERNER - FREIL Edg
e . by RS 7 A AR ] I e A 8 S o R B AR A R
TTEC B A AR > IMF S AL B R4 o



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors take an active role in Board meetings,
contribute to the development of strategies and policies and make sound judgement
in various aspects. They take lead when potential conflicts of interest arise.
Independent Board Committee comprising all independent non-executive Directors
be formed to advise the independent Shareholders on those connected transactions
to be approved by the independent Shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company. The independent non-executive Directors are also
members of various Board Committees and devote sufficient amount of time and

attention to the affairs of the Company.

Directors’ Induction and Development

The Company provides a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction programme
for newly appointed Directors to enhance their knowledge and understanding of
the key areas of business operations and practices of the Group as well as the
general and specific responsibilities and duties of Directors under relevant law and
regulation and the GEM Listing Rules.

An induction programme covering the roles of Director from the strategic, planning
and management perspective, as well as the essence of corporate governance and
the trends in these areas, were therefore arranged for the three independent non-
executive Directors, Professor Ng Ka Ming, Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul and Mr.
Wei Jianan, when they joined the Board in September 2013.

Every Board member receives the regulatory information and corporate
background information upon joining the Board, which contains, among others, an
overview of Directors’ responsibilities, the guidelines on conduct and information
on other key corporate governance issues. The information be reviewed and
updated regularly.

Continuous professional development and training of Directors is an ongoing
process to ensure the continued enhancement of their skills and knowledge. The
company secretary regularly circulates details of training courses (including those
on roles, functions and duties of listed company directors, economic,
environmental and social topics). All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant

training courses provided by external bodies at the Company’s expense.

All Directors are required to provide the Company with their training records on an
annual basis, and such records are maintained by the company secretary for regular
review by the nomination committee. The training records of the Directors were

reviewed by the nomination committee in June 2015.
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Board Proceedings

The Directors attend quarterly Board meetings in person, and all Directors have
full and timely access to relevant information and may take independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense, if necessary, in accordance with the

approved procedures.

Notice to regular Board meeting is served to all Directors at least 14 days before
the meeting. For other Board and Board Committees meetings, reasonable notice is

generally given.

The draft agenda for regular Board meetings is prepared by the company secretary
and approved by the Chairman of the Board. Directors are advised to inform the
Chairman of the Board or the company secretary not less than one week before the
relevant Board meeting if they wish to include a matter in the agenda of the
meeting. The agenda together with Board papers are sent at least three days before
the intended date of the Board meeting. To facilitate the decision-making process,
the Directors are free to have access to the management for enquiries and to obtain
further information and have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the

company secretary when required.

The Chairman has encouraged all Directors to make full and active contributions to
the Board’s affairs and takes the lead to ensure that the Board acts in the best
interest of the Company. He has promoted a culture of openness and debate by
facilitating the effective contribution of independent non-executive Directors and
ensuring constructive relations between executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors. Accordingly, the Board operates in a functional manner with

clearly defined objectives, strategies and responsibilities.

All Directors are required to comply with their duty to act in the best interests of
the Company and have particular regard to the interest of the Shareholders as a
whole. Amongst others, all Directors are required to declare the nature and extent
of their interests, if any, in any transaction, arrangement, contract or other proposal
to be considered by the Board at Board meetings. Unless specifically permitted by
the articles of association of the Company, a Director cannot cast a vote on any
contract, transaction, arrangement or any other proposal in which he/she has or any
of his/her close associates is materially interested.

Monthly financial information is provided to the Directors by the company
secretary to discharge their duties and acknowledge the development of the
Company. Other regular and ad hoc reports are also prepared for the Board and its
various committees, to ensure that the Directors and member of the committees are
supplied with all the requested information in a timely and appropriate manner.
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Directors’ Attendance Records 3 R gk
The individual attendance record of each Director at the meeting of the Board as #{E - F—AFE=H=1+—HIFFEE  FFFH
well as the annual general meeting during the year ended 31 March 2015 is as  Jif 2 35 & M A HHE 4F K& 2 A8 Bl i R we %l 2 an

follows: T
Attendance/No. of meetings held
Name of Directors HEREAH HR R B s AR AT R
annual general
meeting Board
JRRBAE R & HHE
Number of Meeting(s) eV 1 4
Executive Directors HifTEHE
Mr. Chan Yan Tak bR B S A
(Chairman and chief executive officer) (FREFT %) 1/1 4/4
Mr. Wong Mau Tai R AR A 17 4/4
Mr. Foo Chi Ming ke 1/1 414
Non-executive Directors FHATHESF
Madam Tsang Pui Man ME 4+ 11 4/4
Independent Non-Executive Directors WA EF
Professor Ng Ka Ming REL YR 11 4/4
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin Paul WA 87 A 11 4/4
Mr. Wei Jianan B A /1 4/4

Directors are expected to devote sufficient time and attention to performing their =8 25 £ J& 17 H: 3 A< 5 [ A0 B 55 B Bk 2 e ZEL AT HH 78
duties and responsibilities towards the Group. The high attendance record at the /3 WRF[H] K BE - 2 —F—HFE=H=+—H 1t
Board and Board committees meetings for the year ended 31 March 2015, which ~ FEEH G R EF T B G EHN & HEHEROL
was reviewed by the nomination committee in June 2015, demonstrated the — E—H AN H IR Z Z B @ FH) BUREFHA
Directors’ strong commitment to the Company. NCIRER =R %/

The minutes of Board and Board committees meetings are prepared by the AFMEAEMUFEEGTLNEELZEGTRT
company secretary with details of the matters considered by the Board and Board &k > W T HAHEHF G M EF LB T HENHFHE KL
committees and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the Director(s) BRI > A ERNERZ G B BN
and members of Board committees or dissenting views expressed (if any). The o] 5 S B B R A B S (WA - R e SR AT
draft minutes are circulated to all members of the Board and Board committees for & & BERFHI A > Skl Bk FBEAR S EH) T EH &
LESZE G2 E - UEREREEA -

their comment within a reasonable time after the meeting.
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Statutory Confirmations

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from all the
independent non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The nomination committee has assessed their independence and
concluded that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent within
the definition of the GEM Listing Rules and continues to consider each of them to

be independent.

According to the Code, each Director should ensures that he/she can give sufficient
time and attention to the affairs of the Company and make contribution to the
development of the Company’s strategy and policies through independent,
constructive and informed comments. The chairman held a meeting with the non-

executive Directors during the year.

Regarding disclosure of the number and nature of offices held by the Directors in
public companies or organisations and other significant commitments as well as
their identity and the time involved (the “Commitments”) to the Company, all
Directors have agreed to disclose their Commitments to the Company in a timely
manner and confirm his/her other directorships, major appointments and interests

to the Company twice a year.

Directors’ Insurance

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance has been arranged. The Company has
conducted an annual review of the Company’s Directors’ and Officers’ liability
insurance policy with reference to recent trends in the insurance market and other
relevant factors. The review compared the amount of coverage against other

similar policies purchase by other companies.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct (“Code of Conduct”) regarding
directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
(“Required Standard of Dealings”). After having made specific enquiry, the
Company confirms that all Directors complied throughout the year ended 31 March
2015 with the Required Standard of Dealings and the Code of Conduct. Senior
managers, other nominated managers and staff who, because of their office in the
Company, are likely to be in possession of inside information of the Company,

have been requested to comply with the provisions of the Code of Conduct.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company secretary, who
is responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures are followed and for
facilitating information flows and communications among Directors as well as with

Shareholders and management.

Ms. Mak Mei Kuen was appointed as the company secretary of the Company on
24 September 2013. Please refer to the section “Biographical Details for Directors
and Senior Management” for details of her professional qualifications. For the year
ended 31 March 2015, the company secretary has taken no less than 15 hours of

professional training to update her skills and knowledge.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established a total
of three board committees, namely, the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee, to oversee particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. Each of these board committees is governed by its respective
terms of reference which are available on the websites of both the Company

(www.royalmedic.com.hk) and the Stock Exchange.

All board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate

circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to perform their responsibilities.

Audit Committee

The audit committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin,
Paul, Professor Ng Ka Ming and Mr. Wei Jianan. Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul is
the chairman of the audit committee. All members of the audit committee are
independent non-executive Directors. The chairman of the audit committee
possesses the appropriate accounting and financial management expertise as
required under rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules. None of the members of the

audit committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing external auditor.

Duties of Audit Committee

The primary duties of the audit committee, among other things, are to make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of
the external auditor; review the financial statements and material advice in respect

of financial reporting; and oversee internal control procedures of the Company.
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Work Performed by Audit Committee
During the financial year ended 31 March 2015, the audit committee held four (4)

meetings. The attendance of each member is as follows:

HFH L H T PrRIT LA

BE R -HFE=ZA=1—H LB BUEREE > %%
Z B W RAITI R E HE o 45 RUR O RSk S
o

Attendance/

No. of meetings held

Name of members B H £ 1 HR S8k sl AT
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul (Chairman) R IR 7 S () 4/4
Professor Ng Ka Ming S AR 4/4
Mr. Wei Jianan BH A 4/4

In accordance with its terms of reference, the audit committee performed, inter

alia, the following work during the year ended 31 March 2015:

1. reviewed, assessed and commented the draft annual, interim and quarterly
financial statements, the final dividend and the draft results announcements
of the Company, including any changes in accounting policies and practices;
major judgmental areas; compliance with accounting and auditing standards;
and compliance with the listing requirements on the GEM Listing Rules and
legal requirements in relation to financial reporting prior to recommending

them to the Board for approval.

2. reviewed, assessed and commented the engagement letter in relation to the
evaluation of the internal control system of the Group and the internal
controls review report prior to recommending them to the Board for

approval.

3. reviewed, assessed and commented relationship with the external auditor
and independence and the level of support and co-operation given by the

Group’s management.

4. reviewed, assessed and approved the re-appointment and remuneration of

the external auditor.
5. reviewed, assessed and commented the adequacy of resources, qualifications

and experience of the staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting

function and their training programmes.
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Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Wei Jianan,
Professor Ng Ka Ming and Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul. Mr. Wei Jianan is the
chairman of the remuneration committee. All members of the remuneration

committee are independent non-executive Directors.

Duties of Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the remuneration committee are to make recommendations
to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all the
Directors and senior management of the Group; review performance based
remuneration; and ensure none of the Directors determine their own remuneration.
The remuneration committee also administers and makes determinations with
respect to the share option scheme adopted by the Company. When the
remuneration package of an individual Director is under review, such Director will

abstain from voting.

Work Performed by Remuneration Committee

During the financial year ended 31 March 2015, the remuneration committee held

e FRE
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two (2) meetings. The attendance of each member is as follows: 7 B Gl BLAT WU e g o & B RS ED AR S
T

Attendance/

No. of meetings held

Name of members B E 4718 H Rl 8k sk S AT K
Mr. Wei Jianan (Chairman) P g A () 2/2
Professor Ng Ka Ming B AT 2/2
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul B IR 17 2 2/2

In accordance with its terms of reference, the remuneration committee performed,

inter alia, the following work during the year ended 31 March 2015:

1. reviewed, assessed and commented the policy for the remuneration of

Directors and senior management.

2. reviewed, assessed and commented the procedures for fixing the

remuneration packages.

3. reviewed and made recommendation on the remuneration packages of all

Directors and the senior management and/or other matters.

4. reviewed and approved the respective Directors’ service contracts.

5. approved the grant of share option to an eligible person.

RM Group Holdings Limited £l 5 4 4 3] % 5t A BR 2

BE T -HFEZA=+ - HIFE - RERHR
RERLIE - HrMZ B g W EAT (M) BT T
fE -

1o P ATl o s A HR B B
AWt sERE R -

2. TG RPN ROE I AL S R > AR
BRER -

30 TR A A e T A L ) TN AL
A 5 SRR B S AR B R -

4. P AR P RS A o

5. HHER G EHE N LR b RO -




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
e S g

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to the audited
consolidated financial statements. In addition, pursuant to the code provision B.1.5,
the annual remuneration of other members of the senior management by bands for
the year ended 31 March 2015 is set out below:

S T 7 O I AR A A 5 P B R B RO o
BeAh > ARBESF G SCER B LS e > i — ok — A
SR =t HARARRE > HA R A R 2 AR
Fr RS

Number of individual

Remuneration to the senior management by bands TR 4 2w AR B S I 4 AN
HK$1 to HK$500,000 1 ¥ 7T % 500,000 ¥ 7T 2
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 #5 76 28 1,000,000 5 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 5 7T £ 2,000,000 #5 7T 4

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Wei Jianan,
Professor Ng Ka Ming and Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul. Mr. Wei Jianan is the
chairman of the nomination committee. All members of the nomination committee

are independent non-executive Directors.

Duties of Nomination Committee

The primary function of the nomination committee is to make recommendations to
the Board regarding appointment of Directors and candidates to fill vacancies on
the Board and to assess the independence of the independent non-executive

Directors.

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (“Policy”) last year which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity of Board members. The objective of the Policy
stated that selection of candidates be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service , the

summary of which are set out below:

(a)  With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable

development.

(b)  In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,

knowledge and length of service.
(c)  All Board appointments did and will be based on meritocracy, and

candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard

for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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The nominations committee is required to give consideration to the Policy when
identifying suitably qualified candidates to become members of the Board. The
ultimate decision did and will be based on merit and contribution that the selected

candidates will bring to the Board.

Work Performed by Nomination Committee
During the financial year ended 31 March 2015, the nomination committee held

one (1) meeting. The attendance of each member is as follows:

e FRE

RAEZEENYOGEGERRNL S ESE
R > R % EOR > AT R g R
1R B B FT S AR e O BRI A R

14 2 H @ BrgAT LIF
BEE-HFE=HA =1 —HIEMBUFERE  #4
TEGWRIT KGR o WA T sk an
o

Attendance/

No. of meeting held

Name of members BB 2R WAL BT
Mr. Wei Jianan (Chairman) B R e () 11
Professor Ng Ka Ming R AT 1/1
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul EB B 57 S 1/1

In accordance with its terms of reference, the nomination committee performed the

following, inter alia, work during the year ended 31 March 2015:

1. reviewed, assessed and commented, inter alia, the policy for the nomination
of Directors.

2. monitored the composition and effectiveness of the Board.

3. assessed the independence of each independent non-executive Director.

4. sourced individuals, if any, suitably qualified to become Board members.

5. identified those Directors to be retired by rotation and then be re-elected as

Directors in the 2015 AGM in accordance with the Articles of Association

of the Company and the GEM Listing Rules.

6. reviewed and assessed the nomination procedures, process and criteria.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the accounts of the
Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2015. The accounts are
prepared on a going concern basis and give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2015, and of the Group’s
profit and cash flow for the year then ended. In preparing the accounts for the year
ended 31 March 2015, the Directors have selected appropriate accounting policies
and, apart from those new and amended accounting policies as disclosed in the
notes to the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2015, have applied them
consistently with previous financial periods. Judgments and estimates have been
made that are prudent and reasonable. The reporting responsibilities of the external

auditor are set out on pages 60 to 61 of this annual report.

Internal Control System

The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the
Group’s system of internal controls. The internal controls are designed to meet the
Group’s particular needs and to minimise the risks to which the Group is exposed,
and are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risks to achieve business
objective and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
misstatements or losses. The Group’s internal control framework covers (i) the
setting of objectives, budgets and targets; (ii) the establishment of regular reporting
of financial information, in particular, the tracking of deviations between actual
performances and budgets/targets; (iii) the delegation of authority; and (iv) the

establishment of clear lines of accountability.

On behalf of the Board, the audit committee has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2015, including the reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and
efficiency of operations, compliance with applicable laws and regulations,
effectiveness of risk management functions and the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function. This is achieved primarily through
approving the scope of the annual internal audit plan, reviewing the findings of
internal audit work, the annual and interim financial statements, and the nature,

scope of work, and report of the external auditors.
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Analysis of diversity of the Board by nomination committee is shown by the  F¥|#%E XL EBRHEZZEGHRERFLZ 0/LH
following charts: I3
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Business Experiences

[GE S
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company’s annual general meeting is one of the principal channels of
communication with its Shareholders. The Board and the management are
committed to the constructive use of annual general meetings as a forum to meet
with Shareholders and to hear their views and answer their questions about the
Group and its business. The chairman of the Board, and each Board Committee’s
chairman or his alternate did and would attend annual general meetings along with

the external auditor to answer Shareholders’ questions.

All Shareholders are encouraged to attend the 2015 AGM and exercise their right
to vote. Shareholders who are unable to attend the 2015 AGM can appoint proxies
to attend and vote at the 2015 AGM.

The Company will send the notice of the 2015 AGM to Shareholders at least 20
clear business days before the annual general meeting. The Company will send
meeting notice to Shareholders more than 10 clear business days before any

extraordinary general meetings.

Shareholders are invited to ask questions related to the business of the Company.
Apart from usual business at the 2015 AGM, the Board has proposed general

mandates for the repurchase of shares and the issue of shares of the Company.

Further details of business to be conducted at the 2015 AGM will be set out in the
circular to Shareholders to be sent together with this annual report and posted on
the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange. All resolutions will be passed
by way of a poll conducted and verified by the Company’s branch share registrar,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, as an independent scrutineer. The poll results of
each of the proposed resolutions to the Board will be published on the Stock
Exchange and the Company’s websites shortly after the 2015 AGM was held.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for making enquiries to the Board

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer agent, namely, Tricor

Investor Services Limited, whose contact details are as follows:

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong
Telephone (852) 2980 1333
Fax : (852) 28108185
E-mail is-enquiries @hk.tricorglobal.com
Website http://www.tricoris.com
Attention Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Shareholders and members of the investor community are welcome to send their

enquiries to the Board and the company secretary as follows:

RM Group Holdings Limited

Address 21/F., Man Shing Industrial Building
307-311 Castle Peak Road
Kwai Chung, Hong Kong

Telephone (852) 2297 0000

Fax : o (852) 27559999

E-mail ir@royalmedic.com.hk

Website www.royalmedic.com

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s information to the

extent such information is publicly available.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Procedures for convening extraordinary general meeting on
requisition

One or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company (the “Requisition”) to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the

transaction of any business specified in the Requisition.

The Requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the secretary of the
Company at the principal place of business in Hong Kong and registered office of

the Company in Cayman Islands as follows:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
Address: 21/F, Man Shing Industrial Building

307-311 Castle Peak Road

Kwai Chung, Hong Kong

Attention: Board of Director/Company Secretary

Registered office of the Company in Cayman Islands
Address: Cricket Square Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681 Grand Cayman

KYI1-1111 Cayman Island

Attention: Board of Director/Company Secretary

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at general
meetings

Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals for the Company’s consideration
at the general meetings can send their proposals to the company secretary at the

principal place of business in Hong Kong as specified above.

RM Group Holdings Limited £l 5 4 4 3] % 5t A BR 2

e FRE

i R A B B SRR Bl R R

— RS AR R E H R AL R E AR A
ADIA Gy 2 — WA EAE AR RO & B4R
9 FBETR > A I A 1) o DR R e
TR (TR 1) > R el ol BT Bl o SR 7
T AT A 25 17 44 B PSR AR RIR & -

i R ZE 50RO S R T A A R B 2 R
LR P AR o i WA R T
FEREAE

AN ) s S S
gk c o FHFUEZETW
H A1 307-311 9%
[0 VNIERIE

LQCUNEIE & 8- Z@/NIL s

AR FT B S 0 I 110
Mtk © Cricket Square Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681 Grand Cayman
KY1-1111 Cayman Island

Wb A R A RRE
Jie RO IR R bR R R R

e SR ZE BB 2t ik 4 7 s S S M B 1 A
PR 2wk o DA R R & %5 -




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
e S g

INVESTOR RELATIONS

In order to develop and maintain a continuing investors’ relationship programme to
enable Shareholders and investors to better understand the Group’s business, the
Company has established various channels of communication with the

Shareholders and the investor community:

1. Shareholders can raise any comments on the performance and future

directions of the Company with the directors at the annual general meeting.

2. The Company may arrange press and analysts’ conferences twice a year in
relation to the results announcements, at which the executive Directors are
available to answer questions regarding the Group’s operational and

financial performances.

3. The Company’s website at www.royalmedic.com contains important
corporate information, annual, quarterly and interim reports, as well as
announcements and circulars issued by the Company to enable the
Shareholders and the investor community to have timely access to updated

information about the Group.

4. The Board has established a Shareholders’ communication policy since

2013 and will review it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.

5. The Company has uploaded its memorandum and articles of association of
the Company on the Company’s website at www.royalmedic.com and the
Stock Exchange’s website. There is no significant changes in the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association during the year ended 31 March
2015.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The Company engages CCIF CPA Limited (“CCIF”) as its external auditor. In
order to maintain CCIF’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the
audit process in accordance with applicable standards, the audit committee pre-
approves all audit services to be provided by CCIF and discusses with CCIF the
nature and scope of their audit and reporting obligations before the audit

commences.

The audit committee also reviews and pre-approves the engagement of CCIF to

provide any non-audit services for complying with relevant legal requirements.

For the year ended 31 March 2015, CCIF received the following remuneration

from the Group in connection with the provision of audit and non-audit services to

e FRE

B 1 4 B

5 ) 25 IS i 1 5 T4 LA ) (T B
U5 1) Py BEANI T  Fb e A0 ) A B
U5 0 LR R A - BT A
HEAME o DA HES $R 460 2 SRR ORS¢
A B O L B e AT SRS
it o

FALE B G N ) R e R I IS SR AE
7 JE RS - LARESY AR BRI BIRUE

WE TR -FEZH = HIRFEE - RS
T A A4 T SR A A SO A SO B WA I < 4

the Group:
For the year ended  For the year ended
31 March 2015 31 March 2014
BEZR T4 HEZE-UFE
=H=+—H —“H=+—H
R4 1A BE
HKS$’000 HK$°000
Type of Services AR FE THoT THTT
Audit services: TR
Annual audit services SF A% U 780 700
Non-audit services: FEAZ B -
Interim review services rHA 7 ] s 190 180
Tax review service o075 2% [ R s 163 122
Reporting accountants and other services R A A A RS 32 1,482
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B8 7 A% B e

®

CCIF

CCIF CPA LIMITED
BRSBTS IEFARAT
9/F Leighton Centre

77 Leighton Road
Causeway Bay Hong Kong

B G TRIRET 7R
TEHEA DO

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF RM GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of RM Group Holdings
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) set out on
pages 62 to 155 which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to

any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial

statements are free from material misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of

the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate

to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2015, and of the Group’s
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

CCIF CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 19 June 2015

Kwok Cheuk Yuen
Practising Certificate Number P02412
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Ao 7 9E it S L il 2 vl W i R

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % & —HF = H =+ —H L4

2015 2014
R —E—PY4E
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
s T¥IT THsoc
REVENUE Wk 6 227,677 169,684
Cost of sales B A (50,805) (39,692)
GROSS PROFIT EH 176,872 129,992
Other revenue and other net income Hoh i g S HA A 5 A 7 727 2,710
Selling and distribution expenses S K 53-8 BH S (55,136) (48,435)
Administrative expenses ATELBH X (81,172) (60,982)
Equity-settled share-based payments DU RS 4 B DA R4 S A5 2 B 2 29 (1,075) (7,364)
Listing expenses i) ha = (15,370)
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS iy 40,216 551
Finance costs Rl & R A 8(c) (301) (104)
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION o 5 i ¥ ) 8 39,915 447
Taxation FiIH 11(a) (8,394) (6,180)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR AT R NEAL AR R
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS Al (ks E)
OF THE COMPANY 31,521 (5,733)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS J A 2 i 1R
Item that may be reclassified N B A R B R AR
subsequently to profit or loss: ZIHH :
Exchange difference arising on translation of B AR S5 T A AR Y T S8 A2 B
foreign operations (34) (127)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ . N/NCIE XN A
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE  4ENZ&THR A (BHR)
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY p] 31,487 (5,860)
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE BREF, (EIR) 13
BASIC (HK CENTS PER SHARE) AR (Bg: s Al) 6.1 (1.3)
DILUTED (HK CENTS PER SHARE) A (B304 6.1 (1.3)

5567 H 5 155 E A MEEE B AR B R A — 0y o

The notes on pages 67 to 155 form an integral part of these financial
statements.

Details of dividends payable to owners of the Company attributable to profit JREAS 4 AR 2 BB A N 0 e 2 M AL 4 1A i AP A o

for the year are set out in note 12. JAREE 12 ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R A 5K Dl

As at 31 March 2015 /A ~E—HE=H=+—H

2015 2014
E S K S TR A
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
(i3 R THEIC
Non-current assets B G A
Property, plant and equipment W~ BB B 15 17,615 17,036
Intangible assets MY G 16 629 743
Prepayments and deposits TR K A 46 18 2,817 -
21,061 17,779
Current assets MENE A
Inventories wE 17 16,143 17,467
Trade and other receivables R A AR T At R i 18 63,538 25,826
Cash and cash equivalents B4 M 518 19 98,913 123,299
Bank deposits with maturity greater N H L2 =Af H W SRIT A7 3K
than three months 19 10,088 -
Tax recoverable ] A [B] i TE 11(b) - 2,218
188,682 168,810
Current liabilities B
Trade and other payables R AST R 3 B A A5 3 20 18,970 13,811
Bank loans and overdrafts SRATE K S 21 3,731 2,947
Tax payable JREAST B TE 11(b) 4,251 -
Provisions A 22 1,512 1,334
28,464 18,092
Non-current liabilities I B £
Deferred tax liabilities R AE R TH A 1 23 366 366
Net assets BREEE 180,913 168,131
EQUITY i
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AN F A N AL RE 5
Share capital A 24 5,155 5,150
Reserves it 175,758 162,981
TOTAL EQUITY W 25 48 A 180,913 168,131

The consolidated financial statements on pages 62 to 155 were approved and 58 62 H £ 155 H 4 & MBS LR —F —HAEN
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 19 June 2015 and are signed on  H +JU H £t 2 S5 &b i S I iE) 58 -
its behalf by:

Chan Yan Tak Wong Mau Tai
PR E TS
Director Director
#FH #FH
The notes on pages 67 to 155 form an integral part of these financial statements. 67 H 2 155 E M 518 AR B iR 1 — 5B -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% ~F — T 4FE=H =+ —H L4

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARG A
Share
Share Share Merger Translation option Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
BeA B AOMEME OTREE RIRRERE  DREEA Bt
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T T T T T T T
(note 33(a)) (note 33(c)) (note 33(d)) (note 33(e))
(Hr3E33a)  (WRE33(c) (HERE33))  (HRE33(e))
At 1 April 2013 A F—ZAEN—H - - - - - 38,551 38,551
Loss for the year EREIR - - - - - (5,733) (5,733)
Other comprehensive loss: HAb A THEE
Exchange difference arising RO ST T E A
on translation of foreign operations T 30,7 % - - - (127) - - (127)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AF R A 1 18 AR - - - (127) - (5,733) (5,860)
Issue of ordinary shares pursuant to (i3 SR RS il
the Reorganisation (note 24(d)) (Bt 24(d)) 10 - (10) - - - -
Capitalisation issue (note 24(€)) BRI EEAT (M3 24(e) 3,844 (3.844) - - - - -
Issuance of new shares by way of placing MR AL 817
(note 24() (2 24(5) 1206 137376 - - - 136N
Share issue expense AR5 47 B0 3 - (10,596) - - - - (10,596)
Equity-settled share-based payments DAPBCHERS S AR S A 2 BH S - - - - 7,364 - 7,364
At 31 March 2014 and 1 April 2014 RE-F—MEZA=+—H
Je —FE—NFENA—H 5,150 122,936 (10) (127) 7,364 32,818 168,131
Profit for the year R - = - - - 31,521 31,521
Other comprehensive loss: Hopth 2 T
Exchange difference arising A L A1 S I A A Y
on translation of foreign operations e 3,7 % = - - (34) - - (34)
Total comprehensive income AR A T S
for the year - - - (34) - 31,521 31,487
Dividends approved in respect of the DUFE AR B B AL e Y B
previous year (note 12) (B&E12) - - - - - (20,600) (20,600)
Share options lapsed Bl PR 2 = = = = (139) 139 =
Equity-settled share-based payments DATBHE 5 55 DA 3 3 o 2 B S - = = = 1,075 = 1,075
Shares issued under share option scheme R PR HE R 3 31T A
(note 24(g)) (FfH ik 24(g) 5 954 - = (139) = 820
At 31 March 2015 WZZ—RHF=HA=1+—H 5,155 123,890 (10) (161) 8,161 43,878 180,913

The notes on pages 67 to 155 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
A Bl R

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(% ~F— [ 4FE=H =+ —H L4

2015 2014
C S TS TR
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
R &E T T T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES R BB
Profit before taxation [ il v Al 39,915 447
Adjustments for: DA N & TE TR L -
Finance costs Pl R A 8(c) 301 104
Write-down of inventories o fE & 17(b) 3,915 2,388
Reversal of write-down of inventories AT B 8 () 17(b) (2,331) (928)
Equity-settled share-based payments VA BRERE e B A P 03 S A 2 B 52 29 1,075 7,364
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment LE BN Y G L RN 15 2,186 1,727
Amortisation of intangible assets T ' 16 114 57
Impairment loss of trade receivables JRE WS B K (L 18(b) 102 -
Bank interest income SRATRLE A 7 (258) (264)
Net loss on disposal of property, HEWZE - BUE SR
plant and equipment I 1 7 3 56
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries L5 B JBS 4 ) B i A TR 7 - (2,118)
Provisions for goods return EREEr M) 22 1,686 1,369
46,708 10,202
Changes in working capital R A )
Increase in inventories & (260) (6,162)
(Increase)/decrease in trade JHRE A TR R e L At B g 3 I
and other receivables () W (40,631) 6,746
Increase in trade and other payables JRE A 39 B L A JRE A+ 35 I 38 5,159 2,729
Utilisation of provisions for goods return st 22 (1,508) (1,073)
CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 3K H R & ¥EHMB 4 9,468 12,442
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid T WG H 11(b) (1,925) (8,087)
Net cash generated from operating activities 2 [ 88 S 55 0y Bl & V4 7,543 4,355
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BT H
Purchase of property, plant and equipment W ~ R Bt 15 (2,768) (1,981)
Proceeds from sale of property, S - R BRI
plant and equipment RC e - 30
Purchase of intangible assets ' O 16 - (800)
Bank interest received E U ERATFILE 258 264
Decrease in pledged bank deposit E PSR AT A7 s D - 5,000
Placement of bank deposits with maturity FH Z i =18 H
greater than three months A ERAT A7 K 19 (10,088) -
Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed of 8 i Ji 23 & i 9 2= 122 T #E Y
Bl KB4 %18 27(a) - @
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED (), 2 B B B 9 B 4 0
FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (12,598) 2,511
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MOaBleRaR

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% ~F — T 4FE=H =+ —H L4

2015 2014
e S XS T4
Notes HK$°000 HKS$°000
(i T TH#sTT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES Al B
Repayment of secured bank loans TR A HCHR SR AT B 3K (559) (544)
Interest paid 2o ALE (301) (103)
Decrease in amounts due to related parties JREASS IR N R T D = (26,529)
Capital element of finance lease payments FlE R B A5 R AR Ay = 47)
Interest element of finance lease payments Tl L A sk 1 1R B 4 - ()
Proceeds from issuance of shares upon listing HR A I 5 B3 7 2 M T A5 TR - 138,672
Proceeds from shares issued under share 452 e JROREE T ) A M
option scheme R e 24(g) 820 -
Transaction costs directly attributable to BT B REAS 22 5
the issuance of shares FRARAT K = (10,596)
Dividends paid to owners of CATA A AR A S
the Company 12 (20,600) -
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED R /7 B b % B i
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES B e | (20,640) 100,852
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH B4 B A (R ) /3
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS T (25,695) 107,718
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [iE 23 58 1) 1Y) 5% (34) (127)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R Bl T B4
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 123,299 15,708
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R B R B
AT END OF YEAR 19 97,570 123,299
The notes on pages 67 to 155 form an integral part of these financial statements. 67 E 5155 E 1Y Bt A B Rk i — B3 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for o1 S 985 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION AND
REORGANISATION

(a)

(b)

Corporate Information

RM Group Holdings Limited (the “Company’’) was incorporated and
domiciled in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law, Cap. 22
(Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands
as an exempted company with limited liability on 5 December 2011.
The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
Company has established a principle place of business in Hong Kong
at 21/F., Man Shing Industrial Building, 307-311 Castle Peak Road,
Kwai Chung, Hong Kong and has been registered as a non-Hong
Kong company under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance on 5
April 2012. The Company’s issued shares have been listed on the
Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 11 October 2013.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in
the sale, marketing and distribution of health and beauty supplements
and products in Hong Kong, Taiwan and the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”). The Group’s products are mainly sold and
distributed under its proprietary brand names of the companies within
the Group and the private label brands specifically developed for and
owned by a renowned chain of health and beauty products in Hong
Kong and Macau (the “Distribution Facilitator”).

Reorganisation

Pursuant to a reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”) of the Company
and its subsidiaries now comprising the Group completed on 23
September 2013 to rationalise the Group’s structure in preparation for
the listing of the shares of the Company on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange, the Company became the holding company of the Group.
Details of the Reorganisation are set out in the prospectus of the
Company dated 30 September 2013 (the “Prospectus”).

The Group resulting from the Reorganisation is regarded as a
continuing entity. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared using the principles of merger accounting in accordance
with Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting under Common
Control Combination” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA?”) as if the group structure under
the Reorganisation had been in existence throughout the year or since
their respective dates of incorporation of the entities now comprising
the Group, whichever is the shorter period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(a) Statement of compliance

FEEGFIEUR
(a) EHIEWY

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”),
which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”). A summary of the significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on any
changes in accounting policies resulting from the initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group
for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o B 5 e e W

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March

2015 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries.

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group
are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollar
(“HKD”), rounded to the nearest thousand except for per share data.
HKD is the Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation

currency.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial

statements is the historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent

from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the

revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that
have a significant effect on the financial statements and major sources

of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(0

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
investment with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group
has power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other

parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the

extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a
loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change
in the relative interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and

no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost on

initial recognition of an investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(h)),
unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a

disposal group that is classified as held for sale).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o B 5 e e W

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

Business combination under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements items of the combining entities or businesses in which the
common control combination occurs as if they had been combined
from the date when the combining entities or businesses first came

under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are combined
using the existing book values from the controlling party’s
perspective. No amount is recognised in respect of goodwill or excess
of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost at the
time of common control combination, to the extent of the continuation

of the controlling party’s interest.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income include the results of each of the combining entities or
businesses from the earliest date presented or since the date when the
combining entities or businesses first came under the common
control, where this is a shorter period, regardless of the date of

common control combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial statements are
presented as if the entities or businesses had been combined at the
end of the previous reporting period or when they first came under

common control, whichever is shorter.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the statement of financial
position at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated

impairment losses (see note 2(h)).

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using

the straight-line method, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

— leasehold land classified as held under finance leases is

depreciated over the unexpired term of lease;

—  buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated over the
shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their estimated
useful lives, being no more than 50 years after the date of
completion;

—  Leasehold improvements 20% per annum or

over the lease term, if shorter

—  Plant and machinery 30%—33% per annum
— Furniture, fixtures
and equipment 20%-33% per annum

—  Motor vehicles 20% per annum
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable
basis between the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both
the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed

annually.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers from equity
of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign

currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

®)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the financial

period in which they are incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its

estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net proceeds on disposal and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or

disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less

accumulated impairment losses.

The following intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised
from the date they are available for use and their estimated useful
lives are as follows:

— Product development rights 7 years

RM Group Holdings Limited £l 5 4 4 3] % 5t A BR 2

2. FEEHEBOR (H)

(e)

®

Wik ~ W KBt ()

A& Hh 800 AR T 8 KA B E Y
ARSI AE ] 2t AT AT HE A A 42 [ 1 JH
H AR e o) 38 51 R IR 5 9 A RZ A Y
R T (L B (4% %8 71117 9L 10T € ) 2 B e
AR A o 5B A B IR T (E Y
I TERE o BT AT FLAdLARE 8 OR 3 A I
S HH B0 B R [T A 4 i T R

) B T (L3 e A T T i o] <
> S BT S 2 T o [ R

HRE S B ~ WS KA E B
7 A s 12 £ B T 1 AR T R B
I TR {0 ] 9 22 B - A0 A B

B H R R R AR

I RE (FRERA)

11 5 Ml ey T B

1801 i i L LA A IR T o8 4 30 )
T S 4 A o 2 R e A AT R
WA AR o TR 0 0 8 0 LA
w8 AR 30 P 4 B AR ERTR o A
w8 A 0 R B 1 T A5 O R
WwS > Al R 2 AT A 5 B 5 B R A
T AR o 8 73] A 1) 86 FR T
TR ) T 5 7 T2 AR 9 2 i (E
[ GV

DL B A B R 47 0] 2 S0 e ol
AR LR o LA SR
AEWTE -

— FE i B

74




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% & —~HF=H =1+ —H L

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEEEBOR (H)
(CONTINUED)
(f) Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued) ) MIEEE (FEBRIN) (5
Internally-generated intangible assets — research and AT 25 J Ity 1 17 7 2 2 1y TG B B —
development expenditure HFEE 5%

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the

period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development (or
from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if,

only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

—  the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so

that it will be available for use or sale;

— the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

—  the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

—  how the intangible asset will generate probable future

economic benefits;

—  the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the

intangible asset; and

— the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to

the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the
intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period

in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets

that are acquired separately.

Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset,
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which the asset is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ok £ S 5 i A B R

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2, FEFFIBUOR (5)
(CONTINUED)

(g) Leased assets (g MEHE

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions, 7S 46 3] 16 7 SR TE L HE A RE R > A ]

is or contains a lease if the Group determines that the arrangement 375 8 At R B S — 2R 9 T 1T A T

conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of WP Al A 2 G > AL (|

time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a fE—TEE S — R )38 5 ) BN E Bt

determination is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the GHE o i E TN B P

arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement takes the I EEAE T VE S > A A B 22T

legal form of a lease. AHHENEEREIEL -

(i)  Classification of assets leased to the Group i) ML EE
Assets held by the Group under leases which transfer to the AEFEBIEHESFAWEE »
Group substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are T L F B AR 1 48 R 40 R B
classified as being held under finance leases. Leases which do TR 25 s i B AL > Th4
not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership MW ERERE o Wk
to the Group are classified as operating leases, with the i) s A (2] EORS AT RE 4R K oy
following exception: JE B B R 4 1 AH BRI 43 45 2 8

BHE > LU EU IS

— land held for own use under an operating lease, the fair — WRELEHEHAEH
value of which cannot be measured separately from the G > T 2N OF (B
fair value of a building situated thereon at the inception Wk B R b 2 B Y A
of the lease, is accounted for as being held under a A & A kR Y N S
finance lease, unless the building is also clearly held HoMEEE> AB i
under an operating lease. For these purposes, the RUAR 5 A& A0 S 5 A A
inception of the lease is the time that the lease was first E > MEA B FE IR B BR
entered into by the Group, or taken over from the MR P 4645 FL B B A HI
previous lessee. Sheo Bl F - HEA

i Ry 2 AR A I IR
RO FH B A e H] > EGE
FERi AT N EHEM®
IR ] o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leased assets (Continued)

(€]

(i)

(iii)

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to profit or
loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased assets. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit
or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are charged as expense in the

accounting period in which they are incurred.

Leasehold land and buildings held for own use

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to
whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any
lumpsum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and
the building elements in proportion to the relevant fair values
of the leasehold interests in the land element and building

element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised

over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h) Impairment of assets

(®)

Impairment of trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period to determine whether there is objective
evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment
includes observable data that comes to the attention of the

Group about one or more of the following loss events:

—  significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

—  a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in

interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and

—  significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor.

If any such evidence exists, impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition of these assets), where the
effect of discounting is material. This assessment is made
collectively where these financial assets share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due status, and have not
been individually assessed as impaired. Future cash flows for
financial assets which are assessed for impairment collectively
are based on historical loss experience for assets with credit

risk characteristics similar to the collective group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(@)

Impairment of trade and other receivables (Continued)

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s carrying
amount exceeding that which would have been determined had

no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding
assets directly, except for impairment losses recognised in
respect of trade receivables included within trade and other
receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful but not
remote. In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts
are recorded using an allowance account. When the Group is
satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount considered
irrecoverable is written off against trade receivables directly
and any amounts held in the allowance account relating to that
debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
charged to the allowance account are reversed against the
allowance account. Other changes in the allowance account
and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off

directly are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ok £ S 5 i A B R

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period to identify indications that the
following assets may be impaired or an impairment loss

previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment;

—  intangible assets; and

— investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement

of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. In addition, for intangible assets that are not yet
available for use and intangible assets that have indefinite
useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated annually

whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. In assessing
value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate
cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of
assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e., a cash-
generating unit).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(h) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii)  Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to
which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are
allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying
amount of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair

value less costs of disposal (if measurable), or value in use (if

determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable

change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable

amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of

impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in

which the reversals are recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o B 5 e e W

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(@)

(iii)  Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the GEM Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare
a quarterly financial report in compliance with HKAS 34,
Interim Financial Reporting, in respect of each quarter of the
financial year. At the end of the quarterly period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see notes
2(h)(@i) and (ii)).

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method and comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in

bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the

estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories
is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue
is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an
expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of
any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in

the period in which the reversal occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0

(k)

U]

(m)

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and
thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts, except where the
receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties without any
fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be
immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less

allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note 2(h)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised and redemption
value being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings, together with any interest and fee payable, using the

effective interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Except
for financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance with note
2(q)(i), trade and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which

case they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included as
a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the

consolidated statement of cash flows.

Annual Report 2014/2015 4£$

2.

FREHBOR ()

@

(k)

()

(m)

B WA B sk B HL At FE WAk

B AT SR R At R WS S A 2 e 2 F-
(ELRERR - LA DT IR ) 3 0 1 61
AR IR AR AR MR M A B Ak
TE T 1) [ 22 - P £ A3 S 4 (] 5 72 K
VI IR 20 81 NG N BRZ N o5 & il
BRAb o A RZ UL T > MENGRIE T %
JBCAS 3 A R k48 AR 51 R (L B
2(h)) °

G-

FHEE B DL E MBS 22 5 AL
AHERE o (EVI TERRAR > 7RG R 1%
G RAR MR T 4 Tl < A L
1] {8 2 T 4 A ] 2 U ) A A
LS R JTE £ 500 1 DS R e ik
T2 48 1 ffE 8 o

T Ao MRk A B A 5K I

A R A A RS 25 45 A4 F
B0 FE 8 o Ik S 5 A 4% 2 R 4 B
2(q)) i 5 Ab A 45 e 8 R A 7
B o M 5 S I BR T
T RAR LT e A BB =

Bl X Bl &% HY

i B B 4 (A H LA SRAT AT 3 %
TEABLG ~ SRAT B FA 4 Rl A 3 10
A7k > DA T B IR 4G 7y O 0 4 R B
B M AR (E 5 B IR~ R AR =
57 R B0 2 0 o o e 2 B o
TR B SR R AR 5 T B 4 7 PR
— R L BATIE SO AR S B R

MHE s AR ERBEFHEEHR 2 —
Ry o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 7 S R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
(n) Employee benefits
(i)  Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined

(i)

contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-
monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, these

amounts are stated at their present values.

Equity-settled share-based payments

Share options granted to eligible employees

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding increase
in share option reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date using the trinominal option pricing
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. Where the employees have to
meet vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally
entitled to the share options, the total estimated fair value of
the share options is spread over the vesting period, taking into

account the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/
credited to the profit or loss for the year of the review, unless
the original employee expenses qualify for recognition as an
asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense
is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price of the
Company’s shares. When share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option

reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()

(0)

(p)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of these benefits and
when it recognises restructuring costs involving the payments

of termination benefits.

Equity-settled share-based payments for share options
granted to eligible participant other than employees

Share options issued in exchange for services are measured at the fair
values of the services received, unless that fair value cannot be
reliably measured, in which case the services received are measured
by reference to the fair value of the share options granted. The fair
values of the services received are recognised as expenses, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve), when the
counterparties render services, unless the services qualify for

recognition as assets.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of

previous years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for o1 S 985 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from

unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and
all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided that those differences relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal
of the deductible temporary differences or in periods into which a tax
loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining whether
existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is,
those differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be

utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit (provided they are not part of a business combination),
and temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to
the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls
the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future or, in the case of deductible

differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and

liabilities are not discounted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the
extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends
are recognised when the liability to pay the related dividends is

recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not offset.
Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and
deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group or the
Company has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions

are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Group or the
Company intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the

asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

—_ in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to

income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

—_ different taxable entities, which, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered, intend to
realise the current tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle

simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 7 S R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2, FEFFIBUOR (5)

(CONTINUED)

(q) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent (q) CAIEHBBER - B AkR
liabilities =L
(i)  Financial guarantees issued @) CAEH BB R

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e.
the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when

due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group or the Company issues a financial guarantee,
the fair value of the guarantee is initially recognised as deferred
income within trade and other payables. The fair value of
financial guarantees issued at the time of issuance is
determined by reference to fees charged in an arm’s length
transaction for similar services, when such information is
obtainable, or is otherwise estimated by reference to interest
rate differentials, by comparing the actual rates charged by
lenders when the guarantee is made available with the
estimated rates that lenders would have charged, had the
guarantees not been available, where reliable estimates of such
information can be made. Where consideration is received or
receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the consideration
is recognised in accordance with the Group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no such
consideration is received or receivable, an immediate expense
is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of any

deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as deferred
income is amortised in profit or loss over the term of the
guarantee as income from financial guarantees issued. In
addition, provisions are recognised in accordance with note
2(q)(ii) if and when (i) it becomes probable that the holder of
the guarantee will call upon the Group or the Company under
the guarantee, and (ii) the amount of that claim on the Group
or the Company is expected to exceed the amount currently
carried in trade and other payables in respect of that guarantee
i.e. the amount initially recognised, less accumulated

amortisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % — %

2.

38

—HAE=ZA = H IR

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent
liabilities (Continued)

(q)

(r)

(i)

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions
are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to

settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of an outflow of economic benefits is remote.
Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the

probability of an outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or

receivable. Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will

flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be

measured reliably, revenue is recognised in the profit or loss as

follows:

)

(i)

(iii)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at the
customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in time
when the customer has accepted the goods and the related risk
and rewards of ownership. Revenue is recognised after value-
added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any

trade discounts and net of sales return.

Provision of Chinese medical consultation services
Income from provision of Chinese medical consultation

services is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective

interest method.

Annual Report 2014/2015 4£$

2. FEEGFHEER ()

(@)

(r)

CAE H 5 46 O - #E M R SR
F ()

(ii)

oAl 3¢ ] SR R
WA G ] A ] TR A R
FE PR 3 A S AT > AR T

AEZH AL ¢ #8375 A 2 LB AT RAT
LR (E S R S
0 IR T 25 < A ke 5 119 FE At
o R SRR AR o v W R o
EJE R - BT LI E AT
% BT Y B SR BUE SR -

A1 R AT R ZE U S IR A
BB RN RE R SEAL T > HIEZ
AR 8RR IR - BRIFAR
5 1 4 G 1 AT BB BT LA
AR G o A — sl 2 1F A
15 A8 A AN R A T E A Y
A e AT IR AE B 598 AR K
a5 o [ IR AL A U i A R R

PERCT H A -

Wi e R
Wi )4 2 oA R A G 2 F

3 -

A 5L 280 i 1T RE TR A R

B> DL RE A AT 5 RO AR S8
(A% 1) 5 - WA ARG T 51 5 dE e 4R

i (R R, -
(i)  HHERm

(i)

(i)

HEMATEEE PR (A
5 AR 2 B AR DL K A HE
A TR SR B e 0 IRy B RR A 25 o
Wz 2 1 R R L i
B S AT A0 & 5 410 B4 ok 6 B
REE R -

1R g B e IR
A3 v T A R IR S A Ui A 2
AR R R o

FLEMA
FLE AT B BRI AR,



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o B 5 e e W

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period.

Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the translation

reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial
disposal of an interest in an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified

to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()

()

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are

expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is being
incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in
progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the
qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or

complete.

Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i1)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or the Group’s parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

@

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and

fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a

group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity

related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person

identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family members

who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in

their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % %
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(v) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported

in the financial statements, are identified from the financial

information provided regularly to the Group’s chief operating

decision maker (“CODM?”) for the purposes of allocating resources

to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of

business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for

financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar

economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of

products and services, the nature of production processes, the type or

class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or

provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.

Operating segments which are not individually material may be

aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to HKFRSs and one

new interpretation that are first effective for the current accounting period of

the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27
(2011)

Amendments to HKAS 32

Amendments to HKAS 36

Amendments to HKAS 39

HKIFRIC)-Int 21
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for o1 S 985 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

The Group has not applied any new standard, amendment or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period. Impacts of the
adoption of the new or amended HKFRSs are discussed below:

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011),
Investment Entities

The amendments provide consolidation relief to those parents which qualify
to be an investment entity as defined in the amended HKFRS 10. Investment
entities are required to measure their subsidiaries at fair value through profit
or loss. The amendments do not have an impact on these financial statements
as the Company does not qualify to be an investment entity.

Amendments to HKAS 32, Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities

The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify the offsetting criteria in HKAS 32.
The amendments do not have an impact on these financial statements as

they are consistent with the policies already adopted by the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 36, Recoverable Amount Disclosures
for Non-Financial Assets

The amendments to HKAS 36 modify the disclosure requirements for
impaired non-financial assets. Among them, the amendments expand the
disclosures required for an impaired asset or CGU whose recoverable
amount is based on fair value less costs of disposal. The amendments do not
have an impact on these financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 39, Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting

The amendments to HKAS 39 provide relief from discontinuing hedge
accounting when novation of a derivative designated as a hedging instrument
meets certain criteria. The amendments do not have an impact on these
financial statements as the Group does not have any derivatives that are
subject to novation.

RM Group Holdings Limited £l 5 4 4 3] % 5t A BR 2

3.

& wH B B K o (A

7 4 81 307 A PR FEAT AT A @ w0 1 o ok A
B2 ETHE R BT B RE o A B IR A
LT RT BB T s B RS it e R 2 R
AR

FW M A SERAE 109 - FBY
W e B A 12 9% M B a st e I
279 25T (2011) - A E B
A T MUR AT A S T 7 s B S A
RIS 1098 R B I E B 2 B A &S
AHREESR o 43 BB A PR R A
S 2 (1 B T o p R AR 2 TSI R A
HRE TN TR WS BT B AR
70 A g

A v o wh W RS 3298 X AB AT - HR S
< % 4 il AR

TG R e 29 BRI E A g
e QIS 32 BEAY RS AR E o RZAFAEHT i i S
AGE T AR AR Y & R TIBOR — B0 i A
5 Il e 2R

G EREI6HEZ BT - ke
il 7 O T < 4

il G w RS 36 95 2 SR ISR T L B
T R RO TR L o Hoh > BB
A S I S R 24 (LB 8 A T
SR 1 B 2 B 9 4 A
R o WL AL T AR BB I R

A5t A 39 R BT - ik
TR A A0 0 B R ] ik A
#

U 5 30 96 2 A TR A 4 45
T U 48 52 1 a2 300 T LA A7 2 TR
17 SR 0 46 IR 25 0 @ R o P RO AR SR
P S 40 A 72 TFL 2 AR % A AT
A P B R S -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 3. SERFBORSE) R PE ()
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, Levies AW (T ERS R REEEY) —
5521 5% -
The Interpretation provides guidance on when a liability to pay a levy 5% e RR P AL T 0] IR 90 B AN R B 1 B
imposed by a government should be recognised. The amendments do not WERR A —H A MRS o B %I 5 B4
have an impact on these financial statements as the guidance is consistent R B S BOR — 20 HGZF BT A
with the Group’s existing accounting policies. TP i 3R 51 AR 2B o
In addition, the Company has early adopted the amendments to the GEM b AN T B2 T s s E R (5 622
Listing Rules relating to the disclosure of financial information with B o AR B EICAE B R LB AA A SE AR L T
reference to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) during the I ZABTTA > SZAE T & A B I 65 R A 4
current financial year. The adoption of the requirements has primarily o RN S HUE FE B AT IR
impacted the presentation and disclosure of information in the consolidated MR 2R S i o R% AR ) TR A A
financial statements. These changes mainly include the presentation of the o ] BA S AR R R 2 B 5 B i 2 R I
Company’s statement of financial position as a note disclosure instead of a BT E AR o 40 Al G (0 AT fa] 42 4 R ) 4
primary statement, updating any references to the Companies Ordinance to BUAT A GBS 325 4l A s P 5 S o YA 1)
refer to the current Companies Ordinance and replacing certain terminology ST R il w8 A2 AR S T R R T
no longer used in the Companies Ordinance with terminology used in fiTwg o
HKFRS.
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4. S0 BB B R R AR I i
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES
(a) Financial instruments by categories (a) WMHETHASH
2015 2014
I S G2 TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x THTT
Financial assets T 5 5 e
Loans and receivables BB BB IR
(including cash and bank balances) (ELE I & MERAT 5 ) 158,290 141,722
Financial liabilities s SR
Amortised cost PR A T 22,701 16,758
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
Financial risk managements and policies

The Group has exposure to the credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate

(b)

risk and currency risk arising from financial instruments. The policies

on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management

manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate

measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

®)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on
its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
Group. The Group has adopted a policy of merely dealing with
creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of

financial loss from defaults.

In respect of trade and other receivables, in order to minimise
risk, the management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing
basis. Credit evaluations of the financial position and condition
of the customers and debtors of the Group are performed on all
customers and debtors requiring credit over a certain amount.
Debtors with overdue balances, which will be reviewed on a
case-by-case basis, are requested to settle all outstanding
balances before any further credit is granted. Normally, the

Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

In respect of trade and other receivables, the Group’s exposure
to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer. The default risk of the
industry and country in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk. At the end of the reporting period, the
Group has certain concentrations of credit risk of 60% (2014:
63%) of the total trade and other receivables was due from the
Group’s largest customer and 74% (2014: 66%) of the total
trade and other receivables due from the Group’s five largest

customers respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk managements and policies (Continued)

(@)

(i)

Credit risk (Continued)
The credit risk on balances of cash and cash equivalents and
bank deposits with maturity greater than three months is low as

these balances are placed with reputable financial institutions.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure of credit risk arising from trade and other receivables

are set out in note 18.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the raising of loans
to cover expected cash demands, subject to Board approval.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient amount
of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term. The Group relies on its liquid funds and
bank borrowings as significant sources of liquidity. As at 31
March 2015, the Group has available un-utilised banking
facilities of approximately HK$22,184,000 (2014:
HK$12,888,000).

The following table set out the Group’s remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates
current at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date

the Group can be required to pay.

Annual Report 2014/2015 4£$

(b) W
@

(i)

4. Jow5 LB A BE R B A B B (5H)

J i B S BORE (480)

15 B3 (48)

Bl BB S S HY UK
Z I Z A8 7 W SRATAE S 15 £
TR BRG] B B4 5 60 T
TEHCR A B R AF 19 5 A -

AR A S [ AR B O AR
JF A R AR P A LB Y A
A R O MR 18

T B I B

PN N g
B HBG o BB AR
JEAT T A B 4 75 B > MEJR fr
A HUE o AR B Y EUR Sy 2
MR B REIRE E 4 H
3R DA R B R B SR DL
THE AR A 4 [ 4 A Fe 40 B4 S R
15 T T4 AR A R AL R 4 1 K
FEE A DAEATE I KRR
YLE A AT OR o AR £
Ui MERAT B S R )
B TEACH o AREEH %
—HAEZA =T —HA MK
FH SR AT Bl E 922,184,000 JC
(=% — P4 4F : 12,888,000 s
JB) °

NI RAR I A e [ R AT
S B AL ol I DA 55 F ARG
TR AR BRI > %5 M
BRUIIRGE & 2 R BB S
B (EAE DU & # M R (s 8
TRE) > R M AR H A
BRI G A AR AT 0 K&
AR AR B O 2 2
" o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4. s K R B R B A R (A
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk managements and policies (Continued) (b) Bl B B S 5R (48
(ii)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) RBEEEBE (4
Specifically, for bank loans which contain a repayment on B S > B A AT i SR AT
demand clause which can be exercised at the bank’s sole BT AR AT A 0% R 2 SR 3 R
discretion, the analysis shows the cash outflow based on the K ERAT B > A B A A E]
earliest period in which the entity can be required to pay, i.e. if HE 28 3% 2% 10 B H 0 R CRp A &
the lenders were to invoke their unconditional rights to call the TN T 07 L e 4 R TSR
loans with immediate effect. The maturity analysis for other R RRE R S0 2A a0
bank borrowings is prepared based on the scheduled repayment oA $RAT 15 B0 28 H 2 4 R
dates. Fie TR # K H I A R o
As at 31 March 2015 R —fFEZH =1—H
Total
contractual
Within undiscounted Carrying
On demand 1 year cash flows amount
ARHARMB
Bl
JRE K —4ER B R T 4

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
T T T T

Trade and other payables JAE A R B Al
HE A} BIH - 18,970 18,970 18,970
Secured bank loans AR RAT R 2,388 = 2,388 2,388
Secured bank overdrafts FAEIRITIE L 1,343 = 1,343 1,343
3,731 18,970 22,701 22,701
As at 31 March 2014 B oEEZ =1 —H
Total
contractual
Within  undiscounted Carrying
On demand 1 year cash flows amount
HHIRMBL
BT RRT
JE Tk —4ER i MR T B
HK$’000 HK$°000 HKS$’000 HK$’000
THTT T T TH#IT
Trade and other payables JEEASF AR B oAt
JEAT IR - 13,811 13,811 13,811
Secured bank loans AR IRAT B K 2,947 - 2,947 2,947

2,947 13,811 16,758 16,758
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4. Jow5 LB A BE R B A B B (5H)
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk managements and policies (Continued) (b) AR B As B R BUR ()
(ii)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) TE) B (AE)
The table that follows summarises the maturity analysis of T FEME 5 B A R R R B K
bank loans with a repayment on demand clause based on 0 BRAT B AR 5 B K B e T S
agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan agreements. ) T 7 4 K IR (] 2 1 H 19 3131
The amounts include interest payments computed using HAorAT - A B aiEE &
contractual rates. As a result, these amounts are greater than KM RFHENM B A
the amounts disclosed in the “on demand” time band in the Ut o AR B AR R LA H
above maturity analysis. Taking into account of the Group’s S b T RESE SR | IR i o [ A 9
financial position, the directors of the Company do not &0 FH o BEFE KA 1Y) B
consider it probable that the bank will exercise its discretion to HR VAR > AN Al EHFE AR
demand immediate repayment. The directors of the Company AT A7 08 B SR B IRE 4 ) 1 A A
believe that such bank loans will be repaid in accordance with R BEVEAS K o A0 R H g5 A
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. 15 > A BERAT 8300 & AR R A
o e T S 1) T AR K H A
P o

Maturity Analysis — Term Loans (excluding bank overdrafts) FIH H o — 1R{F 2 AT 7
subject to a repayment on demand clause based on scheduled 2 R TSR AR AR A0 A

repayments BN EHRAT58)
More than ~ More than Total
lyearbut 2 years but contractual
Within less than lessthan ~ More than undiscounted
On demand 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flows
BHIARIB
WR—EE AW B4
JEE R —4EN BREE BRI R TLAE R

HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HK$°000
T T T T T T

31 March2015  “F—HEZA=1—H - 633 633 1,169 103 2538
31 March 2014 —E—JUE=H=+—H - 633 633 1,494 412 3172
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ok £ S 5 i A B R

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk managements and policies (Continued) (b) B b 5 B R BOR (48
(iii)  Interest rate risk i) AR
The Group manages its interest rate exposure based on interest A A 3] MR 9 1] 2 KT B i DA
rate level and outlook as well as the potential impact on the PEIES T IE N LTI §IN
Group’s financial position arising from volatility. The Group WL AT BE RS B 1Y) VS A S A T
currently does not have any interest rate hedging policy in ) 2R LBy o A% £E [ 35 1RSI 8 i
relation to fair value and cash flow interest rate risks. The DN PAE B B 4 i R 2R B B
directors monitor the Group’s exposure on an ongoing basis AN AT ] ) 5 3 b B o W SRR
and will consider hedging the interest rate should the need FE B AR AR [ 1) SRS > SN A A
arises. A T BEIRG 25 J 3 oR] S B o
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact A S T DR R A R (B 7R
of rates changes on interest-bearing borrowing, predominantly SR B R = A B 1 5 2
with variable interest rate. HREZ RS
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation A4 H T B LR BRI SR
to variable-rate bank borrowings (see note 21 for details of B 1) B 4 i A 2R LB (A5 B
these borrowings). LSRR - RMEE2D) -
(i) Interest rate profile (1) VIEY />
The following table details the interest rate profile of the N R AR AL S A
Group’s borrowings at the end of the reporting period: A SR 3 &5 B H A
DL
2015 2014
RN TR —IYAE
Weighted Weighted
average average
interest rate interest rate
JIRE Y- 2 ) 5 JRESP- 5 ] %
% HK$°000 % HK$°000
Tt THTT
Variable rate FEMAE :
borrowings:
Secured bank loans A SIS AT B K 1.34% 2,388 1.62% 2,947
Secured bank overdrafts A KT ER1TE X 2.93% 1,343 - -
3,731 2,947

4. Yoo LB A BE R B A B B (RH)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk managements and policies (Continued)

(iii)  Interest rate risk (Continued)

(it)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2015, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates for
variable rate bank borrowings, with all other variables
held constant, would decrease/increase the Group’s
profit after tax and retained earnings by HK$31,000
(2014: increased/decreased the Group’s loss after tax
and decreased/increased the retained earnings by
HK$25,000). Other components of consolidated equity
would not change in response to the general increase/

decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
at the end of the reporting period and had been applied
to the exposure to interest rate risk for variable rate
borrowings in existence at that date. The 100 basis
points increase or decrease represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest
rates. The analysis is performed on the same basis for
2014.

(iv)  Currency risk

(i)

Exposure to currency risk

Presently, there is no hedging policy with respect to the
foreign exchange exposure. The Group is exposed to
currency risk primarily through sales and purchases
which give rise to receivables and payables and cash
balances that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e.
a currency other than the functional currency of the
operations to which the transactions relate. The
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily United
States dollars (“USD”), Renminbi (“RMB”) and Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ok £ S 5 i A B R

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4. Yoo LB A BE R B A B B (RH)
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk managements and policies (Continued) (b) B b 5 B R BOR (48
(iv)  Currency risk (Continued) (iv) B b (4E)
(i)  Exposure to currency risk (Continued) () RZEWE B ()

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the T 2R FE G A A A A
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from A 45 58 H wlt LB A
recognised assets or liabilities that are denominated in a B Ty fe B DL AN B
currency other than the functional currency of the entity EE MERERE XA E
to which they relate. For presentation purposes, the Jt 7R 7 R o R B
amounts of the exposure are shown in Hong Kong JEBG I £ M B T
dollars, translated using the spot rate at the year end bR M= o e
date. DI 2 41 - 3 1% 4F 4

FI ey B30 R e L5 o

Exposure to foreign currencies
(expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Pk % 55 W R (LB e RR)
2015 2014
ZRTHE —FE
USD RMB HK$ USD RMB HKS$

Rt N Wt % N T
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS$000
TG Tt T Tt TiL TiET

Cash and cash equivalents Hé RBEEED 1 170 424 - - -
Trade and other receivables JREE 0 B 2 e LA JRE o s T 1,563 - - - - -
Trade and other payables Ao R B HL At A I (1,875) (24) = (702) - -
Net exposure arising from R ERE R AE

recognised assets and liabilities 7 A I JEL B T A (311) 146 424 (702) - -

RM Group Holdings Limited £l 5 4 4 3] % 5t A BR 2




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4. WABsE b A BE R B A 8 (A
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk managements and policies (Continued) (b) AR B As B R BUR ()
(iv)  Currency risk (Continued) (iv) B b (4E)
(ii)  Sensitivity analysis (i) BUERE ST

The following table indicates the instantaneous change R FE A B BLAR
in the Group’s profit/loss after tax (and retained it AR (SR B i A1)
earnings) that would arise if foreign exchange rates to JRE A £ 3] % 9 B 4 4k
which the Group has significant exposure at the end of TRIRFA TR 2 S FE
the reporting period had changed at that date, assuming e 2R W AF 5% H ) B % Bl
all other risk variables remained constant. In this respect, 1M e A 2z BV RR 5 B ([ %
it is assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong JIT A7 At By PR 3R A
Kong dollar and the United States dollar would be ANEE) o UL E > Rk
materially unaffected by any changes in movement in 5 I0 M 35 o0 M) 2 64 [
value of the United States dollar against other BAEZETL L HME
currencies. W 2 B (A 58 ) 2 AT o]

LA BrERE -

2015 2014

U S TS e Sk 2
Increase/(decrease) Effect on profit  Increase/(decrease) Effect on loss
in foreign after tax and in foreign after tax and
exchange rates  retained earnings exchange rates retained earnings
AMREER  BERBURERF K SEIER BERBLR R
ERCFE) REBENZ B EFCFE) RERA
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#IC TH#T
RMB ARHE 5% 6 5% -
(5%) (6) (5%) -
HK$ i3 5% 16 5% -
(5%) (16) (5%) -

Annual Report 2014/2015 4£$




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o B 5 e e W

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % —F — fAE=H =1 — H (L4

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

()]

Financial risk managements and policies (Continued)
(iv)  Currency risk (Continued)
(ii)  Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects on
each of the group entities’ profit/loss after tax and equity
measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into Hong Kong Dollars at the exchange rate
ruling at the end of the reporting period for presentation

purposes.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming
that the change in foreign exchange rates had been
applied to re-measure those financial instruments held
by the Group which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk at the end of the reporting period. The

analysis is performed on the same basis for 2014.

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to ensure that
entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to the owners through the optimisation of the
debt and equity balance. The management reviews the capital
structure by considering the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. In view of this, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing

debt as it sees fit and appropriate.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt/(cash)
is calculated as total borrowings (including secured bank loans and
overdrafts (as detailed in note 21)) less cash and bank balances. Total
capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the consolidated

statement of financial position plus net debt, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4. Jow5 LB A BE R B A B B (5H)
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
(¢) Capital management (Continued) () BEAEM (4)
The net gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2014 and 2015 are W oE—HE=ZA=+—HK %
as follows: —WAEZH =T —H > AEIINFE
EAMILEMT
2015 2014
=
HK$°000 HKS$°000
T#oT THIT
Debts & 3,731 2,947
Less: Cash and bank balances W A M ERAT AR (109,001) (123,299)
Net cash Bl A (105,270) (120,352)
Total capital G A AR 180,913 168,131
Net gearing ratio FEEAMILR N/A N/A
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to AR A AT AR B A w4 0 R A
externally imposed capital requirements. HNERHE N E AR RLE -
(d) Fair value d) »FE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried at I Sl T D I Rl & I e
cost or amortised cost are not materially different from their fair value —WFEZH =+ —H » AREEE A
as at 31 March 2014 and 2015. SRS A 51 B 14 <6 L 1 AR (L

/NS =R PN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for o1 S 985 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key

sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

)

(ir)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives and
related depreciation and amortisation charges for its property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets of similar nature and functions. It
could change significantly as a result of technical innovations and
competitor actions in response to severe industry cycles. Management
will increase the depreciation and amortisation charge where useful
lives are less than previously estimated lives, or it will write-off or
write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been

abandoned or sold.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing its value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset, which requires
significant judgement relating to level of revenue and amount of
operating costs. The Group uses all readily available information in
determining an amount that is a reasonable approximation of the
recoverable amount, including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of revenue and operating
costs. Changes in these estimates could have a significant impact on
the carrying amounts of the assets and could result in additional

impairment charge or reversal of impairment in future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 5. BASEEstHhE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iti) Impairment of intangible assets with finite useful lives

P A WY B R R Y 2 AR ()
(i) A REHAFH Z HETE 7 Dol A

The Group tests whether the intangible assets which have finite useful
lives have suffered any impairment whenever there is any indication
that the intangible assets have been impaired. The Group has made
estimations and assumptions in relation to the potential future cash
flows of identifiable intangible assets. This assessment involves
estimations and assumptions relating to potential future revenues,
appropriate discount rates and the useful lives of such assets. The
recoverable amounts of these intangible assets have been determined
based on the value-in-use calculations, which have been estimated
using discounted cash flow method. The directors consider that the
recoverable amount exceeded the carrying amount of the intangible

assets and no impairment was recognised during the year.

Impairment of receivables

The Group estimates impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts
resulting from the inability of the customers and other debtors to
make the required payments. The Group bases the estimates on the
ageing of the receivable balance, debtors’ credit-worthiness, and
historical write-off experience. If the financial condition of the
customers and debtors were to deteriorate, actual impairment losses

would be higher than estimated.

Write down of inventories

The management of the Group reviews its inventories at the end of
each reporting period and write down inventories to net realisable
value. Management estimates the net realisable value for such items
based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market
conditions. The Group carries out an inventory review on a product-
by-product basis at the end of each reporting period and make
allowance for obsolete items.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for o1 S 985 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Current taxation and deferred taxation

Judgement is required in determining the amount of the provision for
taxation and the timing of payment of the related taxation. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the periods in which such

determination are made.

Deferred taxation relating to certain temporary differences and tax
losses are recognised as management considers it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, such differences will impact the
recognition of deferred taxation in the periods in which such estimate

is changed.

Provisions for goods return

The Group makes provisions for goods return based on a percentage
of sales and information on actual consumer returns of goods to
estimate return percentages. The provision is calculated based on
these factors and is adjusted for any fluctuations in the returns
estimated by management as of the end of each reporting period. The
estimate has been made on the basis of historical trends of return and
may vary as a result of new product components, altered
manufacturing process, other events affecting product quality or

change in consumer behavior.

In evaluating the adequacy of the provision, the Group prepares an
analysis to determine the reasons for unutilised provisions. If the
analysis determines that some carry forward provision amounts were
no longer appropriate based on actual claims experience, proper
adjustments will be made to release the over-accrued portion.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

6. REVENUE 6. Wik
The Group is principally engaged in the sale, marketing and distribution of AREEEEREE > B8 LPEREHE -
health and beauty supplements and products mainly in Hong Kong, Taiwan B T2 S AR (R 2 5 DA R J5 254 & B S &y o
and the PRC. The products are mainly sold and distributed under the HRHES T EEUAREEE NS A A NE
proprietary brand names of the companies within the Group and the private T R4 F8 DA S B A H A B AR R B
label brands specifically designated for the Distribution Facilitator. F AT 8 B A8 o
Revenue represents the invoiced value of sales of health and beauty Wi i 6 PR 1 7 i DA Sk 35 2540 i BE i Y B
supplements and products, less sales returns and discounts and value-added BRI - FOBRAE N 88 R [ KA K
tax and other sales taxes for the year. An analysis of revenue is as follows: (ER S Ho A S BB o Y zs AT R
2015 2014
e S TS R
HK$°000 HKS$’000
T THIT
Health supplements R 7 i 194,500 131,796
Beauty supplements and products S S RE 31,011 37,032
Others HoAth 2,166 856
227,677 169,684

7. OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET INCOME 7, H{th W 25 B H At e A 13¢50

2015 2014
R —HAE TR UAE
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt T
Other revenue H A Wezs
Bank interest income SRAT RS U A 258 264
Total interest income on financial assets not at A FEF A TR S IR 25 A BRI
fair value through profit or loss WS T 1 RIS M A AR 258 264
Sundry income EEIEN N 401 554
659 818
Other net income oAl A A
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 27) B R s B U g VR AR (B R 27) - 2,118
Net loss on disposal of property, plant WY - RS BRS04 TR AR
and equipment 3) (56)
Exchange gain/(loss), net FE Sl 2, (B548) - 198 71 (170)
68 1,892
727 2,710

Annual Report 2014/2015 4£$




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o B 5 e e W

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 8.  BR7B i i A
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging the followings: BRBERTHRS A T IR L T & TEA IS -
2015 2014
R TR TE A
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x THTT
(a)  Staff costs: (a) BTk :
Salaries, allowances, and other benefits Frd o~ G A A AR
(including directors’ remuneration (note 9)) (EISEEM A (BsE9)) 54,296 43,790
Equity-settled share-based payments DA BRERE f 5 LA e 03 S A 2 B 52 = 7,364
Contributions to defined contribution FE R LR AT A R
retirement plans 1,934 1,520
56,230 52,674
(b)  Other items: (b) FHAebIEE :
Auditors’ remuneration % B AT 4 940 1,088
Cost of inventories (notes (i) and 17(b)) & A (B 5E () M 17(b)) 50,805 39,692
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment W2 - WUE BT 2,186 1,727
Amortisation of intangible assets T 4 6 114 57
Provisions for goods returns EREEr T 1,686 1,369
Operating lease charges: minimum lease payments SOETLE B S KA 4 1,480 407
Research and development costs WFEE B 3,146 2,018
Equity-settled share-based payments — consultant DI IR ARE 45 58 DA B A7 S At
Z B — B 1,075 -
Impairment loss on trade receivables JRE S K (B 102 -
Rent for special designated counters R Rl S A o7 R4 22,493 16,098
(¢) Finance costs: () RbNEHA :
Bank overdraft interest SRATIE SRS, 227 14
Finance charge on obligations under Rl L R A 11 Rl B S
finance lease = 1
Interest on bank loans SRAT R AR 74 89
Total interest expenses on financial liabilities 3 I LA T RS I8 45 AR
not at fair value through profit or loss HES A AR 1 RS BA S AR 301 104
Note: fft T -
@) For the year ended 31 March 2015, cost of inventories includes HK$5,355,000 (2014: @) WEF-REZA=1THILHEE &

HK$4,964,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation and provision for goods return,
which amount is also included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately

above for each of these types of expenses.

TR 555,355,000 7T (- —PU4E 4,964,000
WIn) - BB TA - T8 R B a -

A B B BR EE A B SO BH AR A B SR

Y AREA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 9. HEHRATHAKRME
OFFICER’S REMUNERATION
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 383 of the Hong Kong M TR )2 383 66 Mo N W) (4 % # =
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of ] £5 EORE) BP0 4 Bl 5 1Y) B 5 4
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation is as follows: /N
For the year ended 31 March 2015 BEZ-HE=ZA=Z1+—HILEE
Equity-
Salaries, settled

allowances  share-based Retirement

Discretionary  and benefits payments scheme

Fees bonuses in kind (note)  contributions Total
FacwN o pmekr R

s WRSTEA  REAREA 2B (W) itk it

HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
T8 Ti#x Ti#x Ti#x Ti#x T

Chairman, chief executive officer TR TR R

and executive director HiFESH
Mr. Chan Yan Tak BB - 150 1,800 - 18 1,968
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Wong Mau Tai fil &3 - 60 840 - 18 918
Mr. Foo Chi Ming BENILE = 100 1,200 = 18 1,318
Non-executive director FHITHEE
Madam Tsang Pui Man %4+ 240 = = = = 240

Independent non-executive directors — J i/ FHITEH

Mr. Wei Jianan WA HSE 240 - - - - 240
Professor Ng Ka Ming RELHBR 240 = = = = 240
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul R i S 240 = = = = 240

960 310 3,840 - 54 5,164
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ok £ S 5 i A B R

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 9. FEFRATBAEEM & ()
OFFICER’S REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 March 2014 BEFE-WNWE=H=1+—HIL44EE
Equity-
Salaries, settled
allowances share-based Retirement
Discretionary ~ and benefits payments scheme
Fees bonuses in kind (note)  contributions Total
DUBCHER: 5
oo wE DAy BRG]
ik BfEA  REWREM 2B () 3 At
HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$'000
T T T Tk Tk SR
Chairman, chief executive officer TR fTHAR R
and executive director HiTEF
Mr. Chan Yan Tak o Bl e A - - 1,800 139 13 1,952
Executive directors HirEH
Mr. Wong Mau Tai HRREE - 60 740 1,390 15 2,205
Mr. Foo Chi Ming (Appointed as BEREE (R oF—CF
non-executive director on NATAHERTA
16 August 2012 and FHATESR R
re-designated as executive e W R WANE|
director on 16 July 2013) AEBWITES) - - 921 1,390 10 2,321
Non-executive director FHITEE
Madam Tsang Pui Man WEL L 240 - - - - 240
Independent non-executive directors — JV FHTEH
Mr. Wei Jianan MAEEE (R _F—-=4F
(Appointed on 24 September 2013)  JLH ~F MW HEZAT) 125 - - 139 - 264
Professor Ng Ka Ming BEAYR (R -F—=4F
(Appointed on 24 September 2013)  JUH ~ 10 HEZAT) 125 - - 139 - 264
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul BB etk (R =% — =4
(Appointed on 24 September 2013)  fLA ~F U AEZL) 125 - - 139 - 264
615 60 3461 3,336 38 7,510

Note:

These represent the estimated value of share options granted to the directors under

the Company’s share option scheme. The value of these share options is measured
according to the Group’s accounting policies for share-based payment transactions
as set out in note 2(n)(ii) and, in accordance with the policies, includes adjustments
to reverse amounts accrued in previous years where grants of equity instruments are

forfeited prior to vesting.

The details of these benefits in kind, including the principal terms and number of
options granted, are disclosed under the note 29.

During the year, no director of the Company has waived any emoluments

and no emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to any of the

directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as

compensation for loss of office.

RM Group Holdings Limited £l 5 4 4 3] % 5t A BR 2

BFEE © da SRR AR AR R AR 4w i S M R )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 10. HEH AL
EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments paid to the five highest paid individuals W 4 e N (5 R HAbER)
(including directors and other employees) are as follows: F S AT s T
2015 2014
C S KA S TR —PUAE
HK$’000 HKS$’000
T#L THEIC
Discretionary bonuses 15 fE AT 520 200
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Brd o~ RS SCE AR 6,421 5,281
Equity-settled share-based payments DA HE 45 55 AR 003 S A 2 BH 52 = 5421
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme FEYY NS L 85 68
7,026 10,970
Number of directors EEUN 2
Number of employees fiE B A% 3
5 5
During the year, no emolument was paid to the five highest paid individuals AR N o NI ) 4 e BN L (LR R
(including directors and other employees) as an inducement to join or upon R HABAE B S AT 4 VE 25 o A A B [ 17
joining the Group or as compensation of loss of office and no bonus was Jei 8 5 | o A A AR T £ A48 TR s A T A
paid or payable by the Group to the five highest paid individuals based on I AR5 A 4 [ 114 2E 48T 1] 44 B T A
the performance of the Group. AT B EATATATAEAL ©
The emoluments of the 3 (2014: 2) individuals other than directors with the e B3 (E— PR 240) A+ OR
highest emoluments are within the following bands: FIEHE ) M E AT T FIZR A -
2015 2014
e S TS R
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A N
HK$1,000,001 upto HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 #% 5C % 1,500,000 ¥ 7c 3 -
HK$2,000,001 upto HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 #5 7T % 2,500,000 ¥ 7 - 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ok £ S 5 i A B R

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

11. TAXATION

11. BiJH

(a)  Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents: (@) HEBERBANIEELE
2015 2014
RN R
HK$°000 HKS$’000
T THsIC
Current tax IR 7
Hong Kong Profits Tax RS EL 8,046 5,011
PRC Enterprise Income Tax oh A AR AL 1,222 -
(Overprovision)/underprovision in respect  DLAEAE B CRJE) /A
of prior years
Hong Kong Profits Tax T RSB (874) 874
Deferred taxation (note 23) IRAERLIE (it 7t 23)
Origination and reversal 07 R 22 BL A 72 A R e ]
of temporary differences - 295
8,394 6,180

R E AR R —HAE A
=R IFEERN > FEAGRL %
fl SRR % A A9 16.5% 71 ©

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2014: 16.5%) of the
estimated assessable profit for the year.

TR A 2E TR B ([T ERL ) M T %
R H 2 1 26 BT A5 B ik B e 91 Al 1
R i 1] P AR R R 259 RHE -

The provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT”) is
calculated at the standard rate of 25% on the estimated assessable
profit for the year as determined in accordance with the relevant
income tax rules and regulations of the PRC.

HRAEEREE _F—INFER _F
—HAEZH = B IR AT
Bl > S e LR B ([ 38 b &k
BEE D) > ISRV 1 K & 18 Bk A5 AT A JE
ARBLSCA B ) - I S A ] i
REWAE RSB -

No provision for profits tax in the Cayman Islands, the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI”), Malaysia and Taiwan have been made as the Group
has no income or profit assessable for tax in these jurisdictions for the
years ended 31 March 2014 and 2015.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % %

11. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(Continued)

—HAE=ZA = H IR

EEIEE-?"

(a)

Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting profit at the

)

ﬂélﬁ B 2 B9 3 PR 5 A o i

applicable tax rates: FIRHEWT -
2015 2014
—EwE EWE
HK$°000 HKS$’000
T THsIC
Profit before taxation 5 A3 T i ) 39,915 447
Notional tax on profit before taxation, o A i Y A 0 B R B T > 4% 3k A AR
calculated at the rates applicable to profits 2 I 1 D R [ 7 20 B SRR
in the tax jurisdictions concerned 7,007 55
Tax effect on non-taxable income WEZERRBLIA W B 5 2 (64) (462)
Tax effect on non-deductible expenses RN B SR BRS s 2 436 4,522
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised A e R T s 18 00 B s 1,872 1,037
Others HAth 117 202
Special tax deduction FEIRBIH L (100) (40)
(Overprovision)/underprovision in respect DUFEAR B R B CRIE) R 2
of prior years (874) 874
Utilisation of tax losses not ) A R R B s 4R
previously recognised = (3)
Actual tax expense FEHRBLIE S 8,394 6,180
Tax payable/(recoverable) in the consolidated statement of financial (b)  EEEMESRULR AN REAS, (RT i [A])
position represents: BT
2015 2014
It Sk T T UAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
AR THTT
At beginning of the year A7) (2,218) (16)
Provision for the year GRNE 210 9,268 5,011
(Overprovision)/underprovision in respect DUFEAR B R CRIE) R 2
of prior years (874) 874
Tax paid AT BLIE (1,925) (8,087)
At end of the year R 4,251 (2,218)
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13.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for o1 S 985 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

DIVIDENDS

At a meeting held on 24 June 2014, the Board recommended the payment of
a special dividend of HK4.0 cents per ordinary share of the Company
(totalling HK$20,600,000) for the year ended 31 March 2014 (“2014 Special
Dividend”), which was then approved by the shareholders of the Company
in the annual general meeting held on 4 August 2014. The 2014 Special
Dividend was paid and reflected as an appropriation of retained earnings
during the year ended 31 March 2015.

At a meeting held on 19 June 2015, the Board recommended the payment of
a final dividend of HK2.5 cents per ordinary share of the Company (totalling
HK$12,907,500) for the year ended 31 March 2015. The final dividend for
2015 proposed after the end of the reporting period is subject to approval by
the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting and is not
recognised as dividend payable in the financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2015.

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share
The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share is based on the
profit attributable to owners of the Company of HK$31,521,000
(2014: loss of HK$5,733,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue of 515,028,767 (2014: 446,471,780 ordinary
shares), calculated as follows:

12.

13.

Ji B,

e E—PAEANH A —Ee#L
HHEOgERMERE - F-WE=A=+—
F 1k 45 3 5 R 0 4 9 s 8 AR ) g
8 % 4.0 8l (4 3£20,600,000 5 70) ([ %
— DU AR S 1) Sl R AR N RSO %
— AN H I H 84T 2 R A e Bt
o ZFE—TAERRIREC IO fE =%
—HAEZH =+ HIAEE 2 R A
—H oy Hp B o

B -HFERNATILAN —RE®R L
EREeRRREE A=A = —
H kAR B 5 R 1) A 9 5 25 AR 2 R A
2.5 WAl (A 3£ 12,907,500 % 0) o ILEE
e AR R T B e R R A R e
WA R EALE R R = A
= — B 22 BAH ER vh ol R R 2 A

B

BRAEFM,(EER)

(a) WREARARN,(BHE)
FEEAREA], () JEARPEA L A
HEAT N AL 22 R 31,521,000 7T (-
F—PU4E 518 5,733,000 00) K E
AT I AT 1 $515,028,767
B (= FF— DU 4F : 446,471,780 1) T
B FHEMT

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic) 5 R IR T 2 8 (FEAR)
2015 2014
ZR TR e RS
Number of Number of
shares shares
ety #H 40 4=
Issued ordinary shares at 1 April AP H — H 2 B8 AT 48 515,000,000 -
Effect of issue at date of incorporation and TARE ST 5 BAEE AT A A Al I 1
subdivision (notes 24(a) and 24(b)) 2 (B 5E 24(a) K 24(b)) - 10
Effect of shares issued under Reorganisation Jiss) EENIRE IR
(note 24(d)) S (I ik 24(d)) = 999,990
Effect of capitalisation issue (note 24(e)) AR BT 2 52 (B 5E 24(e) = 384,400,000
Effect of shares issued under placing AR M & PT84 T R A
(note 24(f)) 25 (5T 24() = 61,071,780
Effect of shares issued under share option R 5 5 R 5 381 BT 4 7 A 1y
scheme (note 24(g)) 2B (M5 24(g)) 28,767 .
Weighted average number of ordinary shares O T 2 )
in issue JIRET-25 8 515,028,767 446,471,780
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (Continued)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic) (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2014, the calculation of the weighted
average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic loss per
share has taken into account the shares issued pursuant to the
Reorganisation and the capitalization issue of 384,400,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company at par value on 11 October
2013 as stated in note 24 as if it had been effective on 1 April 2013.

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

The calculation of diluted earnings/(loss) per share is based on the
profit attributable to owners of the Company of HK$31,521,000
(2014: loss of HK$5,733,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding after adjustment for the effects of all

dilutive potential ordinary shares, calculated as follows:

13. BB M,(EHR) (8)

(a) TREARAN,(BHE) (4
A IREF 3 2 (B AR) (#)
NoEPAE=H=1+—H  5HEA
N T R A e R AR S 3 A b
SEIE S T A% A AT e Bk
FR 5 41 B AR AL B AT GO Bt 3 24
Hik B — A A — BB AT ERE
BRFORER 22— =N HA— %%
#:) 2 384,400,000% - 4T (B £50.01
Wt EH I o

(b) EREEAER(ER)
R A (E548) AR AR A
WA NG R 31,521,000 T (=
F—PU4E : 515,733,000 % 00 ) M 58
ST S A PV TE M R B S R AR
14550 i 2 AT G B D

T
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) 58 [T 25 8 ()
2015 2014
s
Number of Number of
shares shares
B4 8 H it #H
Weighted average number of 288 R T (B A
ordinary shares (basic) 515,028,767 446,471,780
Effect of deemed issue of shares under AR ) B AR T ) LA
the Company’s share option scheme BE AT R 2 R
for nil consideration 2,133,510 1,510,305
Weighted average number of 3 TR T 4 S ()
ordinary shares (diluted) 517,162,277 447,982,085

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 31
March 2014 does not assume the exercise of the Company’s
outstanding share options during the year ended 31 March 2014 since

their exercise would result in a decrease in loss per share.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

14. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 (HK$25,000 prior to

June 2014). Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary in the PRC are members of a state-
managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the government of the PRC.
The subsidiary is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to

make the specified contributions.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of HK$1,934,000 (2014:
HK$1,520,000) represents contributions payable to these plans by the Group
at rates specified in the rules of the plans. As at 31 March 2015,
contributions of HK$159,000 (2014: HK$141,000) due in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2015 had not been paid over to the plans. The amounts

were paid subsequent to the end of the reporting period.
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14. 8 528 Pk 1 A

TE BB HOR ARG 3

A% B8 EAR G5 A 5 5 M A B A nt B
TE A W IR AR 6% 19 DR T 32 A AR B Ry —
TEE H AR SR (T8 ]) - &
FE &8 5 —TEM B Z st NN 2
PEHORIRGT 8] o R AE ST E - B E R
HAR B 45 B 2E4% R B B AR 5% 17 51 &1
PEEK > e B H A B A 25 30,000 5 00 (—
F— DU AE N A FT A 25,000 #7T) o wHEI K
RITIRE [

R R IR A BB 2 WA B4 2 B e
B B W% 7 1Y R 8 A B AR R AR R R o
S5 B Jag 2 ) JELH < O BLE T 0 EL e %R
PRAR I Gt (3t 3K LS AHAR I o AR 42 38 5%
AR PR I 0 B e — AT 2 A B O

Eoe
N °

A% S [ oy LT S R A 2 R R A
At N Tl R 5 4E 25 00 A2 ) R 1,934,000 35
JC( FE—U4E ¢ 1,520,000 00) » i —F
—HAEZH=+—H  A#3159,000 % T
(= F—TY4F 141,000 #50) 2HNE K HE
JAREREE o RZaK I g iR s IR AT -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% & —~HF=H =1+ —H L

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. W3k ~ W Bkl
Leasehold
land and
buildings
held for own Furniture,
use carried Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor
atcost improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
AT
Feffe AR
L I RHE
Bt Gie YT Bkt R At

HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
T T i T T T

Cost A

At 1 April 2013 REZ—=FMA—H 14,115 3495 678 2,161 408 20,857

Additions WE - 563 253 464 701 1,981

Disposals ik - - - (16) (259) (275)

At 31 March 2014 and WoE—NE=A=+—H

1 April 2014 R =4 —H 14,115 4,058 931 2,609 850 22,563

Additions WE - 1,694 336 387 351 2,768

Disposals ks - - - ) - )

At 31 March 2015 RoF—-HF=A=1—H 14,115 5,752 1,267 2,992 1,201 25,327
Accumulated depreciation Bt

At 1 April 2013 R oFE-ZHENA—H 1,117 1,296 450 958 168 3,989

Charge for the year ERIE 379 722 148 380 98 1,727

Written back on disposals A A ) - - - ®8) (181) (189)

At31 March 2014 BEE-WE=A=+—H

and 1 April 2014 RZZ—UEMH—H 1,496 2,018 598 1,330 85 5,521

Charge for the year FRIE 379 915 213 457 222 2,186

Written back on disposals B 43 ] - - - (3] - 1)

At31 March 2015 REF-HFE=ZHA=1—H 1,875 2933 811 1,786 307 7,712
Carrying amount W T

At 31 March 2015 RoF-HEZA=1—H 12,240 2,819 456 1,206 894 17,615

At 31 March 2014 RoFE-NEZA=F—H 12,619 2,040 333 1,279 765 17,036
As at 31 March 2015, the Group has pledged its leasehold land and buildings AL O AR AR 3 AR b Rk
held for own use with carrying amount of HK$5,939,000 (2014: F T —RKBAT VB L MERSRAT I & 1) HE A
HK$6,123,000) to a bank to secure banking facilities granted to the Group i HIREER “F—HFE=H=1+—H
(Note 21). 5,939,000 #5 7T ( —Z—PU4E © 6,123,000 #

Jo) (fifsE21) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #( % % —HHFE=H =+—H ILFE

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. W& &
HK$’000
THsoc
Cost AR
At 1 April 2013 AZE—ZAEA—H -
Additions wE 800
At 31 March 2014, AZE—PE=ZA=+—H >
1 April 2014 and ZE—PUEMH—H K&
31 March 2015 TR —REZH=+—H 800
Accumulated amortisation HEHR Y
At 1 April 2013 R E =N —H -
Charge for the year SRS 57
At 31 March 2014 and 1 April 2014 MoE-UE=A=+—H
K= F—PUFEH—H 57
Charge for the year AN S 114
At 31 March 2015 W oE—-HE=ZH=+—H 171
Carrying amount R T
At 31 March 2015 MoE—-HE=ZH=+—H 629
At 31 March 2014 R oE—UFE=ZH=+—H 743

Intangible assets represent the product development rights acquired by the

Group.

The amortisation charge for the year is included in “administrative

expenses”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% & —~HF=H =1+ —H L

17. INVENTORIES 17. #8
(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position (a) EEEMEIRNERNIZEELE -
comprise:
2015 2014
SRR TR
HK$’000 HKS$’000
T AR
Raw materials JE K R 13,895 13,861
Finished goods B 2,248 3,606
16,143 17,467
(b)  The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense (b)  CHERS B RN A S AR g S H Al
and included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other R R R ESFOTWT
comprehensive income is as follows:
2015 2014
ZR AR TR
HK$°000 HK$’000
T THTT
Carrying amount of inventories sold BB 17 10 i 1 (i 49,221 38,232
Write-down of inventories oA & 3,915 2,388
Reversal of write-down of inventories (note i) HUB7E B8 [l (B 5%:1) (2,331) (928)
50,805 39,692
Note: [t 5E -
(i) The amount was resulted from the utilisation of obsolete inventories that (i) B A AR B B O A 1 A R O
were written down in prior years. HBRAE AR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18, IR sk B 1 A Wik JEL
2015 2014
SR N e SIS
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#T Tt
Trade receivables JRE A B K 47,853 17,336
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts W SRR (102) -
47,751 17,336
Other receivables FH Al R A 3 TE 1,538 1,087
Loans and receivables B N FE I T 49,289 18,423
Prepayments FE AT IE 9,684 3,437
Deposits R4 7,382 3,966
17,066 7,403
66,355 25,826
2015 2014
ZE T —ER— 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#L B
Analysis of trade and other receivables: JRE WS R B LA JRE SR 4 AT G

Non-current portion FE TR BB 13 2,817 -
Current portion B 63,538 25,826
66,355 25,826
The amount of the Group’s deposits and prepayments expected to be A B T ) 4 < R A S E B 2 R — AR
recovered or recognised as expense after more than one year is HK$911,000 Wi 1m0 5 e RR A BH 52 43l 7 911,000 ¥ TG (-
(2014: HK$Nil) and HK$1,906,000 (2014: HK$Nil) respectively. All of the P4 ) 121,906,000 9 70 (—F — Y
other trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered or recognised A ) o TE A A SRR S At e

as expense within one year. WSCR TR I — 4 Py i ] it 8 5 B S o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18. JRE WO I sk B L At WL sk JEL (48)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Ageing analysis (a) HREESHT

NECE WA > RENOE R S A
JRE W I e LA 2 AR R (AT R R

Included in trade and other receivables are trade receivables (net of

allowance for doubtful debts) with the following ageing analysis

presented based on invoice date as at the end of the reporting period: NEF M) 42088 21 H 1 250 10 IR 8% 0 A
mr

2015 2014

—FEE N

HK$’000 HK$’000

T THsoT

0-30 days 0Z30H 39,374 8,586

31-60 days 31260 H 7,728 8,133

61-90 days 61290 H 5 30

91-180 days 91 £ 180 H 252 46

181-365 days 181 %365 H 25 265

Over 365 days 365 H 367 276

47,751 17,336

B SRk — B % S TR RO 2 90
billing. Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note HINENHE o AL EBE REORIE—
4(b) (). R HOA B R 4(b)G) ©

Trade receivables are normally due within 0-90 days from the date of

(b) Impairment of trade receivables (b) MU #R DA

JREE e R 2k 1 (L e 18 T 4 A IR BR A
W o R I A< 42 [ 58 2 A 1m] SR TR ] fig
HEARK  MAEEN T - WEREEY
4 B A AR S (SRR R 2(h)) o

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded using
an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of
the amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is written off

against trade receivables directly (see note 2(h)).

Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts R HEE)
2015 2014
SE T —ER— U
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#oc Tt
At 1 April WA —H - -
Impairment loss recognised il SR Ul 1 R 12 102 -
At 31 March W=HA=+—H 102 =
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o o B 5 e e W

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(¢)

Impairment of trade receivables (Continued)

As at 31 March 2015, trade receivables of the Group amounting to
HK$102,000 (2014: HK$Nil) were individually determined to be
impaired. The individually impaired receivables were outstanding for
over 365 days. Accordingly, specific allowances for doubtful debts of
HK$102,000 (2014: HK$Nil) were recognised.

18, JRE WO sk B L At WL sk JEL (48)
(b) FEBUR IR (4

MoFE—HE=ZA=+—H > KEM
102,000 7 7C ( & — U 4F « M%) B UL
IR A {181 1 7 e 2 Dol AL o 180 530 ok 1
WORIE E i 365 H o Ik > B
102,000 % 5T ( — & —PU4E © E) fiy

R BRAE RR AR A fEAG -
Trade receivables that are not impaired (c) AUk AE B WU 3K
The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually S A AR i s ] B A 2 U (L ) TR A
nor collectively considered to be impaired are as follows: R I RS BT R
2015 2014
R T R
HK$°000 HKS$’000
T#T Tt
Neither past due nor impaired I 161 ) 7 A A 47,107 16,749
Past due but not impaired T4 HAA R A
Less than 1 month past due i 108 A 75 22
1 to 3 months past due w1 & 3 A 177 24
3 months to 1 year past due w3 A = 14 25 265
Over 1 year past due T A 1 AT 367 276
47,751 17,336

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a range

of customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of
independent customers that have a good track record with the Group.
Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment
allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not
been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral

over these balances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% & —~HF=H =1+ —H L

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS/BANK 19. BEKRE%EEY FIHHE
DEPOSITS WITH MATURITY GREATER =48 B SR AT 3K
THAN THREE MONTHS
2015 2014
SRR TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
T AR
Cash at bank and on hand HAT ST BB 98,833 63,219
Bank deposits HRATAFIK 10,168 60,080
Cash and bank balances B4 MERAT & B 109,001 123,299
Less: Bank deposits with maturity greater than W E H 20 = AR H B ERIT A
three months (10,088) -
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated G PSR DL 2 1 B 8 %
statement of financial position He&EEY 98,913 123,299
Less: Bank overdrafts (note 21) W ERATIE S (i sk 21) (1,343) -
Cash and cash equivalents in the A B EIRERDY
consolidated statement of cash flows W4 R 4218 Y 97,570 123,299
The interest rates on the cash at bank and deposits with banks ranged from SRAT Bl AT A I AR ZEA T-0 %2.0.9
0% to 0.9% (2014: 0% to 1.1%) per annum. JE(ZE—PU4E - 0JE A 1.1 J8) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20. A R sk B L At JE £+F % JH
2015 2014
e S K3 e S e
HK$°000 HKS$’000
Tt THTT
Trade payables JREAT B K 5,965 3,985
Salary and welfare payables JREAR 357 42 B A R 4,605 4,299
Accrued advertising expenses JRE TR 5 B S 4,548 3,697
Other payables and accruals oAb EAST R R |22 3,852 1,830
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost FEHEBY AR TR B B 18,970 13,811

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled or recognised

as income within one year or are repayble on demand.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented based on

invoice dates as at the end of the reporting period:

TELU T A T AR R A 2 A A S5 TR I —
A TR 5 R R WA R SR B o

IR > AR FR B B
EFRMRE AT AT

2015 2014

RN R —E

HK$°000 HK$°000

TH#IT THEIT

0-30 days 0F30H 3,577 1,234
31-60 days 31260 H 653 1,091
61-90 days 61290 H 595 649
91-180 days 91 & 180 H 1,091 488
181-365 days 181 £ 365H - 242
Over 365 days B 365 H 49 281
5,965 3,985

RM Group Holdings Limited £l 5 4 4 3] % 5t A BR 2




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% & —~HF=H =1+ —H L

21. BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFTS 21.

The analysis of the carrying amount of bank loans and overdrafts is as

follows:

AT Bk BT S
SRATEE R BB S ART LAY 4 40T F

2015 2014
ZR AR TR
HK$’000 HKS$’000
T#c THTT
Carrying amount of bank loans and overdrafts P35 i 52 R 32 3 id 3 1
that contain a repayment on demand clause: AT R IE IR -
Repayable within one year TR —AF R 1,918 559
Repayable after one year TN — AR
(shown under current liabilities) GIERE &) 1,813 2,388
3,731 2,947

At 31 March 2015, the bank loans and overdrafts were analysed as follows:

HEE-HEZA =+ —H IR
AT

2015 2014

e TE UL

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHL THT

Secured bank overdrafts (note 19) AR SRATE X (B5E19) 1,343 -
Secured bank loans AR ERAT B 3K 2,388 2,947
3,731 2,947
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % —F — fAE=H =1 — H (L4

21. BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFTS

(CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2015, total interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts of
approximately HK$3,731,000 (2014: HK$2,947,000) were due for

repayment as follows:

21. BT HRRROE S ()

ﬁ\—? ﬁﬁi )EJ + E] 2 H‘I‘/%\@Eﬁ?%
I S MR £ 3,731,000 90 (- — Y
4F 12,947,000 % 50) BRI ¢

2015 2014
e o K TR
HK$’000 HKS$’000
F#T Tt
Portion of term loans and overdrafts due for JH—AF AR 1 A B

repayment within one year & a Y 1,918 559

Term loans due for repayment after one year (note): ZE it —4F-48 {8 12 09 A7 1Bk (Mt 3E) -
After 1 year but within 2 years —AEARAE W A A 591 575
After 2 years but within 5 years W AEB A TLAE N 1,120 1,410
Over 5 years HAELL | 102 403
1,813 2,388
3,731 2,947

Note: The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates as stipulated in the

respective loan agreements.

All of the banking facilities are subject to the fulfillment of covenants. If the
Group were in breach of the covenants, the drawn down facilities would
become repayable on demand. In addition, all of the Group’s bank loan
agreements contain clauses which give the lender the right at its sole
discretion to demand immediate repayment at any time irrespective of
whether the Group has complied with the covenants and met the scheduled

repayment obligations.

The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants, is up to
date with the scheduled repayments of the term loans and does not consider
it probable that the bank will exercise its discretion to demand repayment so
long as the Group continues to meet these requirements. Further details of
the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in note 4(b)(ii). As at
31 March 2015, none of the covenants relating to drawn down facilities had
been breached (2014: Nil).

All of the secured bank loans and overdrafts, including amounts repayable

on demand, are carried at amortised cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

21. BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFTS 21. SRATERNIE X (4)

(CONTINUED)

None of the portion of bank loans due for repayment after one year which
contain a repayment on demand clause and that is classified as a current

liability is expected to be settled within one year.

The range of effective interest rates (which are also equal to contracted
interest rates) on the Group’s variable-rate borrowings is carrying at interests
at 2.5% per annum below the Hong Kong Dollar Prime Rate or at the Hong
Kong Dollar Prime Rate of Chong Hing Bank during year ended 31 March
2015 and 2014.

As at 31 March 2015, the secured bank loans and overdrafts of the Group
are secured by the leasehold land and buildings with carrying amount of
HK$5,939,000 (2014: HK$6,123,000) (note 15). Such banking facilities
amounting to HK$25,515,000 (2014: HK$9,515,000) were utilised to the
extent of HK$3,731,000 (2014: HK$2,947,000). The pledged assets will be

released upon the settlement of the relevant bank borrowings.
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A — AR B 2 B SRAT SO A 1
BORBURMK > a5 SR B B A
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M SRR HHRTE (R —F— T4
= A =+—H /5,939,000 T ( ~F—
4F 16,123,000 70) (FEE15) o A RISRATRE
B E—RAEZH=+—H 25,515,000
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #( % % —HHFE=H =+—H ILFE

92. PROVISIONS 22. Wl
Goods return
from customers
%R
HKS$’000
THTT
At 1 April 2013 AT — =AM A—H 1,038
Additional provisions made N 1,369
Provisions utilised [mE kT (1,073)
At 31 March 2014 and 1 April 2014 RoEFE—WE=H=+—H K _F—NFEINH—H 1,334
Additional provisions made LBl IE R 2 1,686
Provisions utilised L4 (1,508)
At 31 March 2015 W oE—HFEZH=+—H 1,512
The Group cannot reliably estimate the amounts that may eventually be A S5 T A B T B A 5 0 M A S A 10 [ 4
settled after more than 12 months from the end of the reporting period. HHREF T A AT SR - B
Thus, the whole amount was classified as current. RS B BT -
Note: The provision for goods return from customers represents the present value of the Bt - % F R B 1 B AR MR B EUR
directors’ best estimate of future outflow of economic benefits that will be required o AR AR AR R 4 9L 2 1 e A A B (B
under the Group’s obligations under the goods return policy. The estimate has been IR RIS TTAT o A B FE T I AR R
made on the basis of historical trends on goods return. BTk S BLE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

23. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

(a)

(b)

(0

23. EFEBIH AR

The deferred tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated statement (a) AR BAEIR IR TR Y IR A B TE £
of financial position and the movements during the year are as & SN NS B R -
follows:
Accelerated tax depreciation o 728 5t T A
2015 2014
e S K TR AR
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#L T
At beginning of the year HH) 366 71
Charged to profit or loss B 48 25 0B - 295
At end of the year ER 366 366
Deferred tax assets in respect of the unused tax losses carried forward (b) 5 [ & ok B B s 48 11 08 SE B TH
are to be recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable RS FAR A L ) RERRUB Vi A A
profits will be available against which the unused tax losses can be UGB A ) B TS Tl 4R IR AT
utilised.
The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of the tax BWE_F-AFE=H=1T—H K&
losses of HK$18,447,000 (2014: HK$9,797,000) for the year ended 4] ¥ & 5K 18,447,000 % o0 (& — 4
31 March 2015 due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. 19,797,000 #5 7T ) 1Y B e 48 #E 3R
The unrecognised tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely. RAE B A > TR A 3 T o Al
Tt PR o R RS BLTS A vl B A
K o
Deferred tax liabilities not recognised (c) AT Ky 4R LBl TH £ 5

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC

subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards.

At 31 March 2015, temporary differences relating to the undistributed
profits of subsidiary amounted to HK$3,556,000 (2014: HK$Nil).
Deferred tax liabilities of HK$356,000 (2014: HK$Nil) have not been
recognised in respect of the tax that would be payable on the
distribution of these retained profits as the Company controls the
dividend policy of the subsidiary and it has been determined that it is
probable that these profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable
future.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24, A
Number of Number of
ordinary ordinary Nominal
shares of shares of value
HK$0.10 HK$0.01 ordinary
per share per share shares
Jie iy B H Jie iy B H
B AE B B M
0.1%70 00150  HEBmE
Notes HK$
R &E T
Authorised: P
At 1 April 2013 WE—=FUH—H (a) 3,800,000 - 380,000.00
Share subdivision et 4R A (b) (3,800,000) 38,000,000 -
Increase in authorised share capital 8 A B ©) - 962,000,000  9,620,000.00
At 31 March 2014, A oE—UEZHA=+—H
1 April 2014 and ZER—UENH —H K&
31 March 2015 —E—HAEZH=+—H - 1,000,000,000 10,000,000.00
Issued and fully paid: BT RBE -
At 1 April 2013 A AR A —H (a) 1 - -
Share subdivision A v 4 (b) (1 10 -
Issue of ordinary shares pursuant to R4 o AR BE AT A0 A
the Reorganisation (d) - 999,990 9,999.90
Credit the 10 shares in issue as R 5 o 20 1 34 m 1
fully paid pursuant to the 10 B 2 5547 B e A
Reorganisation (d) - - 0.10
Capitalisation issue EARL LT (e) — 384,400,000  3,844,000.00
Issuance of new shares by way of PR A HE 1T I
placing () - 129,600,000  1,296,000.00
At 31 March 2014 and MoE—UEZA =+ —H
1 April 2014 K= FZ—FEMH—H — 515,000,000  5,150,000.00
Shares issued under share option HR B i e R ) A T 1t
scheme (2) - 500,000 5,000.00
At 31 March 2015 W oE—HEZH=+—H - 515,500,000 5,155,000.00

The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared

from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the

Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s

residual assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

24. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Notes:

()

(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

(e

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 5 December 2011. As at
the date of incorporation, the Company has an authorised share capital of
HK$380,000 divided into 3,800,000 shares of HK$0.10 each, one share of which
was allotted and issued nil paid to the subscriber to the Company. On 5 December
2011, the one share held by the subscriber was transferred to Able Island Group
Limited (“Able Island”), the ultimate holding company of the Company.

Pursuant to the sole shareholder resolutions of the Company dated 16 September
2013, the share capital of the Company was subdivided in such manner that every
existing share of HK$0.1 was subdivided into ten shares of HK$0.01 each so that the
authorised share capital of the Company is HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000
shares of HK$0.01 each.

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the sole shareholder passed on 24 September
2013, the authorised share capital of the Company was increased from HK$380,000
divided into 38,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each to HK$10,000,000 divided into
1,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each by the creation of a further 962,000,000
shares of HK$0.01 each. All shares ranking pari passu with the existing shares in all
respects.

Pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement dated 23 September 2013 entered into
between the Company as purchaser and Able Island as vendor, the Company
acquired from Able Island 11 shares of Noble State Holdings Limited (“Noble
State”), representing the entire issued share capital of Noble State, at a consideration
of HK$38,551,000 on 23 September 2013, which was fully satisfied by (i) the
Company allotting and issuing 999,990 shares credited as fully paid up to Able
Island; and (ii) the Company crediting as fully paid at par the ten nil paid shares held
by Able Island.

Pursuant to the written resolution of the sole shareholder passed on 24 September
2013, conditional on the share premium account of the Company being credited as a
result of the Placing as defined in the Prospectus dated 30 September 2013, upon the
recommendation of the Directors, the sum of HK$3,844,000, being part of the
amount which would then be standing to the credit of the share premium account of
the Company be capitalised and applied in paying up in full 384,400,000 shares to
be allotted credited as fully paid at par to Able Island.

On 11 October 2013, the Company issued 129,600,000 shares of HK$0.01 each at a
price of HK$1.07 per share by way of placing to selected institutional, professional
and other investors. Net proceeds from such issues amounted to HK$128,076,000
(after offsetting expenses directly attributable to the issue of shares of
HK$10,596,000), out of which HK$1,296,000 and HK$126,780,000 were recorded
in share capital and share premium respectively.

On 11 March 2015, share options were exercised to subscribe for 500,000 ordinary
shares in the Company at a consideration of HK$820,000, of which HK$5,000 was
credited to share capital and the balance of HK$815,000 was credited to the share
premium account. HK$139,000 has been transferred from the share option reserve to
the share premium account in accordance with policy set out in note 2(n)(ii).
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25. SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports which
provides information about components of the Group. Information reported
to the Board, being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM?”), for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance

focuses on brands of goods delivered.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments under HKFRS
8 are as follows:

—  Proprietary brands comprise the development, manufacturing and

sales of self-developed health supplements

—  Proprietary brands comprise the development, manufacturing and

sales of self-developed beauty supplements and products

—  Private label brands comprise the development, manufacturing and

sales of health supplements

—  Private label brands comprise the development, manufacturing and

sales of beauty supplements and products

—  Trading of goods comprise the trading and sales of health

supplements

—  Trading of goods comprise the trading and sales of beauty

supplements and products

Other items mainly relate to the provision of Chinese medical consultation
services. These activities are excluded from the reportable operating
segments as these activities are insignificant and not specifically reported to
the Board.

RM Group Holdings Limited £l 5 4 4 3] % 5t A BR 2

25. 4 Eh Rk,

KA oy R T $ 4R 3 A S B AL O EORHY
MR # o ZEERBERTESRS
AR R PR ([ LB IRE D U
HEAT 3 FC IR B4t 2 28 A5 B i 1 it WA
GrERRBL

FLHIT 5 > AN B AR 7 v U 5 i o )
SF5 8 SR Y T W R AL Sy BN

— WA - R LEE AT R R
TEE ity P LA i it

— AR W RHE AT RS
it B i B S

—  ELAEBEEE - R RO R S
Z

e

— B - UG B A
fil 9 1 5% it it

— LR R R A S A T

it
=
K
T
M
o
=
30
e
R
20
&
=

Aan =

FoAIE H 2 SR 3t o R 2 A RS A
2% S5 I B 7 A F R LI e L B ) S g i
o WE A T R WRECE T PSR o




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 2% R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

25. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

(a)

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to
the Board for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance for the years ended 31 March 2014 and 2015 is

set out below:

25. s #b R (48)
(a) JrHREAL - HiEKEAR
R B R R TR A
S BB R A B
R BLIHR BT #0619 A e 0 7T 24
SRR ERRTIIT

For the year ended 31 March 2015
BEZZ-HEZA=T—HILEE

Proprietary brands Private label brands Trading of goods
WA A HA M Mg EH
Beauty Beauty Beauty
Health supplements Health supplements Health supplements Other
supplements  and products supplements  and products supplements  and products items Total
FAHl FAHh A i
TR e PR e fi R R f A At
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000
T#x T Ti#n TH#x Ti#n Ti#n T Ti#n
Revenue from external RHEIBEF
customers g 150,046 28,173 42,782 2,705 1,672 133 2,166 21,671
Cost of sales HERA (32,692) 9,754 (6,621) (708) (428) (37 (545) (50,805)
Gross profit A 117,354 18419 36,161 1,997 1244 76 1,621 176,872
Selling and distribution HE IR
expenses (41,157) (7,088) (5,896) (448) (203) “@ - (54,798)
Administrative expenses TTBAX (7,132) (291) (13,325) (581) (728) - - (22,057)
Segment results RS 69,065 11,040 16,940 968 3 n 1,621 100,017
Other revenue and Hetlliess B
other net income Jobl A5 71
Unallocated head office and /M BL483H B/ /1AL
corporate expenses (60,528)
Finance costs REHA (301)
Profit before taxation B 39915
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

25. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 25. 4y #bHRk A, (4E)
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) (a) JribEEsk -

HRE kA ()

For the year ended 31 March 2014
BEZE-ES S = - HILER

Proprietary brands Private label brands
HA b A%
Beauty Beauty
Health supplements Health supplements Other
supplements  and products supplements  and products items Total
KA Hidh FAHidh
RIEE R R i RIEER R i KitEA At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

T T T Tt Tt Tt

Revenue from external customers KA SNBE P 104,201 28277 27,505 8755 856 169,684
Cost of sales HENA (22511) (9.951) (4,158) 2.732) (340) (39,692)
Gross profit A 81,780 18,326 23347 6,023 516 129992
Selling and distribution expenses BB RIS (34,389) (8,350) (3,514) (2,051) - (48,304)
Administrative expenses TR (6,404) (388) (8,079) (818) - (15,689)
Segment results ix: E 3t 40,987 9,588 11,754 3,154 516 65,999
Other revenue and other net income HMbs BRI R E 2710
Unallocated head office and KB R FI B

corporate expenses (68,158)
Finance costs B A (104)
Profit before taxation

W 8 i A 447

ST A 0 S22 B KA 7 B ) 2 i 1R

For the purpose of assessing segment performance and allocating

resources between segments, the CODM monitors the results
attributable to each reportable segment with reference to sales
generated by those segments and the expenses incurred by those
segments. Segment results are evaluated based on reportable segment
profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted operating profit/loss before
tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with
the Group’s profit/loss before tax except that head office, corporate
income and expenses and finance costs are excluded from such
measurement. No segment assets and liabilities information is
presented as, in the opinion of the directors, such information is not
key indicator provided to the Group’s CODM.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

25. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

There are no significant inter-segment transfers or transactions.

Other segment information (included in the measure of segment
profit or loss or regularly provided to the CODM)

25. s #b R (48)
(a) JrHREAL - HE KA ()
45 I A A S 5 55 o

Ho Al 7 78 B AL (PN 5 #5173 it 2 2
R ) T HAEE IR 1)

Amortisation and Depreciation

(b)

filk g M A
2015 2014
—F L e SIS
HK$°000 HKS$’000
T#t BRI
Proprietary brands: LA
Health supplements A 7 453 344
Beauty supplements and products oA i B 64 78
Private label brands: EEILE
Health supplements PRALEE 5 96 76
Beauty supplements and products S i B 6 24
Trading of goods: (GRS
Health supplements PR Ag7E il 3 -
Beauty supplements and products FEAEAH i S 1 -
Unallocated R 1,677 1,262
Total LAt 2,300 1,784

Geographical information

The geographical location of customers is based on the location at

which the goods are delivered and services provided. In presenting

information on the basis of geographical, segments revenue is based

on the geographical location of customers. Segment assets and capital

expenditure are based on the geographical location of the assets or the

location of the operation to which the assets are allocated.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #( % % —HHFE=H =+—H ILFE

25. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 25. 4y #bHRk A, (4E)
(b) Geographical information (Continued) (b) Mol &R (4H)

Revenue from external customers K EINE % P B
2015 2014
SE T TR
HK$’000 HK$°000
Tt AR
Hong Kong Tk 218,548 167,631
The PRC Fp 7,735 -
Taiwan =R 1,394 2,053
227,677 169,684

Non-current assets JEm B & A

2015 2014
SE T ZE— YA
HK$’000 HKS$’000
T THsIT
Hong Kong T 20,782 17,659
The PRC i 167 -
Taiwan B 112 120
21,061 17,779
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

25. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 25. 4y EbHRk A (%)
(¢) Information about major customer (0 FEEFHER
Revenues from external customer contributing 10% or more of the T A S [ 445 S5 AR 10% S DL AR A
total revenue of the Group is as follows: HhER%E B U A A A Al
2015 2014
C S KA S T4
HK$°000 HK$°000
T#x T
Customer A (note (i) 5 H (5 G) 153,638 113,336
Note: P 3E
(i) The sales were derived from the following segments: (i) FEASHEHILL T £
— Proprietary brands comprise the development, manufacturing and — ALIE B A~ B A B R e
sales of self-developed health supplements; i B R
— Proprietary brands comprise the development, manufacturing and — EEBREE - R R LA
sales of self-developed beauty supplements and products; il RS RSO R
— Private label brands comprise the development, manufacturing and — GBS - R TR B (R
sales of health supplements; and A SR &
— Private label brands comprise the development, manufacturing and — ALFE B EE - B B LA
sales of beauty supplements and products. i S E I B SRR o
26. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 206. #85HE R
As lessee UV S YN
At 31 March 2015 and 2014, the Group had outstanding commitments under W EF TR FE—EZHA=1—H
non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows: AL FA AR TR S A N AR AT

30 [ JeE i 2 R A AL 7R

2015 2014

RN R

HK$°000 HKS$’000

Tt THTT

Within one year —4E R 3,649 411

In the second to fifth year, inclusive WA E RN - A5 B 4E 5,580 57

9,229 468

The Group leases warehouses, office premises, shop premises and staff AL B BIEAR TGRS A ZHHEZ

quarters under non-cancellable operating lease arrangements with lease B AT WA T S —

terms of one to three years, with an option to renew the lease when all terms F AR TR KR T T AR AT R O
are renegotiated. None of the lease includes contingent rentals. % - WAL L E RS -
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

27. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 27. WA E 2 W)

(a)  On 10 September 2013, the Group disposed of the entire issued share (@ MNZFE—=MFIUATH - AREE A
O3 T AT O R R R L E
Whedk > DURVE 1 500 45 L B A
) Xaxon Cosmeceutical Inc ([ Xaxon])
1) 2= 0 RE %45 M B Xaxon 7T 57 B h
oo EIAR B> AL DU 1 T
L A A ] o 2 ) ) B v A R
HRAF - P RAEFEARAF > HA
100F R 2 7 K Wealth International
(Holdings) Limited 38 /] F b} & 2> 7 (4
## [ Wealth International Group]) 1) 4%

capital in Xaxon Cosmeceutical Inc. (“Xaxon”) to Mr. Chan Yan Tak,
director of the Company, at a cash consideration of HK$1. On the
same day, the Group disposed of the entire issued share capital in
Royal Medic Management Limited, Sky China Enterprises Limited,
Men 100 Limited and Wealth International (Holdings) Limited and
its subsidiaries (altogether “Wealth International Group”) to Xaxon at

a cash consideration of HK$1 each.

TSR o
The net liabilities of these subsidiaries at the date of disposal were as A B H R S R A ) B
follows: mr
HK$°000
T T
Consideration received: TR -
Cash received Sl e -
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost: 232 ¥ i # Y ¥ 738 J2 B 540 # -
Cash and cash equivalents B B S 2)
Other payables oA B A R IE 2,109
2,107
Result on disposal of subsidiaries: A O A A 5 OR
Consideration received CAE -
Net liabilities derecognised CLAC I R I B R 2,107
Gain on disposal (note 7) BN (FEE7) 2,107
Net cash flow arising on disposal: Hh B i A T B4 Ui e Y
Cash consideration received O A -
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of ST A 0 B 4 e B 4 S (B ) 2)
(2)
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

27. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)  27. Hi&E A ¥ (4)

(b)  On 11 September 2013, the Group disposed of the entire issued share by NZEFE—=AFJLA T —H AR
capital in Wise Medic Company Limited (“Wise Medic”) to Xaxon at Xaxon ] 37 B B Wik - LAAE 10
a cash consideration of HK$1. B GEE A RL ([ HsTEEEZE )

AR AR o

The net liabilities of Wise Medic at the date of disposal were as A E R R g 00 B EEE W
follows: T
HK$°000
T
Consideration received: R -
Cash received Sl e _

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost: 22 5 il HE i % &= M B & 047

Other payables HC A JRE A R T 11
11
Result on disposal of subsidiaries: Hh B B A W A A5 O -
Consideration received Clic A -
Net liabilities derecognised O IR HERR 1Y A R 11
Gain on disposal (note 7) HEME (F5E7) 11
Net cash flow arising on disposal: B BT 2R I B A A
Cash consideration received [EAETE YA ] -
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of Tt A 0 B 4 I B 4 S (E ) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 28. BENLZZS
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these Iog% 7 B 755 ik 2 JEL A 3 40 48 25 1) 38 o I % ik
financial statements, the Group had the following transactions with its Ah > AHE BB RIS S IR

related parties during the year:

(a) Related party transactions included in the consolidated (a) FIAGFEE MR EA
statement of financial position +%2 5

2015 2014

SR N e SIS

HK$’000 HK$°000

T#IT THTT

Amount due to ultimate holding company, A} 44/ 22 7] Able Island ¥

Able Island #KIH
— Repaid to — R - 26,500
Outstanding balance s - -

Amount due to a director, Chan Yan Tak HEAT— 44 2 = BRSSO

— Repaid to — IR - 29
Outstanding balance A - _
(b) Key management personnel remuneration (b) FEEBABFHM

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including AR AR [ A TN B AL 4 B R 9

amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in note 9, 4 5 AT A 2w g i) O K BT

highest paid employees as disclosed in note 10 and other senior 10 T 48 i £ A5 A% 4 1 e v 3 i B &
management of the Group are as follows: oA i B B 1 R BN

2015 2014

e S IS ZE A

HK$’000 HK$’000

T#L THIT

Short-term employee benefits KR B A 11,108 8,209

Post-employment benefits BT A5 4 A 152 113

Equity-settled share-based payments DA RORE &5 53 A 43 S AN 2 B 52 = 7,228

11,260 15,550

Total remuneration is included in “Staff costs™ (see note 8(a)). HFNC AFEAE [ B TR | A (R

it 8(a)) °
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29. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 29. DL RE &5 5 DL By S A 2 BH 32

PAYMENTS

Pursuant to a written resolution of the Company passed on 24 September
2013, the Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme, which
has been taken effect on 11 October 2013 (the “Share Option Scheme”).

A summary of the Share Option Scheme of the Company is as follows:

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to motivate the eligible
participants to optimize their performance and efficiency for the benefit of
the Group and attract and retain ongoing business relationship with the
eligible participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the

Group.

Eligible Participants
Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include:

(a)  any director, employee or officer of any company in the Group
(whether full time or part time) (“Employee”), consultant,
professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or
contractor to the Group or a company in which the Group holds an

interest or a subsidiary of such company (“Affiliate”); or

(b) the trustee of any trust the beneficiary of which or any discretionary
trust the discretionary objects of which include any director,
Employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner

or adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate; or

(c)  acompany beneficially owned by any director, Employee, consultant,
professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner, adviser of or

contractor to the Group or an Affiliate.

Total number of ordinary shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme and the percentage of the issued
share capital that it represents as at 31 March 2015

51,500,000 ordinary shares, being 10% of shares in issue on 4 August 2014
(i.e. the date of approving the refreshment of the share option scheme

mandate limit).
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

29. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share
Option Scheme

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share Option
Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue of the Company in any

12-month period.

Any grant of further share options above this limit shall be subject to the

approval of the Company’s shareholders at general meeting.

Period within which the Shares must be taken up under a
Share Option
A period to be determined by the Board and notified to the grantee, which

shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant of such share option.

Minimum period for which a Share Option must be held
before it can be exercised

Unless otherwise determined by the Board and notified to the grantee, there
is no minimum period for which a share option must be held before it can be

exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance
HK$1.00 for each lot of share options granted.

Period within which payments/calls/loans must be made/
repaid
Not applicable.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price for any share under the Share Option Scheme shall be
determined by the Board and notified to the grantee and shall not be less
than the highest of:

(a)  the closing price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the share option, which must

be a trading day;
(b)  the average closing price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet for the five business days immediately

preceding the date of grant of the share option; and

(c)  the nominal value of a share on the date of grant of the share option.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% & —~HF=H =1+ —H L

29. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 29. D) B HE &5 5 DA By 2 2 B 32

PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

The remaining life of the scheme

The Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective until 23 September
2023, after which no further share options will be granted but the provisions
of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in all other
respects. Options complying with the provisions of the GEM Listing Rules
which are granted during the duration of the scheme and remain unexercised
immediately prior to 23 September 2023 shall continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of grant within the option period for which such

share options are granted, notwithstanding the expiry of the scheme.

As at 31 March 2015, 30,500,000 share options were outstanding under the
Share Option Scheme. Movements of the share options, which were granted
under the Share Option Scheme, during the year ended 31 March 2015 are
listed below in accordance with chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules:

For the year ended 31 March 2015

(NE

w4 R R A 2800
MRS EE —F =4 NWA T+ =H
AR AR > HAR A i — 20 15 AT AT
JBCHE > e 0 s HEE T A S A i A Ay T
HATI IR B AT+ RO B AR o B 8 J
T > AELJR S A S0 ] T 432 e i i B e
RZEAENA Z AR RATHE B4R 6
A SRR R R K B e SRE O AT A %
S5 I IS HEE R 2 1) S SO EE 00 TH] VA9 AR 3 A2 1y
A KA AR A T8

AE-AFEZA S H s RSB
TH T A 30,500,000 14 i B HE 1 AAT A o AR$E
AlZEMR BT AN 23 % > e F T4
ZHZF—HIRAER  BERCREREBIE T B
52 L B PR RRE 1 S B

BEZFHFE=H=A— HIEFEE

Outstanding and Outstanding and
exercisable as at Granted Lapsed  Exercised exercisable as at
1 April on7July on3August on1lMarch 31 March
Category 2014 2014 2015 2015 Note
e 13 IS B ORE-HAE
MH—H ZE-NE ZF-HE ZAZ+—H
AR REF—IY4E ANAZH ZA+—H AT K
B wifE LHLHREH ¥ iy AT i
Directors HE
Mr. Chan Yan Tak Wi B 5 A 500,000 - - 500,000 (1
Mr. Wong Mau Tai FIRR L 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 (1
Mr. Foo Chi Ming it 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 (1)
Professor Ng Ka Ming RELUR 500,000 - - 500,000 0}
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul B 500,000 - - 500,000 (1
Mr. Wei Jianan by il pite 500,000 - - 500,000 (1)
Subtotal INET 12,000,000 - - 12,000,000
Continuous Contracts BEAR
Employee = 14,500,000 (500,000)  (500,000) 13,500,000 (1),
()4
Consultant il 7 - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 ()
Total o5 26,500,000 5,000,000 (500,000)  (500,000) 30,500,000
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29. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 29. D JBeHE &5 5 DA B4y 32 4F 2 BH 32
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) (%)
For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HE T IE=H =1 —HILEE
Outstanding QOutstanding
and and
exercisable Lapsed exercisable
as at Granted on on as at
11 October 22 November 31 January 31 March
Category 2013 2013 2014  Exercised 2014 Note
QI St S e S S g ki3
+A+—H +—=R ZZ-NE ZA=+—H
RATHE R Zt+ZH —A=t—H RATHE R
L] CEyd Rl Ve il Efd i
Directors H
Mr. Chan Yan Tak B RS A - 500,000 - - 500,000 o)
Mr. Wong Mau Tai Y & - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 (1
Mr. Foo Chi Ming 7RV - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 )
Professor Ng Ka Ming REAYIR - 500,000 - - 500,000 (1)
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul B - 500,000 - - 500,000 (1
Mr. Wei Jianan MH Rt - 500,000 - - 500,000 (1)
Subtotal NG - 12,000,000 - - 12,000,000
Continuous Contracts BEAH
Employee & - 14,500,000 - - 14,500,000 1)
Consultants i) - 10,000,000 (10,000,000) - - 2)
Total o - 36,500,000 (10,000,000) - 26,500,000
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% & —~HF=H =1+ —H L

29, EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

The share options are exercisable at any time during the period from 22 November
2013 until 21 November 2016 (both days inclusive). The exercise price of the share
option is HK$1.64. The closing price of the shares immediately before the date on
which the share options were granted was HK$1.68.

300,000 share options shall be exercisable at any time during the period from 22
November 2013 until 21 November 2016 (both days inclusive); 4,850,000 share
options shall be exercisable at any time during the period from 21 May 2014 until 21
November 2016 (both days inclusive); and the remaining 4,850,000 of the share
options shall be exercisable at any time during the period from 21 November 2014
until 21 November 2016 (both days inclusive). The exercise price of the share option
is HK$1.64. The closing price of the shares immediately before the date on which
the share options were granted was HK$1.68. 10,000,000 share options were lapsed
in January 2014 following the termination of consultancy agreements.

500,000 share options granted to a continuous contract employee were lapsed on 3
August 2014 following the termination of employment contract.

500,000 share options granted to a continuous contract employee were exercised on
11 March 2015. The weighted average share price at the date of exercise was
HK$2.00.

5,000,000 share options were granted to a consultant on 7 July 2014 and are
exercisable at any time during the period from 7 July 2014 until 6 July 2015 (both
days inclusive). The exercise price of the share options and the closing price of the
shares of the Company immediately before the date on which these share options
were granted was HK$1.77 and HK$1.74 respectively.

The exercise price of the Share Options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights
or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

29. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as

follows:

29,

%ﬂ;’)ﬂﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬂ%ﬁiﬁi%i
A

S A M BT AT AT

2015 2014
ZER A e S ll1Fe S
Weighted Number of Weighted Number of
average share average share
exercise price options  exercise price options
JHE -1 Ji T e ImHET-5 Wit TR HE
Fr AR LqE] T fdfE HH
HKS per share HKS per share
(=3 el v i T
Outstanding at the beginning of the year AERARATE 1.64 26,500,000 - -
Granted during the year ERIZEH 1.77 5,000,000 1.64 36,500,000
Exercised during the year ERATE 1.64 (500,000) - -
Lapsed during the year R 1.64 (500,000) 1.64  (10,000,000)
Outstanding at the end of the year R KATH 1.66 30,500,000 1.64 26,500,000
Exercisable at the end of the year ER A ATH 1.66 30,500,000 1.64 26,500,000

The options outstanding at 31 March 2015 had an exercise price of HK$1.64
or HK$1.77 (2014: HK$1.64) and a weighted average remaining contractual
life of 1.4 years (2014: 2.7 years).

For the options granted to a consultant regarding the direct promotion
services during the year ended 31 March 2015, the Company has measured
the fair value of services received as consideration for equity instruments of
the Company indirectly by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments granted because, in the opinion of the Company’s directors, the
fair value of the services received cannot be reliably measured. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, as the promotion services do not
have a contract price or market price for identical services in the market and
the consultant did not provide similar kind of direct promotion services in
the past, variability in the range of reasonable fair value measurements of
the services is significant and the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed. The fair value of the
services received cannot be reliably measured and thus its fair value is

measured by reference to the fair value of share options granted.

RM Group Holdings Limited £l 5 4 4 3] % 5t A BR 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% & —~HF=H =1+ —H L

29. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 29. DB HE &5 5 DA By 2 4 Z B 32
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) (#8)
The fair values of the share options granted during the years ended 31 March BE - FZT—HEE - F—NE=ZH=+—

2015 and 2014 were calculated by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited using the
Trinominal Option Pricing Model which is one of the commonly used
models for such purpose. The value of an option varies with different
variables of certain subjective assumptions. Any changes in the variables so

adopted may materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an option.

F Lk 47 B 457t PR 1 B9 o 95 6 T
i A PR 2> mBE G R A1 L rp — i e A A A
Zﬂ# WM HEE (RO o M AR (T (e g

FA T EBUR B A ] ST i o TR
H%%%&E’\Jﬁﬁﬂinﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ PEZ Jidigid

The inputs into the model were as follows: DS TAEMAG L o SRR s A B an T -
“ER-NE ZR-E8
7 July 22 November tH T—H
Grant date 2014 2013 AR tH Z+ZH
Share price (HK$) 1.77 1.64 JieAE (e 1.77 1.64
Exercise price (HK$) 177 1.64 FrffE (s c) 1.77 1.64
Expected life of share option (years) 1 3 TEAA I I AR (4F) 1 3
Expected volatility 33.20% 32.32% TR 33.20% 32.32%
Dividend yield 2.41% 4.74% kB2 241% 4.74%
Risk-free interest rate 0.15% 0.45% BB 0.15% 0.45%
Fair value per share option (HK$) 02150 02779 G W IRCHE 1Y 2B (W 75) 02150 02779

Expected volatility was derived by reference to the volatilities of companies

operating in the same industry as the Company as sourced from Bloomberg.

At 31 March 2015, 30,500,000 share options (2014: 26,500,000 share
options) were fully vested and exercisable. The Group recognised a total
expense of approximately HK$1,075,000 (2014: HK$7,364,000) for the
year ended 31 March 2015 in relation to the share options granted by the
Company during the year.

Share options were granted under a service condition. This condition has not
been taken into account in the grant date fair value measurement of the

services received. There were no market conditions associated with the

TET I W S 58 22 25 BLAR N R TE ] — 47 A
B ARPER Y > ARERIRAZE -

AR —HAFEZH = +—H > 30,500,000 %
W RERE (= —PU4E © 26,500,000 175 1 1 )
CL5 g ol TAT - B —F—HE=A
=+t — B IR - AL E MR B b AL
AR AR R B 00 B R RE ) B S AR A
1,075,000 JG ( = & — PU 4F : 7,364,000 #
Jo) ©

I R 42 MR S W KA Ly o O
S 2 T (B IR A0 52T R A i R i3
A MRS o W% A% H B PSR B v 35 R L

Share Options granted. S 4 [ M

30. ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY AND 30. d5 #& PR o W] B P52 e e R
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
The ultimate holding company of the companies comprising the Group is A K B 45 0 ) 1Y o SR IRE N ) T A T TR

Able Island, a company incorporated in the BVI. The controlling
shareholders of the Group are Mr. Chan Yan Tak and Able Island. The
ultimate holding company does not produce financial statements for public
use.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

31. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 31. TN 7
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at the end of reporting period are as AR BB N3 AT 2R
follows: wmr
Place of Particulars of Percentage of
incorporation/ issued and equity
registration and  Class of paid-up attributable to
operation shares held capital the Company
Name RN sl CE#IT K AAFIHEQS  Principal activities
g B vl BRI IRA MRESL FEEE
Direct Indirect
HE% M
% %
Noble State Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$11 100 — Investment holding
T R A PR ) WEELREE W 11358 BOERER
Creation Chance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 - 100 Sale of health and beauty
KA PR T i =il 17T supplements and products and

provision of general
administrative services

S DR 1 B SR 0 i i B
PR — AT RS

CULegend Company Limited ~Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 Trading of products under the
ERRTEEKARAR  Fi bigl RIS proprietary brand of “LEGEND”
SV ALNGEE 1L VAR Eop
EE il
Eastern Bright (Asia) Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 - 100 Providing management services to
R (TR A B 7 Fi bl 1T other Group companies

1 FL At B R 2 ) i O B

Health Proof International Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 - 100 License holding
Company Limited ik ] IRV FiA M
R ok I R A R
Hong Kong Ever Spring Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 Manufacturing and sale of health and
Medicine Factory Limited % ¥ fgii RIS beauty supplements and products
v I IR A R BR ) PR TR B4 DR e S 4l o B
Kiwi Lab International Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 License holding
Company Limited i L] RIS Rl

AL ST A PR A R

RM Group Holdings Limited £l 5 4 4 3] % 5t A BR 2
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

31. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 31. FERE A ()
Place of Particulars of Percentage of
incorporation/ issued and equity
registration and  Class of paid-up attributable to
operation shares held capital the Company
Name S K F A B [GR: 2593 AAVHEAS  Principal activities
ey B bl BRI IRA MESEA A BEER
Direct Indirect
Hi%E R
% %
M2C Natural Health Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 Trading of health products
ik &E RS i 0]
Medalist Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 Trademark holding
R LR B 17T A
Power Regal International Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 Property investment
Limited i L@ 17T MELE
T BB AR
Rich Sunny Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 Property investment and
EHEECE AR AT i =yl 17T investment holding
PR RACE TN
Royal Medic Chinese Hong Kong Ordinary HK$3 - 100 Provision of Chinese medical
Medicine Clinic Limited ik =il 3T consultation services and trading of
{2 s eh 5 e gE LT A B ) health products

SR A RS e f R B 5

Royal Medic (Holdings) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - 100 License holding
Limited il Wil 100 77T FEA AR
Vs (P ) A7 R

Sunny Regent (Asia) Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 Providing management services to

H B (G A BRA ik L RIS other Group companies
1) F A 42 B A 5 2 R 4R A1 SR R
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

31. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

31. FRME A ()

Place of Particulars of Percentage of
incorporation/ issued and equity
registration and  Class of paid-up attributable to
operation shares held capital the Company
Name FEA A K FA B [GR7 2593 AR Principal activities
#i BIEA vl B B mmA MRmAE M BEEE
Direct Indirect
Hi% e
% %
Super Pioneer Holdings Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 Providing management services to
Limited i ELa RIS other Group companies
RIS AT R 7] 1 F Al 4 [ AR 2 m R A B S
Wisdom Come Medical Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$101 - 100 Investment holding
Group Limited i =il 101 #7T Bk
BRELIARATR
Wisdom Healthcare Taiwan Registered NT10,000,000 - 100 Trading of health and
Co., Limited B8 kit 10,000,000 JG beauty supplements
BB ERHEEARAF Gk e T SR A B 2 2
Wisdom Health Products Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$2 - 100 Trading of health and beauty
Company Limited T i 27T supplements and products and
B R RE A PR investment holding
TRAEE B SR HE i B E O B2 5 B
Ba e
TH2E S R pe i (B3 The PRC Registered HK$1,000,000 - 100 Sales of health supplements and
AR E * eE B kit 1,000,000 # 7T products
A DR I
* Registered under the laws of the PRC as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise. * TR P B A G A R AN A A o
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % ~F — L FE=H =+ — [ L4

32. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS Ak 4 O i 1H v R A B 2 (&
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE a0 T Y S R R 2 T R T R
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015 2
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued HEAMBIREPEHH > FHEGsHA
the following amendments and new standards which are not yet effective for SUEMEMG U NS E - HFE=H
the year ended 31 March 2015 and which have not been adopted in these = BB AR i R AR 2 HL S A A

32. BRE_FN4E=A=+—H

financial statements.

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 14

HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRS 11

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16 and
HKAS 38

Amendments to HKAS 16 and
HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 27

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs

January 2016.

exceptions.
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Financial Instruments'
Regulatory Deferral Accounts®

Revenue from Contracts with Customers?

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests
in Joint Operations’

Disclosure Initiative’

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation®

Agriculture: Bearer Plants®

Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
Contributions*

Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements®

Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception®

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture®

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2010-2012 Cycle®

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2011-2013 Cycle*

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2012-2014 Cycle?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

Effective for first annual HKFRS financial statements beginning on or after 1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, with limited

P P RAA Z AE AT BOBT AT HER) o

BB BRI 99 SRLA

BB R ERI 1458 EEEIERA?

B SR A 15 9 BEF T af 2 A
FEMBEREGEAR R RS E R RN
) i
FiEGRHENE 0BT RS
FiEGHENS 169t 1 R Ry
FEGRHENFBRMET W
FiEaHEAE 165E R JR3 - B

G RHEN S 41 0BT

FiEGRHENE 9508 ERREMNEE R

it
FEGTHENE BT BEMTREL
i E
MBI 105 HEEYE  ERGS
T A5 1258 IN SR
R GRS 28 SR 53T
BT A 1098 B
RAEBETHENS 8B AB LR
B A
T T A 53T T T s A
“E-RER
ZE-CIENZ
ERE
BT AT FE MR
ZE——IER
RSN
SR
B MRS AT B MRS RN
SE-THER
CEUEREE
SERFTOES
! W T AR H — H SO B 2 4T

MBI AEA o

2 BN F N A SRR 2 E 0
7 U B A e B A R 4 B B AR
e

: AT LAE— A B AR B IR 2 AR
ilesyy o

‘ AT PUAEE A — B AR B IR 2 AR
hilesyy o

s AR NAE— A B AR B IR 2 AR
ilesyy o

s AR PUAE-E A — B SR B IR 2 A
IAEZ > D BB DLGISE



32.

33.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ok £ S 5 i A B R

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #( % % —HHFE=H =+—H ILFE

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015 (CONTINUED)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment as to the impact of

these amendments in the period of initial application. So far, the Group has

concluded that the adoption is unlikely to have a significant impact on the

consolidated financial statements.

2. BE-F-RhFE=A=1—H
Ak 4 JBE A8 i 15 v R A2 B 2 &
il ’ﬁf@ﬁﬂ&%%zﬁfﬁ%ﬁ%

2 (%)

A% 55 T I 7E A 0 568 16 5T 36500 & B T 300 4]
P A 2 S - B BOAS B BB A R A L
SFAERT N K AT RE 3 A5 1 B B TR A IR R

=721 3

i

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF  33. A2\ w] /Y B4 %5 & Bl 35
THE COMPANY
2015 2014
R4 ZE AR
HK$’000 HK$’000
T THsoT
Non-current assets IR G
Investments in subsidiaries AN Er &<y 38,551 38,551
Prepayments TAAT HOH 111 -
38,662 38,551
Current assets VLB
Prepayments TAT IR 244 374
Amounts due from subsidiaries JEN T/ 7 358 52,667 58,003
Cash and cash equivalents 4 R Bl 4228 Y) 87,710 100,433
140,621 158,810
Current liabilities i B A
Accruals JREFT 2 IE 1,854 1,281
Tax payable JREAS B IE 138 -
1,992 1,281
Net assets B 177,291 196,080
EQUITY HE2E
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AN FHEA NFEALRESS
Share capital A 5,155 5,150
Reserves (note) fiti i (B 5E) 172,136 190,930
TOTAL EQUITY HE 75 HE B 177,291 196,080
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% & —~HF=H =1+ —H L

33. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF  33. A</ w) i B4 %58 BHIE 2 (44)
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Note: fitaE -
RESERVES ikt
(Accumulated
losses)/
Share Contributed  Share option retained
premium surplus reserve earnings Total
(RutiER),~
B 3 ¥t UM Fo O i e i 73 Rievil] Hast
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
T T T T TitT T T TitoT
(note a) (note b) (note e)
(FF3E 2) (M3E b) (MH3E )
At 1 April 2013 R E—-=AFENA—H - - - (228) (228)
Profit and total comprehensive income  4F [ 3 A1 % 4= i
for the year W AR - - - 22,317 22,317
Issue of ordinary shares pursuant AR5 A AT 118 T
to the Reorganisation - 38,541 - - 38,541
Capitalisation issue YL BT (3,844) - - - (3,844)
Issuance of new shares AR R T B 3517 I
by way of placing 137,376 - - - 137,376
Share issue expense TR 4T BH 52 (10,596) - - - (10,596)
Equity-settled share-based payments DA FBHESS T LU Iy S A5 2
B3 - - 7.364 - 7,364
At 31 March 2014 and 1 April 2014 RoE-E=ZA=+—H
R = Z VAR H —H 122,936 38,541 7,364 22,089 190,930
Loss and total comprehensive loss G v
for the year [kt - - - (84) (84)
Dividends approved in respect DATEAR B LAt R Y IS
of the previous year - - - (20,600) (20,600)
Share options lapsed i A 2 35k - - (139) 139 -
Equity-settled share-based payments DL IBRESS B LUy S A5 2
b3 - - 1,075 - 1,075
Shares issued under share option A I PO - A T
scheme 954 - (139) - 815
At 31 March 2015 REF-HFE=ZA=1—H 123,890 38,541 8,161 1,544 172,136
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #(Z% —F — HFE=H =+ —H ILF

33. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

()

(d)

(e)

The application of the share premium account of the Company is governed by the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the share premium account are distributable to shareholders of
the Company provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

On initial listing of the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange on 11 October
2013 when the share premium account of the Company was being credited, directors
of the Company were authorised to capitalise an amount of HK$3,844,000 from
such account and applying such sum in paying up in full as par a total of 384,400,000
shares of allotment and issued to the shareholders of the Company whose names
appeared on the register of members of the Company at the close of business on 24
September 2013.

On 11 October 2013, 129,600,000 new shares of the Company with par value of
HKS$0.01 each were issued for subscription and purchase by selected institutional,
professional and other investors at the placing price of HK$1.07 per share. As a
result, share premium of HK$137,376,000 was credited to the share premium
account. The transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares of
HK$10,596,000 were deducted from the share premium account.

Contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal value of the
ordinary shares issued by the Company and the net asset value of subsidiaries
acquired through an exchange of shares pursuant to the group reorganisation prior to
the listing of the Company’s shares on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal values of the ordinary
shares issued by the Company and the share capital of subsidiaries acquired through
an exchange of shares pursuant to the group reorganisation prior to the listing of the
Company’s shares on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(s).

The share option reserve represents the fair value of the actual or estimated number
of unexercised share options granted to directors of the Company, employees of a
subsidiary and a consultant recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for equity-settled share-based payments set out in notes 2(n)(ii) and 2(0).
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33. A0l B S B BB R R (A8

(a)

(b)

(d)

(e)

AR ) I8 i M 2 M T 52 D O A )
U« MR SRR A RE - IO (AR
B O IR T A R > e Bk oy
IRIECE HIAR > A2 A RE DR H o 36T
AR T A ) B

AN FEMR —E— =+ A+ — B E Rk
W AZ BT 1T R - AN ) 2 1B 073 a8 AR AR
AR ) AT RN A B 3 IR A 3,844,000 15
JCEARAL o DA T A T R BT TR
T— AR LA U H 8 2 R R A RS 4 5
AR ) R 4 il 2 R 3 384,400,000 i A
By

S e B I el & NP N/ /T | K52
JB0.01 #5 T 3 4T 129,600,000 B85 B 475 LA A1 45
POs A - S RO ARG H R R
i B 46 2 49 B 1.07 5 0T R > 137,376,000
W IC IR E B R AR R IR A © BEATHT
Ji A5 58 5 B AR A8 3K10,596,000 5 TG 7E i 17
i IR A AT B -

B B B AN B OB AT I A B TH (S0
AR AR 2 ] 4 T T 2 T A AR L Tl i
o A S B O3 WA MR 2 R 2 R 2
W

B F Gl 15 A 2 R O 8847 5 708 B 2 T (1 B0
AR A B4 T Wi 2 T A AR L 1l T2
AL SR SR BRY G 2 ) 2 A 2 2R

T LR A 0 S RS MBS R
1 7 A2 2 B S 2698 o 2 Rk A ) AR B M R 2(s)
VIE T aiyi ¢ ¥4

IR HEE £ A0 75 i AR 40 B 5 2(n) (i) % 2(0) T R
A FTBOR A IBRE &S 55 AR S A 2 B

RIZTAN A E SR -~ WHE A R E 8 K
) 0 B P e A B 2 o R AT (o S I 2
FAH o




FINANCIAL SUMMARY
4 5 1BE 2

RESULTS E
2012 2013 2014 2015
SR SRS DR WE R
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$°000
T T T T T
Revenue g 158,793 163,767 169,684 227,677
Profit before taxation 458 i ¥4 M| 52,594 46,484 447 39,915
Taxation BiIA 9,562) (7,220) (6,180) (8,394)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable AN FHER N AL A A
to owners of the Company s () 43,032 39,264 (5,733) 31,521
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES & Al
2012 2013 2014 2015
SER-DE ZF - ZFNE 2R R
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000
Tt Tt Tt Tt
Total assets G E 89,528 82,929 186,589 209,743
Total liabilities WA fE (50,241) (44,378) (18,458) (28,830)
Total equity W 55 4 %H 39,287 38,551 168,131 180,913

Note: The figures for the two years ended 31 March 2012 and 2013 have been extracted from the — Fff§k @ =& — 4 Kk = F— =4 = H =+ — H 1L Ri4F R #
Prospectus. 9 kB I A .

Annual Report 2014/2015 43







	Cover
	Gem
	Contents
	Corporate Information
	Financial Highlights
	Information for Investors
	Chairman’s Statement
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
	Report of the Director
	Corporate Governance Report
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	Financial Summary
	Back cover



